

The Relationship Between Father-Child Play Interactions and Child Development

Erin Louise Robinson B Psych (Hons) (Newcastle)

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology

December 2021

This research was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program (RTP) Scholarship

Statements

Statement of Originality

I hereby certify that the work embodied in the thesis is my own work, conducted under normal supervision. The thesis contains no material which has been accepted, or is being examined, for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made. I give consent to the final version of my thesis being made available worldwide when deposited in the University's Digital Repository, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968 and any approved embargo.

Erin Louise Robinson

Acknowledgment of Authorship

I hereby certify that the work embodied in this thesis contains published scholarly work of which I am a joint author. I have included as part of the thesis a written declaration endorsed in writing by my supervisor, attesting to my contribution to the joint publication.

By signing below, I confirm that Erin Louise Robinson contributed to the design, literature search, abstract and full text screening, data extraction, meta-analysis, write-up, and publication of the paper entitled: Robinson E. L., StGeorge. J., & Freeman E. E. (2021). A Systematic Review of Father–Child Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development. Children, 8(5):389. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children8050389</u>

Dr Emily Freeman

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank my incredible Primary supervisor Dr Emily Freeman. Emily has always been there to support, mentor and encourage me on this present journey and the journeys that have come before. We have shared tears, laughter, triumphs, and I know without a shadow of a doubt, that I am the researcher I am today because of her and my life is richer for having you in it.

Additional thanks go to the family I have created and love so much. Daniel, Noah, and Oliver. I am so glad to have you in my corner. To assure me, even when the working weeks are long and I am tired, that I am amazing and strong and am "the best mummy." I am glad to have more time to spend with you to make more treasured memories.

I would also like to thank my entire family. You always believed in me, never had any doubt I would make it through and were always there to cheer me on. I am blessed to have this support and to have a long list of people to call every time something good happens in my life. Mum, thank you for being so supportive and knowing me better than I know myself. Dad and Pop, thank you for being my printing service for the entire 9 years of my tertiary education. Liam and Sian, thank you for always being so excited for my news and always being ready for a dance in the kitchen. I adore you all.

To me. You have grown throughout this experience more than you ever thought you could. You have met your fair share of challenges (queue stipend fiasco and CC study) and they could not shake you. You persisted, adapted and are so strong because of it. You have proved you can handle anything, and your future is so bright.

List of Publications

The work within this thesis has led to the following publications, including conference presentations and a journal article.

- Robinson, E., Freeman, E., & Georgas, S. (2018). The Impact of Father-Child Play Interactions on Child Development. PROSPERO. Retrieved from <u>http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.php?ID=CRD42018115301</u>
- Robinson, E. L. & Freeman, E. E. (2019). The impact of father-child play interactions on child development – A systematic-review. 12th Annual Postgraduate & Postdoctoral Conference – HMRI, Newcastle. Australia.
- Freeman, E. E. & Robinson, E. L. (2019). The Impact of Father-Child Play Interactions on Cognitive Development. *Psychonomic Society 60th Annual Meeting*, Montreal, Canada.
- Robinson, E. L. & Freeman, E. E. (2020). The Impact of Father-Child Rough-and-Tumble Play on Child Working Memory Outcomes. 13th Annual Postgraduate & Postdoctoral Conference – HMRI, Newcastle. Australia.
- Robinson, E. L. & Freeman, E. E. (2021). The Impact of Father-Child Rough-and-Tumble
 Play on Child Cognitive Outcomes. *Australasian Mathematical Psychology Conference 2021*, Newcastle, Australia.
- Freeman, E. E. & Robinson, E. L. (2021). The Impact of Paternal Mental Health on the Father-Child Relationship: Implications for children's Emotional Control. Society of Research in Child Development – 2021 – Virtual Biennial Meeting, New York, America.
- Robinson, E. L. & Freeman, E. E. (2021). The Feasibility of a Father Focussed Rough-and-Tumble Play Intervention for Reducing Childhood Externalising Behaviour Problems. 6th Lancaster Conference on Infant and Child Development, Lancashire, England.

Robinson E. L., StGeorge. J., & Freeman E. E. (2021). A Systematic Review of Father–Child Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development. Children, 8(5):389. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/children8050389</u>

Table of Contents

STATEMENTS	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	III
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	IV
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VI
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
LIST OF FIGURES	XI
CHAPTER ONE: PARENT-CHILD PLAV AND CHILD DEVELOPMENT	
FATHER-CHILD PLAY I YPES	
Free play	4
Toy piay	4
Pretena play/make belleve	
Video game play	0
Puzzle play	0
PHYSICAL PLAY	/
Rough-and-Tumble Play (RTP)	ð
THE IMPACT OF PATERNAL MENTAL HEALTH ON FATHER-CHILD INTERACTIONS	9
DEVELOPMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR CHILD INTERNALISING AND EXTERNALISING BEHAVIOURS	10
THE PRESENT RESEARCH	
Chapter Summary	11
AUSTRALIAN FAMILIES	
PLAY TYPES: ASSOCIATED BENEFITS AND PREVALENCE	
Rough-and-Tumble Play	35
Reading	36
Screen time	37
Puzzles	39
Toys	40
Pretend play/make believe	41
PERCEIVED PLAY IMPORTANCE: IMPACTS ON PREVALENCE	42
The Current Study	43
Method	45
Participants	45
Online Survey	45
General testing procedure	46
Data manipulation and Analysis	47
Results	47
Demographic Characteristics of our Sample	47
Descriptive Statistics for each Activity Type	52
DISCUSSION	69
CHAPTER FOUR: ASSOCIATIONS BETWEEN FATHER-CHILD ROUGH-AND-TUMBLE P INTERACTIONS AND CHILD DEVELOPMENT	'LAY 73
DEVELOPMENTAL IMPACTS OF RTP	74
The Current Study	
Method	80

Participants	
Measures	
Child Measures	
Father Measures	85
Play Coding Measures	86
PROCEDURE	
General testing procedure	
The Play Session Procedure	
DATA MANIPULATION AND ANALYSIS	
Results	
Descriptive Statistics	
Demographic Variables and RTP Measures	
Correlational Analyses	
Father Variables and RTP Measures	
Correlational Analyses	
Multiple Regression Analyses	
Child Development and RTP Measures	
Correlational Analyses	
Multiple Regression Analyses	
DISCUSSION	

CHAPTER FIVE: THE FEASIBILITY OF A FATHER FOCUSED ROUGH-AND-TUMBLE PLAY INTERVENTION FOR THE REDUCTION OF CHILDHOOD EXTERNALISING BEHAVIOURS...112

THE DEVELOPMENTAL IMPACTS OF CHILDHOOD EXTERNALISING DEHAVIOUR FROBLEMS	113
PARENTING BEHAVIOURAL INTERVENTION EFFECTIVENESS	116
CAUSES OF LOWER FATHER PARTICIPATION	117
The Current Study	119
Метнод	
Participants	120
Measures	120
Procedure	121
Data manipulation and Analysis	124
Results	124
Discussion	133
CHAPTER SIX: GENERAL DISCUSSION	137
KEY FINDINGS ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FATHER-CHILD PLAY AND CHILD DEVELOPMENT	137
WHERE TO FROM HERE?	141
FINAL CONCLUSION	144
	145
REFERENCES	
REFERENCES	
REFERENCES	186
REFERENCES APPENDICES Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire Appendix B: Child Behaviour Checklist	186
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION	186
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE Appendix B: Child Behaviour Checklist Appendix C: Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function Appendix D: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire	186
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE	186 186 188 192 196 198
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST. APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX.	186 186 188 192 196 198 200
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST. APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX APPENDIX G: CHILD-PARENT RELATIONSHIP SCALE.	186 186 192 196 196 198 200 205
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST. APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX. APPENDIX G: CHILD-PARENT RELATIONSHIP SCALE. APPENDIX H: ROUGH AND TUMBLE PLAY-QUALITY SCALE.	
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST. APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE. APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX. APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX. APPENDIX G: CHILD-PARENT RELATIONSHIP SCALE. APPENDIX H: ROUGH AND TUMBLE PLAY-QUALITY SCALE. APPENDIX I: RTP PARENT AND CHILD BEHAVIOUR SCALE.	
REFERENCES APPENDICES APPENDIX A: DEMOGRAPHIC QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX B: CHILD BEHAVIOUR CHECKLIST. APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX C: BEHAVIOR RATING INVENTORY OF EXECUTIVE FUNCTION APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX D: STRENGTHS AND DIFFICULTIES QUESTIONNAIRE. APPENDIX E: DEPRESSION, ANXIETY AND STRESS SCALE. APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX. APPENDIX F: PARENT STRESS INDEX. APPENDIX G: CHILD-PARENT RELATIONSHIP SCALE. APPENDIX H: ROUGH AND TUMBLE PLAY-QUALITY SCALE. APPENDIX I: RTP PARENT AND CHILD BEHAVIOUR SCALE. APPENDIX J: RTP PLAY INSTRUCTIONS.	186 186 188 192 196 198 200 205 206 208 220

List of Tables

Table 3.1	Pearson's Correlations for Respondent Demographic and RTP Factors for Primary and Secondary Respondents	67
Table 3.2	Results from the regression model using parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling, birth order) and interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors to predict RTP frequency for primary respondents, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	68
Table 3.3	Results from the regression model using parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling, birth order) and interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors to predict RTP frequency for secondary respondents, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	69
Table 4.1	Father Symptom Severity as Measured by the DASS	90
Table 4.2	Conflicts and Positive Aspects of the Father-Child Relationship as Measured by the CRPS	90
Table 4.3	Behavioural and Emotional Problem Scale Frequencies as Measured by the CBCL	91
Table 4.4	Behavioural Problem and Strength Scales Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ	91
Table 4.5	Behavioural Problem and Strength Scales Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ	92
Table 4.6	Kendall's Tau B Correlations for Participant Demographic and RTP Factors	97

Table 4.7	Welch's t-tests Comparing Male and Female Children on RTP Factors	100
Table 4.8	Results from the regression model using paternal mental health factors (depression, anxiety, and stress)) to predict conflicts within the father-child relationship, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	102
Table 4.9	Results from the regression model using paternal mental health factors (depression, anxiety, and stress)) to predict positive aspects of the father-child relationship, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	102
Table 4.10	Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child internalising as measured by the CBCL, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	105
Table 4.11	Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child internalising as measured by the SDQ, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	105
Table 4.12	Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child emotional control scores as measured by the BRIEF, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	105
Table 4.13	<i>Results from the regression model using RTP factors (</i> father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) <i>to predict child prosocial scores as measured</i>	106

	by the SDQ, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor	
Table 5.1	Recruitment Information Outline by Primary Correspondents	125
Table 5.2	Descriptive Statistics - Demographics	126
Table 5.3	Father Symptom Severity as Measured by the DASS	127
Table 5.4	Behavioural Problem and Strength Scales Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ	127
Table 5.5	Behavioural and Emotional Problem Scale Frequencies as Measured by the CBCL	128
Table 5.6	Means and Standard Deviations for the Study Population in the intervention and the Subset of Families who undertook components of Phase 3	132

List of Figures

Figure 3.1	Maximum number of questions asked as determined by participant responses to key questions	46
Figure 3.2	Child sample spread by age range	48
Figure 3.3	Primary respondents reported country of origin	49
Figure 3.4	Primary respondents reported education level	50
Figure 3.5	Secondary respondents reported country of origin	51
Figure 3.6	Secondary respondents reported education level	52
Figure 3.7	Activity Frequency by Activity Type for Mothers	53
Figure 3.8	Activity Frequency by Activity Type for Fathers	54
Figure 3.9	Frequency Distribution of Perceived Importance by Activity Type for Mothers	55
Figure 3.10	Frequency Distribution of Perceived Importance by Activity Type for Fathers	55
Figure 3.11	Frequency Distribution of Child Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Children Playing with Mothers	57
Figure 3.12	Frequency Distribution of Child Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Children Playing with Fathers	57
Figure 3.13	Frequency Distribution of Parent Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Mothers	58

Figure 3.14	ire 3.14 Frequency Distribution of Parent Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Fathers			
Figure 3.15	Interaction frequency for Mothers as a function of child age and gender	60		
Figure 3.16	Interaction frequency for Fathers as a function of child age and gender	61		
Figure 3.17	RTP frequency as a function of enjoyment level	62		
Figure 3.18	RTP frequency as a function of perceived level of importance	63		
Figure 3.19	RTP frequency as a function of child age and gender	64		
Figure 3.20	Reported percentages of RTP games engaged in by mothers and fathers	65		
Figure 4.1	Education Level for Father Participants	89		
Figure 4.2	WPPSI Score Range Overview for Each Index Scale	93		
Figure 4.3	RTP-Q Score Ranges for Father-Child Dyads	94		
Figure 4.4	RTP-PCB Scale Ratings for Each Underlying Play Characteristic	95		
Figure 4.5	Father Negative Regard Shown During RTP as a Function of Carer Type	99		
Figure 5.1	Feasibility tasks and structure across the 3 phases	122		
Figure 5.2	Study Progression Flowchart Across Study Phases	128		

Figure 5.3	Phase 1 Breakdown of Completed Components for Each Participant Group	129
Figure 5.4	Participant Engagement Across Phase 2 (Intervention) for Each Participant Group	130
Figure 5.5	Phase 3 Breakdown of Completed Components for Each Participant Group	131

Abstract

Parent-child play begins from birth and has broad impacts for child development. Parental mental health and parental perceptions of play importance, impact both the way in which parents engage in play with their child, and moreover, the frequency of these interactions. While both parents make unique child developmental contributions, there is a need to explore the influences of fathers, as past research has focussed heavily on maternal influences. As many fathers enjoy the physical and competitive rough-and-tumble play (RTP), that involves wrestling, chasing, tickling, and tumbling, more than other play types, this is a particular focus area for the present research. The broad aims of the present research were to increase our understanding of the impact that father-child play has on child development, explore play in Australian families, examine the impact of mental health and parental perceptions on play frequency and quality, and lastly, assess the feasibility of a father-child play intervention for reducing problems behaviours in Australian children. A systematic review, which included 39 publications that have previously examined the relationship between father-child play and child development, was completed. The results indicated that positive parenting behaviours (e.g., sensitivity and involvement) were positively related to favourable child outcomes (e.g., emotional regulation and social skills). An online survey assessed the prevalence of play in Australian families and revealed that while both mothers and fathers engaged in RTP, this was the preferred play type of fathers. An RTP study was conducted with Australian fathers and their children, and these interactions showed relationships with both internalising and externalising behaviour problems for children. Thus, a pilot intervention study was conducted to determine the efficacy of a father-focused intervention for the reduction of child behaviour problems, which achieved promising results. Overall, the present research has provided valuable insights into the relationships between father-child play and child development. This

research presents directions for further exploration into the intricacies of the relationship between father-child RTP, mental health and child development.

Chapter One: Parent-Child Play and Child Development

Parent-child play interactions have broad impacts on child behavioural, cognitive, emotional, and social development. By adopting a paternal lens, through which to view the developmental impacts of play, the aim of this thesis is to increase our understanding of the impact that father-child play has on child development. This chapter provides an overview of the impacts of play on child development and introduces rough-and-tumble play, which is the focus play type for this thesis. The chapter ends with an overview of this thesis, structured by chapter.

Parent-child play interactions begin from birth (Sethna et al., 2017). These interactions are typically reciprocal in nature and allow parents and their children to work together to achieve shared ambitions (John et al., 2013). Play enables parents to teach fundamental cultural skills (Tomasello, 2008) and results in a variety of cognitive, emotional, social, and behavioural skills (Cabrera & Roggman, 2017). Research has found that compared to mother-child interactions, play is more characteristic of the father-child relationship (Cabrera & Roggman, 2017), with fathers spending a greater portion of their time playing with their children, than doing any other activity (Mehall et al., 2009). Despite both parents serving as play partners for their children (Ahnert et al., 2017; Cabrera et al., 2017) research has focussed heavily on maternal influences (Majdandžić, 2017). Fathers have been included in only one third of parent-child play research (Cabrera & Roggman, 2017), with much of this research focussed on father's presence and absence in their children's lives or the financial contributions that can impact upon child development (Cabrera et al., 2000; Tamis-LeMonda & Cabrera, 2002).

However, over the last few decades, research on father-child play has increased (Amato & Rivera, 1999; Popp & St Jerne Thomsen, 2017). This has been driven by fathers

amplified involvement in child rearing and has led to an increase in the body of evidence into the paternal impacts on child development (Bronte-Tinkew et al., 2008; Menashe-Grinberg & Atzaba-Poria, 2017; Yogman et al., 1995). Distinctions in parental play have been found in cultural studies, which have shown that mothers and fathers have similar quality of play (Cabrera et al., 2017; Menashe-Grinberg & Atzaba-Poria, 2017), but the effects of their parenting behaviour result in different developmental outcomes, which can explain additional variance in child behaviour (Cabrera et al., 2017; Möller et al., 2013). Compared to mother play, fathers tend to play more often when undertaking caregiving activities and their play is generally more physical and challenging (Cabrera & Roggman, 2017; Kokkinaki & Vasdekis, 2014). Fathers provide challenging experiences, that mothers may avoid as being too dangerous, while serving as a safe and secure play companion (Grossman et al., 2002; Harkness & Super, 1992; Murphy, 1997). This sensitive support during explorative play, provides a unique paternal contribution to the child's emotional security, while mothers sensitive support is seen predominantly during events of child distress (Grossman et al., 2002). This can be conceptualised through Bowlby's Attachment Theory, in which psychological adaptation depends on the individual's emotional security with others in times of distress, as well as in challenging situations (Bowlby, 1979).

While both parents make contributions to child development (Majdandžić et al., 2014; Popp & Thomsen, 2017), these contributions seem to be unique (Cabrera & Roggman, 2017), with differences found in areas of academic achievement, behavioural and emotional regulation, and cognitive development (Lamb, 1997; 2004; Tamis-LeMonda & Cabrera, 2002). As past research has primarily focussed on mothers, there is a need to further explore the specific features of the father-child relationship and how they impact child development (Paquette, 2004). A broader knowledge base about the psychological resources a father can

provide their children, can allow for the facilitation and optimisation of father-child involvement (StGeorge et al., 2016).

Father-Child Play Types

To explore the paternal contributions to child development, it is important to first consider how distinct types of father-child play can result in different developmental outcomes. Primarily, past research has focussed on general father-child play interactions such as free play and toy play (StGeorge et al., 2016), with physical play such as rough-andtumble play being a more recent avenue for exploration (Panksepp, 1993; Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). Within many of these general play studies, the focus has been on the comparison between mothers' and fathers' dyadic interactions with their children, with some studies indicating that the quality of parents' play is similar, but yield different developmental outcomes (Grossman et al., 2002; John et al., 2013; StGeorge et al., 2017).

It is critical that we move beyond a general focus on father-child play and appraise different play types as unique contributors to child development. Distinct play types will be explored inclusive of general play types (free play and toy play), creative play (pretend play/make believe), problem solving play (puzzle play), virtual play (video game play), and physical play types (rough-and-tumble play). It is important to note that while these play types will be considered separately, the features of each play type are not exclusive, in that there is overlap between them (Miller & Almon, 2009). For example, when appraising that free play can involve challenging physical interactions seen typically in rough-and-tumble play (Loukaitou-Sideris & Sideris, 2010) and that toys may be used to expand exploration during free play (Newhouse et al., 2017), it is apparent that play features are not confined to specific play types.

Free play

Free play is a child-initiated general play activity that emerges from children's natural inquisitiveness, vivacity, and enjoyment of discovery (Brooker & Edwards, 2010). These activities are "free" in that they are unstructured and voluntary in nature (Hedges & Cullen, 2012), and allow children to explore the world around them, while expanding their imaginations (Møller, 2015). Free play invokes happiness and the promotion of positive feelings, which further encourages creativity and exploration (Lester & Russell, 2008). Through make-believe games, children are constantly evaluating their own behaviours, to send clear messages to their play companions about what they are doing, as well as cognitively looking for signals from their playmates and being able to decipher them in order to maintain their game (Berk & Meyers, 2013).

The primary learning benefits of this form of play are found within the emotion and reward systems of brain development (Lester & Russell, 2008). Free play provides opportunities for children and their parents to strengthen their attachment (Homeyer & Morrison, 2018; Lester & Russell, 2008) along with many individual benefits in terms of cognitive and emotional growth and engagement. Many scholars of child cognitive development, attribute not only free play, but toy play, to the expansion of child thought and understanding (DeVries & Kohlberg, 1990; Gottfried, 1984; Gottfried & Brown, 1986; Piaget, 1962).

Toy play

As infants and young children spend much of their time exploring and playing with toys (Chase, 1992), it is intuitive that this kind of general play activity impacts child development. Toy play can be unstructured with no means-end, or by contrast be goalfocussed and highly exploratory in nature (Gray, 2013). Vast amounts of research on toy play have demonstrated the importance of toy and object play for child cognitive development (Amato & Rivera 1999; Uzgiris & Weizmann, 1977; Yarrow et al., 1975).

Elaborate interactions during toy play between toddlers and their father predicted better emotional regulation outcomes and greater language skills, when compared with lesscomplex father-child interactions (Roggman et al., 2004). Another study showed that fathers' sensitivity during toy play was positively associated to self-regulation in children, while overall positive toy play was associated with fewer emotional and behavioural problems in children (StGeorge et al., 2017). Thus, it is not only the type of play that impacts positively on emotional and cognitive outcomes for children, but rather many factors, that may include how the play is utilised by the parent in terms of play complexity or parental sensitivity to the needs and interests of their child during the play interaction.

Within father-child toy play interactions a gender effect appears throughout the literature. Toy play with daughters showed more dyad connectedness, less detachment and closer dyad proximity, when compared with father-son interactions (Barnett et al., 2008; StGeorge et al., 2017; Tamis-leMonda, 2004). Across a broader research setting, not limited to play, fathers have shown greater sensitivity and responsiveness during interactions with daughters and display a more authoritarian approach to interactions with sons (Conrade & Ho, 2001; Lindsey et al., 1997a).

Pretend play/make believe

Creative play, such as pretend play, involves dynamic thinking, constantly adjusting play behaviour and coming up with creative ways to outwit the play partner. Make believe play allows pretenders to adopt an "as-if" stance (Garvey, 1990), and project alternative realities onto the real environment (Fein, 1975; Lillard, 1993, Weisberg, 2015). The pretenders create the context of the play, bringing to life inanimate objects and the only limit of the play is the pretender's imagination (Nielsen & Dissanayake, 2000). Past research has demonstrated that pretend play is related to child development in areas such as executive function (Lillard et al., 2010; Thibodeau et al., 2016; Vygotsky, 1978), language (Bergen, 2020; Lewis, et al., 2000) and theory of mind (Taylor & Carlson, 1997). Lillard (2001) proposed that theory of mind and social competence are improved as make-believe play forces children to pay close attention to social cues (Wellman, 2014).

Video game play

Video game play is a type of virtual play that has also shown social impacts for children. Kahen, Katz and Gottman (1994) explored father-child video game play and found positive relationships between both father affection and responsiveness and child positive affect during play with their peers (Kahen et al.,1994). This same study also found negative relationships between father behaviour (father commands, intrusiveness, derisive humour, criticism) and child positive affect during peer play. As research on father-child video game play is limited, more broadly, shared screen time (inclusive of phones, tablets, computers, gaming consoles and TV) has demonstrated cognitive benefits (Jinqiu & Xiaoming, 2010). The researchers linked these benefits to parents utilising screen time to educate their children, moderate the programs they watch and better understand their child's intelligence.

Puzzle play

Cognitive benefits are also seen in problem-solving play such as father-child puzzle play (Williams, 2004). As children move puzzle pieces into locations, puzzles provide immediate accuracy feedback as to whether the pieces fit or not. This provides a strong foundation for children to build mental rotation skills (e.g., Levine et al., 2005; Williams, 2004). Further benefits were found in research conducted by Levine, Ratliff, Huttenlocher and Cannon (2012). They found that families who engaged in parent-child puzzle play with their 2-4-year-old children, had better spatial ability task performance compared to those who did not. Researchers noted that parents can expose their children to spatial language while playing with puzzles (e.g., "long", "curve", "top", "curve", "bottom"), which may improve their spatial language that contributes to better spatial skill formation.

Physical Play

Gender differences are also found in terms of the amount of physical play children engage in with their fathers, with research indicating that, as infants, boys tend to receive a greater amount of physical play compared with girls (Parke & O'Leary 2009; Power & Parke 1982), and also as pre-schoolers (MacDonald & Parke 1986). However, it has been suggested that these differences may be due to boys eliciting more physical play interactions from their parents than their female counterparts (Jacklin et al., 1984; Panksepp et al., 2003). While more research needs to be conducted to explore this gender impact, other play studies report that fathers demonstrate equal amounts of physical play with girls and boys (Fliek et al., 2015; Paquette et al., 2003).

More broadly, research on father-child play interactions has demonstrated that fathers take on a more physical and challenging approach to their child play, regardless of child gender, when compared to the more structured approach taken by mothers (John et al., 2013; Lazarus et al., 2016). Furthermore, the literature has shown that fathers encourage their children to explore unfamiliar situations and take chances, while giving them the opportunity to solve problems and overcome obstacles, more so than do mothers, which creates opportunities for positive child development (John et al., 2013; Kromelow et al., 1990). Specifically, quality of loco-motor play has been found to be positively related to lower risks of behaviour problems (Kroll et al., 2016) and aggression (Torres et al., 2014). Further opportunities for child growth and exploration are provided by fathers during physical interactions of rough-and-tumble play, which is a favoured type of father-child interaction within Western societies (StGeorge & Freeman, 2017) and the central focus of this thesis.

Rough-and-Tumble Play (RTP)

Rough-and-tumble (RTP) play is a type of physical play which involves vigorous behaviours such as play fighting, wrestling, jumping, and chasing within a play context (Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). RTP peaks during the late preschool years, around age 4, and accounts for around 8% of total parent-child interactions (Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). These interactions are accompanied by positive affect or mutual enjoyment between the players (Pellegrini, 2009).

RTP provides children with opportunities to manage their physical aggression within novel situations (Anderson et al., 2017). These situations are characterised by elevated emotional and physical engagement with their play counterpart and are both playful and competitive in nature (Anderson et al., 2017). High quality emotional tones during RTP can be seen through shared laughter, animated facial expressions, dramatic movements, and shared interest and engagement in the interaction (Pellegrini, 2009).

During high quality RTP interactions, fathers adjust their own physical capabilities to allow their child to enjoy themselves, while providing challenge and allowing their child to occasionally gain the upper hand (Fletcher et al., 2013; John et al., 2013). As fathers are physically, socially, and cognitively superior to their children, when fathers pretend to lose, this encourages their child's efforts to win (Pellegrini, 2009). This has positive effects in maintaining motivation in the child, encouraging social perspective taking, allowing them to experience dominant and submissive roles through play, all the while strengthening father-child attachment (Pellegrini, 2002).

During RTP, children must coordinate and adjust their play behaviours, through the use of physically aggressive and cooperative strategies, in order to negotiate social dominance within their reciprocal play environment (Fletcher et al., 2013; Pellegrini &

Smith, 1998; Pellis et al., 2005). Research has indicated that RTP interactions create important practice scenarios for complex social interactions that children must learn to master in order to become competent, socially mature adults (Pellegrini and Smith, 1998) and for the establishment of cooperative interactions which leads to the sustaining of relationships (Trezza et al., 2010). Consistent with this notion, RTP has been consistently linked to children's socioemotional competence (StGeorge & Freeman, 2017) and the acquisition of cooperative social dominance strategies with adults (Granic & Patterson, 2006; Pellegrini, 2009; Tremblay, 2008) and peers (Hawley, 1999).

RTP promotes socioemotional competence and behavioural flexibility by providing children with opportunities to distinguish RTP from aggressive behaviours allowing them to recognise emotions, while suppressing impulses and aggression (Nangle et al., 2010, Parke et al., 1992; Pellegrini, 2002, 2009, Séguin and Zelazo, 2005; Zelazo et al., 1997). This socioemotional competence is strongly linked with long-term language, literacy, and numeracy outcomes (Jones et al., 2011; Landry & Smith, 2010; Luecken et al., 2013).

Despite the important contributions of father-child RTP on child development, these interactions remain understudied (Panksepp et al., 2003). Thus, given that fathers are more involved in RTP, and given that they now spend more time with children (Baxter, 2015; Hofferth & Lee, 2015), it is important to understand the influence of physically active play on children's development while addressing the scarcity of literature on this topic.

The Impact of Paternal Mental Health on Father-Child Interactions

Just as different interaction types make distinctive contributions to child development, so to does paternal mental health. Stressed and depressed fathers show less involvement in their child's lives (Roggman et al., 1999) and reduced responsiveness during play (Darke & Goldberg, 1994). Furthermore, research has demonstrated that when fathers are anxious during play their children are consequently more anxious and this impacts the attachment relationship (Fliek et al., 2015). Conversely, when fathers are mentally healthy and display positive behaviours during play (e.g., sensitive and challenging behaviour), their children are more securely attached and feel more confident to explore their play surroundings (Kazura, 2000). Thus, when examining the impact that play has on child development, it is imperative that we additionally consider how paternal mental health influences this relationship. The impacts of paternal mental health and attachment will be further explored in Chapters 4 and 5.

Developmental Considerations for Child Internalising and Externalising Behaviours

Additionally, it is important to consider mental health in children. In 2013-2014 approximately 14% of Australian children experienced a mental health disorder. ADHD was the most common diagnosis among all children (8.2% girls and 11% boys), followed by anxiety disorders (6.1% girls and 7.5% boys) and conduct disorders (1.7% girls and 2.9% boys) (Lawrence et al., 2015). These diagnoses fall into the broader categories of child internalising (anxiety disorders) and child externalising (ADHD and conduct disorders) behaviour problems.

Externalising behaviours can be categorised as outward maladaptive behaviours directed to the child's external environment (Campbell et al., 2000; McMahon, 1994). The behaviours consist of aggressive, hyperactive, and generally disruptive behaviours (Hinshaw, 1987). Common diagnoses within this cluster of problems include Oppositional Defiant Disorder, Attention Deficit Hyperactivity disorder (ADHD): Combined and Hyperactive-Impulsive type and Conduct Disorder (McMahon, 1994). In contrast, internalising behaviours can include anxious, depressed and withdrawn/inhibited behaviours, which, unlike externalising behaviours, primarily impact children's internal psychosomatic environment (Liu, 2004). The most common diagnoses within this cluster of problems include Separation Anxiety Disorder and Specific Phobias (Dadds, Barrett & Cobham, 1998; Eisenberg et al., 2001). While both of these behaviour problems are linked to persistent psychosocial problems (Dadds, 1997), children with externalising behaviour problems are more likely to go on to develop internalising behaviour problems (Van Lier & Koot, 2010). As such, while this thesis will explore both internalising and externalising behaviours, there will be a more substantial focus on externalising behaviours.

The Present Research

The purpose of the present research is to examine the impact that father-child play interactions have on child development. The goals of this thesis are fourfold. Firstly, I aim to gain a deeper understanding of the research topic by exploring literature on different fatherchild play types and childhood outcomes across the literature. Secondly, I aim to determine the prevalence and types of play undertaken between parents and their children across Australia by conducting an online survey. The third research aim is to explore father-child RTP to determine how play impacts child development. The fourth and final research aim is to examine fathers as a prospective ally in reducing childhood behavioural problems.

Chapter Summary

An overview of the most prevalent play types examined within this thesis have been presented in this introductory chapter. This thesis is comprised of four studies investigating the relationship between father-child play interactions and the way in which they impact child developmental outcomes. Each chapter maps on to one of the research aims outlined above.

First, a systematic review of father-child play interactions and the impacts of child development is presented in Chapter 2. The focus of this systematic review was to explore the different types of play that have been the focus of past research and determine the impacts they have on child development. Chapter 3 details the findings of our Australian prevalence study exploring how Australian families are interacting with their children and examining their view on the importance of play. The chapter outlines the survey design, participants, data collection and analysis procedures. While a broad range of interactions (both play and general activities) are explored, this chapter has a particular focus on RTP.

Chapter 4 examines the emotional, social, behavioural, and cognitive impacts of father-child RTP. There is an additional focus on paternal mental health and father-child attachment, and the way in which they relate to play quality. Chapter 5 gives insight into the feasibility of conducting a rough-and-tumble play intervention with fathers. The results, moreover, provide preliminary findings for the viability of a larger scale study and details how play interventions can be used to improve childhood behaviour.

Finally, a comprehensive discussion of the key findings is presented in Chapter 6. The significance of this research, and its limitations, are discussed. The chapter also outlines recommendations of the study and identifies future research possibilities.

Chapter Two: A Systematic Review of Father-Child Play interactions and the Impacts on Child Development

The research contained in this chapter appears in the following publication:

Robinson E. L., StGeorge. J., & Freeman E. E. (2021). A Systematic Review of Father–Child
Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development. *Children*, 8(5):389.
https://doi.org/10.3390/children8050389



Systematic Review

A Systematic Review of Father–Child Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development

Erin Louise Robinson ^{1,*}, Jennifer StGeorge ², and Emily Elsa Freeman ¹

- ¹ School of Psychology, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, NSW 2308, Australia; Emily.freeman@newcastle.edu.au
- ² School of Health Sciences, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, NSW 2308, Australia; Jennifer.stgeorge@newcastle.edu.au
- * Correspondence: Erin.Robinson@uon.edu.au or erin.robinson@newcastle.edu.au

Abstract: Father–child play engagement has been linked to a variety of child developmental outcomes. However, the most prevalent types of play and child developmental outcomes utilised in research remains unclear. The aim of this study was to systematically review the literature on father–child play interactions and the association with child developmental outcomes for children aged 0–10 years. Database searches generated 1622 abstracts that matched the specified search criteria. Abstract screening and full-text review resulted in 39 included publications. The systematic review revealed that while some paternal play behaviours resulted in different impacts across play types, others reported similar impacts. The findings of this review have implications for potential interventions and parenting resources.

Keywords: parenting; child development; systematic review; cognition; behaviour; emotion; social; father; child; dyads



Citation: Robinson, E.L.; StGeorge, J.; Freeman, E.E. A Systematic Review of Father–Child Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development. *Children* **2021**, *8*, 389. https:// doi.org/10.3390/children8050389

Received: 18 April 2021 Accepted: 10 May 2021 Published: 13 May 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

1. Introduction

From birth, children engage in playful social interactions with their caregivers [1]. Play interactions are typically reciprocal in nature and are based around the idea that parents and their children can work together to seek shared goals [2]. These interactions allow parents to positively foster their children's cultural learning [3] and provide an avenue for young children to gain a variety of cognitive, emotional, social and behavioural skills [4].

Compared to mother–child interactions, play is more characteristic of the father– child relationship in Western cultures [4]. It has been suggested that fathers spend a greater portion of their time playing with their children than doing any other activity [5]. While both mothers and fathers engage in play with their children [6,7], past research has primarily focussed on maternal influences on child development [8], with only one-third of parent–child play interaction research being conducted with fathers [4]. However, in recent decades, the social movement of involved fatherhood has stimulated a research focus on fathers [9,10]. This has led to an increase in the body of evidence examining the paternal contributions, particular through play, to child development [11–13].

Fathers play more often while engaging in caregiving tasks, than do mothers, and their play tends to be more physical, spontaneous and playful [4,14]. Through these challenging play interactions, fathers are able to provide new experiences to their child that mothers might avoid as dangerous (due to differences in parental perceptions of rough-play), while serving as a familiar and safe companion [15,16]. Due to these differences in how parents engage with their children through play, it is unsurprising that research has documented that father-child play makes unique contributions to development, compared with mother-child play interactions [10,17]. These contributions differ particularly in the areas

of academic achievement, behavioural and emotional regulation, and cognitive development [18,19].

Although the effects of father–child play interactions seem to be additive, in that both parents make independent contributions to their child's development [4], there is still much to learn about the specific features of the father–child relationship during play that most strongly impact upon child development. Furthermore, as society pushes for fathers to be more involved in their child's life [20], a broader knowledge base about the psychological resources a father can provide their children will allow for the facilitation and optimisation of father–child involvement [21].

There are few systematic reviews that have focussed on father–child play. A recent study explored the frequency of play [22], while other research focussed on involvement [23] or chose to focus on a specific play type (i.e., rough-and-tumble play) [24]. However, there has yet to be a systematic review that adopts a broad perspective on the impacts of different kinds of play on child developmental outcomes. By broadening this approach, we stand to gain a more complete picture of the role that father–child play has in child development.

The aim of the present research was to investigate the relationship between fatherchild play interactions and child developmental outcomes via a systematic review. In addition, we had three research questions of interest:

- Firstly, we aimed to gain a broad view on the types of play fathers and their children engage in, and by doing so, increase knowledge on the most utilised forms of play throughout paternal research.
- 2. Secondly, we sought to obtain an understanding of how play is being measured in terms of objective and self-report forms of measurement. Prior research has demonstrated that self-report measures, relative to objective measures, are limited by the responder's introspective ability, honesty and most notably by response biases [25]. Thus, the purpose of obtaining this information was to determine whether the findings of the reviewed articles should be interpreted with caution
- 3. Finally, we wanted to better understand which childhood outcomes have been the focal point across these studies.

Based on previous research [10,17], we predicted that when fathers engage in positive parenting behaviours, where they are proactively meeting their children's needs during play, there would be positive relationships with child developmental outcomes. Conversely, when fathers engage in negative parenting behaviours, consisting of more parent-centred approaches to play where behaviour is not modulated to meet children's needs [26], it was predicted that this would show negative relationships with child developmental outcomes. The objectives of this research were preregistered with the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO). Further protocol information can be found below.

2. Method

2.1. Protocol Registration

The protocol outlining the aims and scope of this systematic review was registered with PROSPERO on the 20 November 2018 [27]. The protocol is available from: http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.php?ID=CRD42018115301.

2.2. Search Strategy

The PsycINFO, Scopus and Web of Science electronic peer-reviewed databases were searched. The search strategy used included key terms relating to father–child play ("father", "child" and "play) and development ("development"). The key terms were developed within the PsycINFO database and adapted to be used within the other two databases. The search was limited to human studies, with no additional limits used.

16

2.3. Study Selection and Data Extraction

The titles and abstracts obtained from the database searches were screened by two independent reviewers to identify studies that included the following elements: (1) a father and child, (2) a child aged between 0 and 10 years of age, (3) a form of play, and (4) a child developmental outcome. Where there was disparity between the reviewer's assessments during the review process, a third reviewer was employed for resolution. Inter-rater reliability for this stage was 89%, indicative of a strong level of agreement between reviewers.

After abstract reviews, eligible studies were retrieved for full-text reviews. Two independent reviewers assessed the eligibility of each full-text article for inclusion in the final full-text review. An additional eligibility criterion was included at this stage (5) typically developing children. However, studies that contained non-typically developing children, but contained a control group, were also included. The reason for this inclusion criteria (5) being added for the full-text stage, and not for the abstract stage, was to allow for full-text screening of non-typical developmental studies, where a control group may not have been mentioned in the abstract alone. Akin to the title and abstract review stages, where there was disparity between the reviewer's assessments during the review process a third reviewer was employed for resolution. Inter-rater reliability for this stage was 94% indicative of a strong level of agreement between reviewers. Reviewers' reasons for study exclusion were documented during the review process.

Data extraction included details of the sample, methodology and measurement objectivity (child outcome measure and measurement of play) and results (e.g., descriptive and inferential statistics). Play types were categorised based upon the interactions described within each publication. In circumstances where data were not reported in an included study, the author was contacted. Of the three authors contacted, none were able to provide additional information. Data extraction was completed by two reviewers to allow for concurrent resolutions of disagreements.

2.4. Assessment of Study Quality

Quality assessment for each included publication was completed by two reviewers. The criteria used included (1) use of a valid and objective measure of the play interaction, (2) use of a valid and objective measure of child development, and (3) sample size acceptable for the statistical analyses utilised. For this research, objective measures were defined as those delivered by the researchers. Thus, self-report measures were not classified as objective. Valid measures were defined as those that had been scientifically validated. Thus, measures that were designed specifically for their respective paper were not classified as valid measures. A score of 0, 1, or 2 was utilised for each criterion (a score of 0 indicated that the criteria were "not satisfied", a score of 1 indicated that the criteria were "partially satisfied" and a score of 2 indicated that the criteria were "fully satisfied" (see Table 1 for details). An aggregate score was given out of a maximum of 8 points. Quality scores were allocated into categories based upon the following standards: poor = 0–2; fFair = 3–5; good = 6–8.

Criterion	0 Points 1 Points		2 Points
(1) Play interaction measure Neither objective nor validated		Objective or validated	Objective and validated
(2) Child outcome measure	Neither objective nor validated	Objective or validated	Objective and validated
(3) Sample size appropriate for	the analysis?		
Means	<15 per group	15–30 per group	>30 per group
Regression	<10 per predictor	10-20 per predictor	>20 per predictor
Correlation	<30	30–50	>50
(4) Sufficient data reported	Insufficient for meta-analysis AND not provided by author on request	Insufficient for meta-analysis but provided by author on request	Sufficient data for meta- analysis included in the publication

Table	1.	Point	allocations	for	study	quality	criterion.
IUDIC		ronn	unocunono	TOT	bruay	quanty	CLICLICIA

Note: Scores ranged from 0 to 8. Categories were applied based on score standards: poor = 0-2, fair = 3-5, and good = 6-8.

3. Results

3.1. Literature Search Process

A PRISMA flowchart illustrating the selection process for the systematic review is presented in Figure 1. The initial search contained 1622 abstracts (1196 were unique). During abstract screening, 1024 publications were excluded due to the following reasons: being a case study, a review, a chapter summary, a conference abstract, an animal study, no father child play, no child related outcomes or written in a non-English language. This resulted in 172 publications being retrieved for full-text review. During full-text review, 133 publications were excluded due to the following reasons: inappropriate study design (i.e., case study or meta-analysis), no English version available (where authors were contacted prior to exclusion), no father-child play, article unable to be retrieved (where the article was published some years ago and authors could not provide a full-text version), child beyond the age range of the study (i.e., <0 or >10 years of age), the article was a summary/review (chapter or special issue with no numerical data), clinical population with no control group, triadic mother/father/child interaction with no dyadic interaction between father and child, and outcomes outside scope of the present study (i.e., outcomes were not child focussed or child outcomes not analysed in terms of father involvement or interactions). This resulted in 39 publications containing 39 samples and 246 outcomes being included in this systematic review. All included publications received a total quality score between 6 and 8, indicative of good study quality (see reference list for respective study quality criterion scores).

The play types were examined alphabetically. For this systematic review, child outcome measures were classified as being either positive or negative. Positive child developmental outcomes of interest such as prosocial behaviour, academic achievement and school readiness, emotional regulation and cognitive development were classified as positive outcome measures. Negative child developmental outcomes of interest such as anxiety/withdrawal, anger/aggression, behaviour problems, peer problems and avoidance behaviours were classified as negative outcome measures. Thus, the associations will be presented as a function of the type of outcomes, whereby negative outcome measures and negative associations indicate positive impacts on child development. The results of the included publications are presented in Tables 2–10.



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart outlining the selection process for the systematic review.

3.2. System Review: Characteristics and Summary of Results by Play Type

The systematic review resulted in the identification of nine play types: Creative Play, Combined Play (which consisted of the combination of two play types), Free Play, Locomotor Play, Puzzle Play, Rough-and-Tumble Play, Structured and Semi-Structured Play, Toy Play and Video Game Play. The 246 outcomes were separated into their respective play types, where characteristics and results summaries were examined (See Tables 2–10). An overview of the activities found within each play type is provided in Figure 2.

5 of 19



Figure 2. Flowchart providing a brief overview of the various activities found within each play type.

Creative Play was examined by three studies, making up 3% of the systematic review outcomes. Child ages within these studies ranged from 2 to 7 years. Half of the Creative Play studies used objective play and child outcome measures, with the other half drawn from parent self-report information (Table 2). The Creative Play studies focussed on the following childhood outcomes: Achievement, in terms of children's receptive vocabulary (N = 1); Emotional/Behavioural, with outcomes inclusive of emotional regulation, withdrawn behaviour, behaviour problems and aggressive behaviours (N = 5); and Social/Behavioural, encompassing prosocial behaviours (N = 2). Of the eight outcomes, four were interested in negative child outcome measures including child withdrawn behaviour and behaviour problems. Positive associations were found between Creative Play and all Achievement, Emotional/Behavioural and Social/Behavioural outcomes.

Creative Play findings indicated that when fathers undertook positive behaviours during play such as actively engaging their child during the play or being playful, their children showed fewer behaviour problems [28], less aggression [29], better emotional regulation (Emotional/Behavioural) and higher receptive vocabulary (Achievement) [7]. Furthermore, when fathers undertook Creative Play generally, this was positively related to children's displays of prosocial behaviour (Social/Behavioural) [28].

6 of 19

Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[7]	73	Positive	А	1	0
1,1		Positive	EB	1	0
[29]	87	Negative	EB	0	2
[28]	13 717	Positive	SB	2	0
	10,/1/ -	Negative	EB	0	2

Table 2. Creative play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Note: A = Achievement. EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural.

Within Combined Play, three studies examined Physical and Toy Play interactions, while one study used Free Play and Toy Play, making up 9% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 3). Child ages within this study ranged from 10 months to 5 years. Within combined play, researchers were more likely to utilise parental self-report to obtain measures of play and teacher reports for child outcomes, with self-report data accounting for 18 of the 22 play measures and 15 of the 22 child outcome measures. The remainder were objective measurements. Five childhood outcomes were explored: Achievement, in terms of language development (N = 1); Cognitive, encompassing children's intelligence and cognitive development (N = 3); Cognitive and Social/Behavioural combined outcome (N = 1); Emotional/Behavioural, with a comprehensive examination of emotionality and child internalising / externalising behaviours (N = 14); and Social/Behavioural outcomes which explored social competency as rated by teachers (N = 3), with 10 of the 22 outcomes interested in positive child outcomes.

The study that examined Combined Play and child Achievement [30] found a positive effect, as did the study interested in Cognitive outcomes [31]. Positive associations were found for Combined Play and child Emotional/Behavioural outcomes for 12 of the 15 outcomes, with 3 finding a non-significant negative effect. The results indicated that fathers' physically active play, within combined play interactions, predicted children's emotional regulation (Emotional/Behavioural) for high-emotionality children (more sensitive or more emotionally reactive) but did not predict emotional regulation for low-emotionality children (less emotionally reactive to a stimulus) [32].

When considering Social/Behavioural outcomes and Combined Play, one study reported that father play positively predicted children's social outcomes [32], while three outcomes suggested that father involvement was negatively associated with child social competency [33]. These negative findings indicated that the more that the father was involved in play, the less social competency the child showed.

Table 5. Combined play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.
--

Study	Sample Size	Combined Play Types	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[32]	727	P-T	Positive	SB	1	0
			Positive	EB	1	1
[31]	14	P-T	Positive	С	2	0
[33]	110	P-T	Positive	SB	0	3
	112		Negative	EB	2	10
[30]	97	F-T	Positive	А	1	0
			Positive	С	1	0

Note: A = Achievement. C = Cognitive. EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural. F-T = Free and Toy Play. P-T = Physical and Toy Play.

Free Play accounted for the smallest portion of outcomes of the systematic review data, with only three studies examining this type of play, making up 2% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 4). Child ages within this study ranged from 1 to 3 years. All of the studies used objective measurements for both play and child outcomes measurements and were interested in positive child outcomes. Free Play researchers were interested

in child Achievement and Emotional/Behavioural outcomes, with all studies finding positive associations. Achievement outcomes encompassed receptive and general language, while the Emotional/Behavioural outcome involved child emotional regulation.

Table 4. Free play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[34]	175	Positive	А	1	0
[35]	34	Positive	А	2	0
[36]	90	Positive	EB	1	0

Note: A = Achievement. EB = Emotional/Behavioural.

Free Play findings demonstrated that father positive parenting behaviour during play was positively associated with child outcomes; nurturance was positively associated with child receptive language (Achievement) [34], and sensitive regulation was positively associated with child-regulation compliance (Emotional/Behavioural) [36]. Further positive associations were found for father didactics (father teaching his child) and his child's language development (concurrently and predictive of) [35].

Six studies examined Locomotor Play in their research, making up 11% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 5). Child ages within this study ranged from 9 months to 7 years. Researchers gathered parent self-report information to obtain Locomotor Play measurements for 17 of the 26 studies, with the remainder obtained from objective measurements. However, for child outcome measurements, 73% of outcomes came from objective measures, while the remainder were obtained from parental self-report. A large portion of outcome measures were focussed on Emotional/Behavioural child outcomes (N = 11), with the other areas of interest spread between Achievement (N = 8), Cognitive (N = 4), and Social/Behavioural outcomes (N = 3). The Emotional/Behavioural outcomes explored behavioural problems, child anxiety/withdrawal, anger-aggression, internalising behaviours, child temperament, self-regulation, behaviour problems and socio-emotional functioning. Achievement outcomes included literacy, mathematics and school readiness. Cognitive child outcomes incorporated executive functioning and cognitive development and Social/Behavioural outcomes explored prosocial behavioural and social competence. The vast majority of outcomes were concerned with positive child outcome measures (N = 22).

Within the study interested in child achievement, negative associations were found for four of the eight outcomes, with father overstimulation during play resulting in negative childhood achievement outcomes [37]. For Locomotor Play and child Cognitive outcomes, there were an equal number of positive (N = 2) and negative associations (N = 2) reported, with one study suggesting that father overstimulation during Locomotor Play resulted in poorer scores of executive functioning [37], while another reported mixed findings between paternal Locomotor Play and child cognitive development [38].

Positive associations were found in all studies that measured child Social/Behavioural outcomes [28,39]. Of the 12 Emotional/Behavioural child outcomes, associations were mixed—1 found no effect, while 5 reported negative associations and 6 reported positive associations. Quality of play was positively associated with lower internalising scores [6], while father's involvement in play was positively associated with lower risks of behaviour problems [28] and aggression (Emotional/Behavioural) [39]. Negative associations were reported between paternal Locomotor Play and socio-emotional functioning, child temperament and self-regulation [38].
Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[6]	103	Negative	EB	0	1
[40]	750	Positive	А	2	0
[28]	13,717	Positive	SB	2	0
		Negative	EB	0	2
[38]	3770	Positive	С	1	1
			EB	0	6
[37]	89	Positive	А	2	4
			С	1	1
[39]	295	Positive	SB	1	0
		Negative *	EB	0	3

Table 5. Locomotor play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Note: A = Achievement. C = Cognitive. EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural. * = One outcome showed no effect.

Puzzle play was examined by two studies, making up 9% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 6). Child ages within this study ranged from 3 to 5 years. Objective measures were obtained for all play and child outcomes. These studies focussed on child Achievement (N = 13) and Cognitive outcomes (N = 10). All outcomes were positive child outcome measures (N = 23). The Achievement outcomes were interested in literacy, school readiness and mathematics and the Cognitive outcome of interest was child executive functioning.

For child Achievement, positive associations were found for 8 of the 13 outcomes, with father control (negative parenting behaviour) during puzzle play resulting in negative childhood achievement outcomes [37,41]. Results showed a positive association between fathers who supported child autonomy during play (positive parenting behaviour) and child vocabulary [37,41], mathematic achievement and school readiness [37]. For child Cognition, positive associations were found for 6 of the 10 outcomes, with father control during puzzle play resulting in negative childhood executive functioning outcomes [41]. Father autonomy support (positive parenting behaviour) was associated with positive executive functioning outcomes [37]. Results demonstrate that the way in which fathers choose to engage positively by fostering their children's autonomy or negatively by inhibiting their autonomy (control), results in different developmental outcomes for children.

Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[41]	110	Positive	А	1	1
			С	2	4
[37]	89	Positive	А	7	4
			С	4	0

Table 6. Puzzle play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Note: A = Achievement. C = Cognitive.

Rough-and-Tumble Play (RTP) was examined in nine studies, making up 24% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 7). Child ages within this study ranged from 9 months to 8 years. Objective measures were gathered for 46 of the 58 rough-and-tumble play measures, with the remainder obtained from parent self-report measurements. However, for child outcome measurements, the reverse was seen with 82.76% of child outcomes acquired through teacher, peer and parent self-report, with only 17.4% of child outcomes measured objectively. Within the RTP literature, the largest portion of outcomes were focussed on child Social/Behavioural functioning (N = 31), followed by Emotional/Behavioural outcomes (N = 26), with only one reported child outcome measures (N = 26). For Cognitive outcomes, there was a positive effect between child cognitive scores and father–child RTP [42]. The Emotional/Behavioural outcomes of interest fell broadly across child physical aggression, verbal aggression, conduct problems, total emotional/behavioural problems, emotional problems, hyperactivity problems, anger/aggression, emotional regulation and

10 of 19

anxiety/withdrawal. Of these, the studies reported 16 positive associations between RTP and child outcomes and 8 negative associations. Within the negative associations RTP frequency was positively correlated with child physical aggression when fathers were less directive in play [43,44], and negatively correlated with emotional regulation when fathers were less dominant in play [45]. Furthermore, negative associations were found for challenging parenting behaviours and child anxiety [46], and reciprocal negative affect during play was positively associated to children's verbal aggression [43]. However, other findings reported that involvement in RTP reduced anger/aggression [45,47] and anxiety/withdrawal [39].

The Social/Behavioural child outcomes of interest were social competence, social acceptance, prosocial behaviour, sharing, avoidance and peer problems. A greater number of negative associations were reported between RTP and Social/Behavioural child outcomes, with 19 negative associations compared with 12 positive associations. Of the negative associations, 68% reported that negative affect during RTP (father negative affect or reciprocal negative affect) resulted in various poor Social/Behavioural outcomes such as lower peer rating, social acceptance, and sharing [48]. Interestingly father positive affect during play was associated with negative teacher and peer ratings of social acceptance for girls, and negatively associated with teacher ratings of social acceptance for boys [48]. In addition, father RTP scores and father involvement in RTP were negatively associated with prosocial behaviour and social competence, respectively [48]. A further negative association was found between quality of RTP and child prosocial behaviour [49].

Table 7. Rough-and-tumble play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[47]	42	Negative	EB	0	2
[42]	1099	Positive	С	1	0
[42]	41	Positive	SB	0	2
[43]	41	Negative	EB	4	0
[44]	85	Negative	EB	1	2
[45]	34	Positive	EB	1	2
[43]		Negative	EB	2	4
[40]	26	Positive	SB	0	1
[49]	20	Negative	EB	0	5
[48]	116	Positive	SB	15	9
[46]	132	Negative	EB	1	3
[20]	205	Positive	SB	0	1
[37]	293	Negative	EB	0	2

Note: C = Cognitive. EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural.

Structured and Semi-Structured Play was examined by two studies, making up 4% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 8). Child ages within this study ranged from 2 to 10 years. Objective measures were gathered for all play outcomes and 8 of the 13 child outcomes. The remaining five child outcomes were acquired through parent self-report measures. Across the Structured and Semi-Structured Play studies, three outcome categories of interest were identified: Achievement (N = 6), Cognitive (N = 2) and Emotional/Behavioural outcomes (N = 5). The Achievement outcomes were concerned with child literacy and numeracy, with positive associations being found between paternal cognitive stimulation (attempting to further their child's learning and understanding) during semi-structured play and all Achievement outcomes [50]. For Cognitive outcomes, child cognitive ability was investigated, with paternal cognitive stimulation during semi-structured play showing positive associations for cognition [50]. The Emotional/Behavioural outcomes were child negative affect, conduct problems, emotional symptoms, surgency and effortful control with three negative and two positive associations reported. Of the negative child outcomes, parental sensitivity during play was positively associated with child negative affect and emotional symptoms, and negatively associated with child conduct problems. For the positive child outcomes, a positive effect was found

between father sensitivity during play child effortful control, while father sensitivity during play was negatively associated with child surgency [51]. This conveys that while sensitivity seemed to positively impact child emotions, it conversely negatively impacted child temperament, which establishes how we react to that emotion. Furthermore, as surgency is a personality trait which conveys cheerfulness, spontaneity and extraversion, and effortful control dictates how well a child has self-regulation over their emotional reactivity and behaviour, sensitivity appears to improve children's skills in controlling their reactions, which results in lowering impulsiveness and outgoingness.

Table 8. Structured and semi-structured play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Study	Sample Size	Outcome Measure	Outcome Category	Number of Reported Positive Associations	Number of Reported Negative Associations
[51]	107	Positive Negative	EB EB	1 2	1 1
[50]	229	Positive	C A	2 6	0 0

Note: A = Achievement. C = Cognitive. EB = Emotional/Behavioural.

Twelve studies examined Toy Play in their research, making up 28% of the systematic review outcomes (Table 9). Child ages within this study ranged from 1 to 4 years. Objective measures were obtained for all 68 Toy Play measures and 63 of the children's outcome measures, while 5 self-report measures of children's outcomes were utilised. Within the Toy Play literature, the largest portion of outcomes were focussed on Cognitive Outcomes (N = 24), closely followed by child Achievement Outcomes (N = 23) and Emotional/Behavioural outcomes (N = 15), with six reported child Social/Behavioural outcomes (N = 6). There were more positive (N = 57) than negative child outcome measures of interest (N = 11).

The Cognitive outcomes of interest were cognitive development and cognitive flexibility components of executive functioning and mental development. A total of 16 positive associations and 8 negative associations were found. Fathers' engagement in Toy Play [52], paternal sensitivity [12], fathers responsive-didactic behaviour [53] and paternal positive regard [54] were all associated with positive outcomes, while father detachment, negative regard and negative intrusiveness were associated with negative outcomes in terms of children's mental developmental index scores [54].

Achievement outcomes of interest were language complexity, expressive communicative compliance, receptive language ability, math achievement, language development, receptive vocabulary, with more positive associations (N = 17) found than negative associations (N = 6). Fathers' play behaviour [55,56], mutual compliance [57], high supportiveness [58], dyadic reciprocity [59], sensitivity, cognitive stimulation and positive regard [54] were all associated with positive associations. Negative associations were found between father detachment, intrusiveness and negative regard, and children's receptive vocabulary [54].

The Emotional/Behavioural outcomes were concerned with child minimum engagement of self-control with forbidden toys and child active engagement of self-control (interacted with forbidden toys less), child aggression, percentage of night sleep, emotional regulation and child negativity. Thirteen of the Emotional/Behavioural associations were positive while two were negative. Shared positive emotion, mutual compliance [59], playfulness [12], quality of interactions [60] and engagement in toy play [56] were factors associated with positive associations. Of the negative associations, dyadic reciprocity during toy play was negatively associated with children's minimum and active engagement of self-control (showed less self-control with forbidden toys) [59]. Thus, regardless of the positive shared experiences during Toy Play, children still ignored experimenter instructions and engaged in a play with a forbidden toy but were likely to follow their fathers' verbal instructions. This demonstrates the impact that these dyadic experiences have on

25

the relationship between father and child but may indicate this compliance does not extend to outside parties.

The Social/Behavioural child outcomes of interest were prosocial behaviour, childfriend interactions, friendship quality and false belief understanding. Positive associations were found for all outcomes. Father–child dyads who engaged in more mutual compliance (dyadic measure) and shared more positive emotion during play had children who were more prosocial [57] and father sensitivity showed positive outcomes for child-friend interactions, friendship quality and false belief understanding [61]. Furthermore, mutual compliance and sharing positive emotions during toy Play were negatively associated with child aggression and positively associated with prosocial behaviours (Social/Behavioural) [57].

Number of Reported Number of Reported Sample Outcome Outcome Study Positive Associations Size Measure Category Negative Associations [52] 62 Positive C 1 0 [60] 70 EB 0 Positive 1 6 0 Positive Α [59] EΒ 0 2 80 Positive 4 SB 0 Negative 2 0 SB Positive [57] 88 0 SB 2 Negative 0 60 [55] Positive А 1 SB 0 [12] 111 Negative 4 2 0 [58] 200 Positive Α 3 SB Positive 0 [61] 32 Negative SB 1 0 A 0 2 2 2 2 [56] С 0 74 Positive EB 0 [53] 65 Positive С 0 А 8 4 [54] 111 Positive C 9 8 [62] 620 Positive C 2 0

Table 9. Toy play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Note: A = Achievement. C = Cognitive. EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural.

One study [63] used Video Game Play to examined childhood outcomes, making up 10% of the outcomes within this systematic review (Table 10). Child ages within this study ranged from 4 to 6 years. Objective measures were gathered for all video game play measures and child outcome measurements. Within this study, outcomes were focussed on Social/Behavioural outcomes (N = 16) and Emotional/Behavioural outcomes (N = 8). The Social/Behavioural outcomes of interest included eight positive child outcomes and focussed on positive parallel play with peers, while the eight negative child outcomes, focussed on negative peer play (a negative atmosphere with one play partner dissatisfied with the play). For the Social/Behavioural outcomes there were seven positive associations reported. Five positive associations were reported between father factors in Video Game Play inclusive of derisive humour (mocking/ridicule during play), criticism, enthusiasm, affection and father engagement and child outcome of positive parallel play with peers (side-by-side play where both parties are playing separately with neutral affect), while both engagement and derisive humour were negatively associated with negative peer play. Of the nine negative associations reported for Social/Behavioural outcomes, father enthusiasm, affection, intrusiveness, commands, responsiveness and criticism during play were positively related to negative peer play, while intrusiveness, commands and responsiveness also showed negative associations for positive parallel play with peers. The Emotional/Behavioural outcome of interest was positive affect during peer play. Researchers reported two positive associations and six negative associations. The positive associations were found between father affection and father responsiveness and child outcomes of positive affect during peer play. Father engagement, commands,

intrusiveness, derisive humour, criticism, and enthusiasm during play were associated with negative associations on positive affect during peer play.

Table 10. Video game play—outcome measure descriptions and results summary.

Study	Sample	Outcome	Outcome	Number of Reported	Number of Reported
	Size	Measure	Category	Positive Associations	Negative Associations
[63]	24	Positive Negative	EB SB SB	2 5 6	6 3 2

Note: EB = Emotional/Behavioural. SB = Social/Behavioural.

4. Discussion

The systematic review revealed that there were nine play types that fathers engaged in with their children: Creative Play, Combined Play, Free Play, Locomotor Play, Puzzle Play, Rough-and-Tumble Play, Structured and Semi-Structured Play, Toy Play and Video Game Play. Upon further investigation, it was apparent that the most utilised forms of play throughout the studies fell across two play types: Toy Play and RTP, with twelve and nine studies, respectively, focussing on these types of play. These two play types accounted for over half of the studies included in the systematic review. This play type bias, may be representative of the types of play that researchers themselves believe to be the most utilised by fathers, perpetuating the idea that the scope of father–child interactions are limited.

This systematic review also uncovered the childhood outcomes that were the focal points of these studies. Emotional/Behavioural outcomes were included in 22 studies, Cognitive and Achievement outcomes were each included in 12 studies and Social/Behavioural outcomes were included in 10 studies. Consequently, it is apparent that past research has primarily focussed on how play impacts children's emotional and behavioural development. This highlights the need to explore how paternal play impacts cognition, achievement and their social interactions, as these areas have been overlooked.

It was found that the vast majority of included publications focussed on positive child developmental outcomes (75%). While some play types had a relatively even spread of positive vs. negative outcomes of interest (Creative Play, Combined Play and RTP) others focussed largely (Locomotor Play, Structured and Semi-Structured Play, Toy and Video Game Play) or completely (Free Play and Puzzle Play) on positive child developmental outcomes. This may be indicative of a research tendency to illuminate how paternal behaviour is related to positive outcomes for children, rather than determining what paternal behaviours contribute to negative developmental outcomes.

The ages within this systematic review varied across the play types (see Figure 3). What stands out is the general trend towards investigating the younger years of child development. All play types considered the development of children aged 3 years. Four of the play types included samples of children over the age of 5 and only two included children over 7 years. Given these publications investigated father–child play and child development, there may be a neurological rationale for the focus on younger children. Neurological development is critical within the first 5 years of life, where experiences and practice give rise to rapid change and growth (neuroplasticity) [64]. Research targeting a time of rapid development and paternal behaviour may stand to positively inform parenting practices, thus providing opportunities to benefit child development. In line with this, the Structured and Semi-Structured Play study that considered 10-year-old children was examining the longitudinal developmental effects of play at age 2. Additionally, the RTP study that considered 8-year-old children was a five-year follow-up study from play at age 3. Therefore, it appears that when older samples were included, this was to examine the enduring impacts of father–child play, not the concurrent impacts.





It was also found that the measures used for play outcomes were comprised mostly of objective measures (79.27%), while the remainder came from parental self-report. This is reassuring as it indicates that the play outcomes measured within this systematic review have utilised primarily objective measures, which indicates the outcomes are an accurate and unbiased reflection of the various components of these dyadic interactions [65,66]. The child developmental outcomes also utilised a high percentage of objective measures (65.45%), with parent ratings the subsequently most common measure (19.90%), followed by teacher ratings (12.20%) and combined parent-teacher ratings (2.45%). This is indicative of the reports needed for the outcomes themselves, as some outcomes can be obtained objectively in one research session, whilst others unavoidably require parental input to obtain a holistic view of the child's functioning [67].

Creative Play, Combined Play, Free Play, Structured and Semi-structured Play and Toy Play were all found to be related to child academic achievement outcomes. These different play types, while focussed on unique paternal and dyadic elements of the play, held a common undertone of positive interaction elements. For example, positive relationships were found between Paternal Playfulness (Creative Play), Sensitivity (Combined Play), Nurturance and Dyadic interactions (Free Play), Cognitive stimulation (Structured and Semi-Structured) and dyadic reciprocity, shared positive emotion, mutual compliance, supportiveness, positive regard (Toy Play) and achievement outcomes. This is encouraging as it demonstrates that positive achievement outcomes are not exclusive to a single play type, but instead show that fathers being attuned to their children's needs, interacting in a playful and stimulating manner, and being supportive of their children's needs, consistently foster positive relationships. This could be utilised in future parenting interventions. For example, by encouraging positive play interactions within father–child dyads, there is the potential for school academic outcome improvement.

RTP, Locomotor Play and Puzzle Play were all related to positive Cognitive outcomes. General play involvement (RTP and Locomotor Play), Father involvement and autonomy support (Puzzle Play) were play elements of interest that showed positive relationships with child Cognition outcomes. All these types of play share a common factor in terms of gross and fine motor skills. As motor development impacts on child exploration of their physical environment, which in turn effects cognition, this is an instinctual connection [68,69]. These findings are promising as there has been no research linking puzzle play to the physical elements of RTP or Locomotor Play, which are physical in nature. These findings

14 of 19

provide prospective benefits for low-income families, where access to puzzles may not be possible, allowing them to derive comparable cognitive developmental outcomes for their children through more vigorous play activities. Across the 58 RTP outcome measures, only 1 outcome looked at cognition. Thus, given these findings and that research into RTP has primarily focussed on behavioural outcomes, it is paramount that further research is invested into exploring the cognitive benefits of RTP.

The systematic review suggested that Video Game Play, along with Creative Play and Toy Play, was related to child social/behavioural outcomes. Father enthusiasm, affection, engagement, responsiveness (Video Game Play), general play involvement (Creative Play), sensitivity and mutual compliance were all positively related to child social/behavioural outcomes in terms of positive interactions with their friends and general prosocial behaviours. This demonstrates the importance of modelling the appropriate ways of engaging in social situations. By being amenable, sensitive and responsive to their child's needs during play, fathers demonstrate the correct ways for their children to engage with their peers. Furthermore, by fathers showing enthusiasm and engagement in what their play companion (child) is doing, children appear to transfer the same reverence to their peers. Thus, while these three types of play differ in terms of the activities that they involve, it is apparent that strong translational learning can occur during dyadic play, which can foster positive social relationships for children. This modelling has been well described in Bandura's social learning theory whereby children observe models (people), translate this behaviour and subsequently imitate this learning behaviour [70]. The importance of this is that both positive and negative behaviours can be imitated, thus it is important that fathers are fostering positive social interactions for their children to model.

Creative Play, Free Play, Structured and Semi-Structured Play and Toy Play were all found to be related to child emotional/behavioural outcomes. Sensitivity (Structured and Semi-Structured Play, Free Play), general play (Toy Play) and playfulness (Creative Play) all attained positive outcomes, notably in the area of emotional regulation. This is interestingly contrasted with RTP and Locomotor Play, which showed that general play (Locomotor) and play frequency (RTP) were negatively associated with emotional regulation. This poses the question as to whether there is more nuance in physical play than other play types? Past research has suggested that it is not simply enough to engage in RTP, but instead it needs to be a quality interaction [49]. For example, sharing the winning and losing, sharing of dominance during play and, as there is an element of competition within RTP, fathers praising the child for their efforts. Thus, it is possible that these physical interactions obtained in this review were not quality interactions. Furthermore, as RTP has focussed mainly on behavioural outcomes it is evident that additional exploration is needed to better understand the elements of play that constitute high quality play and thus provide positive impacts to children. By gaining this understanding, we can generate resources for parents, educating them on the positive ways to engage in physical play to ensure beneficial outcomes for their children.

The directions of the relationships between paternal play and child developmental outcomes were in the trend we would expect and in line with our predictions, with the majority of negative outcomes having negative associations reported (77.27%), indicative of positive impacts on child development. For positive outcomes 64.25% found positive impacts on child development. It is important to note that of the negative associations reported, 71% came from negative parenting behaviours such as paternal overstimulation, negative affect, detachment, negative regard, intrusiveness, control, criticism and commands. Thus, consistent with what we would anticipate from these relationships. The positive parenting behaviours that were negatively associated included play involvement, play frequency, engagement, responsiveness, enthusiasm and dyadic reciprocity. As previously stated merely being involved in play does not constitute high quality play [49], thus other unmeasured aspects of the play could be impacting on these associations.

This study has potential limitations. Firstly, due to the broad age ranges considered within this review, the variance in age ranges found for each play type may be problematic.

Some play types demonstrated relatively narrow age ranges (Free Play 1–3 years, Puzzle Play 3–5 years, Toy Play 1–4 years, Video Game Play 4–6 years) while others displayed large age ranges (Creative Play 2–7 years, Combined Play 10 months–4 years, Locomotor Play 9 months–7 years, RTP 9 months–8 years, Structured and Semi-Structured Play 2–10 years). As participation in play interactions have been shown to differ across child developmental periods [71] the different age ranges shown here may affect the generalisability of these findings. While this review does not consider findings within a particular developmental lens, future reviews may consider limiting their searches to a more focussed developmental period.

Secondly, the decision to consider all play types within this review subsequently resulted in a small sample of studies within each play type. Consequently, relatively few studies explored the same play/outcome relationships. Despite this, the consideration of all play types allowed for a comprehensive exploration of how father–child play influences child development. It enabled us to answer our research question regarding the types of play fathers and their children engage in, thus providing information about what forms of play are utilised throughout paternal research (Locomotor Play, RTP and Toy Play). A narrower approach for future research may highlight important outcome similarities and/or differences in specific play types. This could allow researchers to form stronger conclusions about the relationship between a chosen play type and a particular developmental outcome.

In addition, there remain opportunities to explore father–child play from a cross-cultural perspective. The majority of this research has been conducted in Western-individualist populations [21,44] and has not explored these interactions in individualist cultures where father–child interactions may differ [72].

Limitations of systematic reviews more broadly are publication biases (less likely to publish no effect findings) and outcome reporting biases (reporting favourable relationships) [73]. However, the articles obtained reported both favourable and unfavourable results. Thus, while potential publication biases herein may have implications in distorting the true picture of the paternal play/child outcome relationship, outcome reporting bias has not surfaced as a concern for the present research.

The results of this systematic review provide support for a relationship between fatherchild play interactions and child developmental outcomes. It highlighted the broad range of play types utilised throughout father-child play research (Creative Play, Combined Play, Free Play, Locomotor Play, Puzzle Play, Rough-and-Tumble Play, Structured and Semi-Structured Play, Toy Play and Video Game Play) and identified that play outcomes were measured primarily objectively within the reviewed articles. It was made apparent that the principal outcome of interest in these articles was Emotional/Behavioural outcomes, followed by Cognitive and Achievement outcomes and finally Social/Behavioural outcomes.

The results also demonstrated how the same paternal behaviour can have vastly different associations with child outcomes, both within the same play type and across play types. Additionally, the findings highlighted the need to broaden our understanding about seemingly positive and negative parenting behaviours, as the directions of the relationships were at times unexpected, emphasizing the complexity of dyadic interactions and their associated outcomes. They demonstrated that while particular paternal behaviours may have negative impacts for certain childhood outcomes, the same behaviour can have various positive impacts also. Nonetheless, the overall directions of the relationships between paternal play and child developmental outcomes were in the direction we would expect for both positive and negative parenting behaviours. These findings encourage the further exploration of different types of paternal play interactions.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, E.L.R. and E.E.F; methodology, E.L.R. and E.E.F; formal analysis, E.L.R.; writing—original draft preparation, E.L.R.; writing—review and editing, E.L.R, E.E.F and J.S.; supervision, E.E.R. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This project was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program scholarship.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Results are based on public data from the included studies.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank all the authors included with this systematic review and Sophia Georgas who assisted with article selection. This research contributes to the doctoral work of Erin Robinson.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Sethna, V.; Perry, E.; Domoney, J.; Iles, J.; Psychogiou, L.; Rowbotham, N.E.; Stein, A.; Murray, L.; Ramchandani, P.G. Father-Child Interactions At 3 Months And 24 Months: Contributions to Children's Cognitive Development at 24 Months. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* 2017, *38*, 378–390. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. John, A.; Halliburton, A.; Humphrey, J. Child–mother and child–father play interaction patterns with preschoolers. *Early Child Dev. Care* **2013**, *183*, 483–497. [CrossRef]
- 3. Tomasello, M. Origins of Human Communication. *Orig. Hum. Commun.* **2008**, *1*, 166–170. [CrossRef]
- 4. Cabrera, N.J.; Roggman, L. Father Play: Is tt Special? Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J. 2017, 38, 706–708. [CrossRef]
- Mehall, K.G.; Spinrad, T.L.; Eisenberg, N.; Gaertner, B.M. Examining the Relations of Infant Temperament and Couples' Marital Satisfaction to Mother and Father Involvement: A Longitudinal Study. *Father. A J. Theory Res. Pr. about Men Father.* 2009, 7, 23–48. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ahnert, L.; Teufl, L.; Ruiz, N.; Piskernik, B.; Supper, B.; Remiorz, S.; Gesing, A.; Nowacki, K. Father-Child Play During the Preschool Years and Child Internalizing Behaviors: Between Robustness and Vulnerability. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* 2017, 38, 743–756. [CrossRef]
- 7. Cabrera, N.J.; Karberg, E.; Malin, J.L.; Aldoney, D. The Magic of Play: Low-Income Mothers' and Fathers' Playfulness and Children's Emotion Regulation and Vocabulary Skills. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* **2017**, *38*, 757–771. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Majdandžić, M. Commentary on Fathers' Play: Measurement, Conceptualization, Culture, and Connections with Child Development. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* 2017, *38*, 789–794. [CrossRef]
- 9. Amato, P.R.; Rivera, F. Paternal Involvement and Children's Behavior Problems. J. Marriage Fam. 1999, 61, 375. [CrossRef]
- 10. Popp, J.M.; St Jerne Thomsen, B. A Commentary on the Importance of Father-Child Play and Children's Development: Father-Child Play and Children's Development. *Infant Mental Health J.* 2017, *38*, 785–788. [CrossRef]
- 11. Bronte-Tinkew, J.; Carrano, J.; Horowitz, A.; Kinukawa, A. Involvement among Resident Fathers and Links to Infant Cognitive Outcomes. J. Fam. Issues 2008, 29, 1211–1244. [CrossRef]
- 12. Menashe-Grinberg, A.; Atzaba-Poria, N. Mother-Child and Father-Child Play Interaction: The Importance of Parental Playfulness as a Moderator of the Links between Parental Behavior and Child Negativity. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* **2017**, *38*, 772–784. [CrossRef]
- 13. Yogman, M.W.; Kindlon, D.; Earls, F. Father Involvement and Cognitive/Behavioral Outcomes of Preterm Infants. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry **1995**, 34, 58–66. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Kokkinaki, T.; Vasdekis, V.G.S. Comparing emotional coordination in early spontaneous mother–infant and father–infant interactions. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* **2015**, *12*, 69–84. [CrossRef]
- Grossmann, K.; Grossmann, K.E.; Fremmer-Bombik, E.; Kindler, H.; Scheuerer-Englisch, H.; Zimmermann, A.P. The Uniqueness of the Child-Father Attachment Relationship: Fathers' Sensitive and Challenging Play as a Pivotal Variable in a 16-year Longitudinal Study. Soc. Dev. 2002, 11, 301–337. [CrossRef]
- 16. Murphy, L.B. Fathers. ZERO TO THREE 1997, 18, 9.
- Majdandžić, M.; Möller, E.L.; De Vente, W.; Bögels, S.M.; Boom, D.C.V.D. Fathers' Challenging Parenting Behavior Prevents Social Anxiety Development in Their 4-Year-Old Children: A Longitudinal Observational Study. J. Abnorm. Child Psychol. 2013, 42, 301–310. [CrossRef]
- 18. Lamb, M.E.; Pleck, J.H.; Levine, J.A. *The Role of the Father in Child Development*, 5th ed.; John Wiley & Sons Inc: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2010.
- 19. Tamis-LeMonda, C.S.; Cabrera, N. Handbook of Father Involvement: Multidisciplinary Perspectives; Erlbaum: Mahwah, NJ, USA, 2002.
- 20. Milkie, M.A.; Denny, K.E. Changes in the Cultural Model of Father Involvement. J. Fam. Issues 2012, 35, 223–253. [CrossRef]
- 21. George, J.S.; Fletcher, R.; Palazzi, K. Comparing Fathers' Physical and Toy Play and Links to Child Behaviour: An Exploratory Study. *Infant Child Dev.* **2016**, 26, e1958. [CrossRef]
- 22. Amodia-Bidakowska, A.; Laverty, C.; Ramchandani, P.G. Father-child play: A systematic review of its frequency, characteristics and potential impact on children's development. *Dev. Rev.* 2020, 57, 100924. [CrossRef]

17 of 19

- 23. Rollè, L.; Gullotta, G.; Trombetta, T.; Curti, L.; Gerino, E.; Brustia, P.; Caldarera, A.M. Father Involvement and Cognitive Development in Early and Middle Childhood: A Systematic Review. *Front. Psychol.* **2019**, *10*, 2405. [CrossRef]
- 24. StGeorge, J.; Freeman, E. Measurement of Father-Child Rough-and-Tumble Play and its Relations to Child Behavior. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* 2017, *38*, 709–725. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Althubaiti, A. Information bias in health research: Definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *J. Multidiscip. Healthc.* **2016**, *9*, 211–217. [CrossRef]
- 26. Stevenson, M.; Crnic, K. Intrusive fathering, children's self-regulation and social skills: A mediation analysis. *J. Intellect. Disabil. Res.* **2012**, *57*, 500–512. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Robinson, E.; Freeman, E.; Georgas, S. The Impact of Father-Child Play Interactions on Child Development, PROSPERO 2018: CRD42018115301). Available online: http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display_record.php?ID=CRD42018115301 (accessed on 12 May 2021).
- 28. Kroll, M.E.; Carson, C.; Redshaw, M.; Quigley, M.A. Early Father Involvement and Subsequent Child Behaviour at Ages 3, 5 and 7 Years: Prospective Analysis of the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0162339. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 29. DiLallo, M. Family Represented: Mother and Father–Child Co-Constructed Narratives about Families. *PsycEXTRA Dataset* 2003. [CrossRef]
- 30. Malmberg, L.-E.; Lewis, S.; West, A.; Murray, E.; Sylva, K.; Stein, A. The influence of mothers' and fathers' sensitivity in the first year of life on children's cognitive outcomes at 18 and 36 months. *Child: Care Heal. Dev.* **2016**, *42*, 1–7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Clarke-Stewart, K.A. And Daddy Makes Three: The Father's Impact on Mother and Young Child. *Child Dev.* **1978**, *49*, 466. [CrossRef]
- 32. Bocknek, E.L.; Dayton, C.; Raveau, H.A.; Richardson, P.; Brophy-Herb, H.E.; Fitzgerald, H.E. Routine Active Playtime With Fathers Is Associated With Self-Regulation in Early Childhood. *Merrill-Palmer Q.* 2017, *63*, 105. [CrossRef]
- 33. Jia, R.; Kotila, L.E.; Schoppe-Sullivan, S.J. Transactional relations between father involvement and preschoolers' socioemotional adjustment. *J. Fam. Psychol.* **2012**, *26*, 848–857. [CrossRef]
- 34. Black, M.M.; Dubowitz, H.; Starr, J.R.H. African American Fathers in Low Income, Urban Families: Development, Behavior, and Home Environment of Their Three-Year-Old Children. *Child Dev.* **1999**, *70*, 967–978. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Bornstein, M.H.; Vibbert, M.; Tal, J.; O'Donnell, K. Toddler language and play in the second year: Stability, covariation and influences of parenting. *First Lang.* **1992**, *12*, 323–338. [CrossRef]
- 36. Feldman, R.; Klein, P.S. Toddlers' self-regulated compliance to mothers, caregivers, and fathers: Implications for theories of socialization. *Dev. Psychol.* 2003, *39*, 680–692. [CrossRef]
- 37. Meuwissen, A.S.; Carlson, S.M. The role of father parenting in children's school readiness: A longitudinal follow-up. *J. Fam. Psychol.* **2018**, *32*, 588–598. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 38. Head-Reeves, D.M. Paternal Involvement among African-American Fathers in Two-Parent Families: Influences in Early Child De-velopment. Ph.D. Thesis, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, CA, USA, 2010.
- 39. Torres, N.; Verissimo, M.; Monteiro, L.; Ribeiro, O.; Santos, A.J. Domains of father involvement, social competence and problem behavior in preschool children. *J. Fam. Stud.* **2014**, *20*, 188–203. [CrossRef]
- 40. Baker, C.E. African American Fathers' Contributions to Children's Early Academic Achievement: Evidence from Two-Parent Families from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study–Birth Cohort. *Early Educ. Dev.* **2013**, *25*, 19–35. [CrossRef]
- 41. Meuwissen, A.S.; Carlson, S.M. Fathers matter: The role of father parenting in preschoolers' executive function development. *J. Exp. Child Psychol.* **2015**, *140*, 1–15. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 42. Cabrera, N.J.; Shannon, J.D.; West, J.; Brooks-Gunn, J. Parental Interactions with Latino Infants: Variation by Country of Origin and English Proficiency. *Child Dev.* **2006**, *77*, 1190–1207. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Carson, J.L.; Parke, R.D. Reciprocal Negative Affect in Parent-Child Interactions and Children's Peer Competency. *Child Dev.* 1996, 67, 2217–2226. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Flanders, J.L.; Leo, V.; Paquette, D.; Pihl, R.O.; Séguin, J.R. Rough-and-tumble play and the regulation of aggression: An observational study of father-child play dyads. *Aggress. Behav.* **2009**, *35*, 285–295. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Flanders, J.L.; Simard, M.; Paquette, D.; Parent, S.; Vitaro, F.; Pihl, R.O.; Séguin, J.R. Rough-and-Tumble Play and the Development of Physical Aggression and Emotion Regulation: A Five-Year Follow-Up Study. *J. Fam. Violence* **2009**, *25*, 357–367. [CrossRef]
- 46. Majdandžić, M.; de Vente, W.; Colonnesi, C.; Bögels, S.M. Fathers' challenging parenting behavior predicts less subsequent anxiety symptoms in early childhood. *Behav. Res. Ther.* **2018**, *109*, 18–28. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Anderson, S.; Qiu, W.; Wheeler, S.J. The Quality of Father-Child Rough-and-Tumble Play and Toddlers' Aggressive Behavior in China. *Child Adolesc. Soc. Work. J.* 2017, *38*, 726–742. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 48. Isley, S.; O'Neil, R.; Parke, R.D. The Relation of Parental Affect and Control Behaviors to Children's Classroom Acceptance: A Concurrent and Predictive Analysis. *Early Educ. Dev.* **1996**, *7*, 7–23. [CrossRef]
- 49. Fletcher, R.; StGeorge, J.; Freeman, E. Rough and tumble play quality: Theoretical foundations for a new measure of father–child interaction. *Early Child Dev. Care* **2013**, *183*, 746–759. [CrossRef]
- 50. Cook, G.A.; Roggman, L.A.; Boyce, L.K. Fathers' and mothers' cognitive stimulation in early play with toddlers: Predictors of 5th grade reading and math. *Fam. Sci.* **2011**, *2*, 131–145. [CrossRef]
- 51. Bureau, J.-F.; Martin, J.; Yurkowski, K.; Schmiedel, S.; Quan, J.; Moss, E.; Deneault, A.-A.; Pallanca, D. Correlates of child–father and child–mother attachment in the preschool years. *Attach. Hum. Dev.* **2016**, *19*, 130–150. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

18 of 19

- 52. Bernier, A.; Carlson, S.M.; Deschênes, M.; Matte-Gagné, C. Social factors in the development of early executive functioning: A closer look at the caregiving environment. *Dev. Sci.* 2011, *15*, 12–24. [CrossRef]
- 53. Shannon, J.D.; Tamis-LeMonda, C.S.; London, K.; Cabrera, N. Beyond Rough and Tumble: Low-Income Fathers' Interactions and Children's Cognitive Development at 24 Months. *Parenting* **2002**, *2*, 77–104. [CrossRef]
- 54. Tamis-LeMonda, C.S.; Shannon, J.D.; Cabrera, N.J.; Lamb, M.E. Fathers and Mothers at Play with Their 2- and 3-Year-Olds: Contributions to Language and Cognitive Development. *Child Dev.* **2004**, *75*, 1806–1820. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Kwon, K.-A.; Bingham, G.E.; Lewsader, J.; Jeon, H.-J.; Elicker, J. Structured Task Versus Free Play: The Influence of Social Context on Parenting Quality, Toddlers' Engagement with Parents and Play Behaviors, and Parent–Toddler Language Use. *Child Youth Care Forum* **2013**, *42*, 207–224. [CrossRef]
- 56. Roggman, L.; Boyce, L.; Cook, G.; Christiansen, K.; Jones, D. Playing With Daddy: Social Toy Play, Early Head Start, and Developmental Outcomes. *Father. A J. Theory Res. Pract. Men Father.* **2004**, *2*, 83–108. [CrossRef]
- 57. Lindsey, E.W.; Cremeens, P.R.; Caldera, Y.M. Mother-child and father-child mutuality in two contexts: Consequences for young children's peer relationships. *Infant Child Dev.* **2009**, *19*, 142–160. [CrossRef]
- 58. Martin, A.; Ryan, R.M.; Brooks-Gunn, J. The joint influence of mother and father parenting on child cognitive outcomes at age 5. *Early Child. Res. Q.* **2007**, *22*, 423–439. [CrossRef]
- 59. Lindsey, E.W.; Cremeens, P.R.; Colwell, M.J.; Caldera, Y.M. The Structure of Parent-Child Dyadic Synchrony in Toddlerhood and Children's Communication Competence and Self-control. *Soc. Dev.* **2009**, *18*, 375–396. [CrossRef]
- 60. Bordeleau, S.; Bernier, A.; Carrier, J. Longitudinal Associations between Quality of Mother-Infant Interactions and Children's Sleep at Preschool Age. *Sleep Med.* 2011, *12*, S126. [CrossRef]
- 61. McElwain, N.L.; Volling, B.L. Attachment security and parental sensitivity during infancy: Associations with friendship quality and false-belief understanding at age 4. *J. Soc. Pers. Relatsh.* **2004**, *21*, 639–667. [CrossRef]
- 62. Towe-Goodman, N.R.; Willoughby, M.; Blair, C.; Gustafsson, H.C.; Mills-Koonce, W.R.; Cox, M.J. Fathers' sensitive parenting and the development of early executive functioning. *J. Fam. Psychol.* **2014**, *28*, 867–876. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 63. Kahen, V.; Katz, L.F.; Gottman, J.M. Linkages between parent-child interaction and conversations of friends. *Soc. Dev.* **1994**, *3*, 238–254. [CrossRef]
- 64. Kleim, J.A.; Jones, T.A. Principles of Experience-Dependent Neural Plasticity: Implications for Rehabilitation after Brain Damage. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res. 2008, 51, S225–S239. [CrossRef]
- 65. Freedson, P.; Bowles, H.R.; Troiano, R.; Haskell, W. Assessment of Physical Activity Using Wearable Monitors. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **2012**, *44*, S1–S4. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Prince, S.A.; Adamo, K.B.; Hamel, M.E.; Hardt, J.; Gorber, S.C.; Tremblay, M. A comparison of direct versus self-report measures for assessing physical activity in adults: A systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* **2008**, *5*, 56. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 67. Muckler, F.A.; Seven, S.A. Selecting Performance Measures: "Objective" versus "Subjective" Measurement. *Hum. Factors: J. Hum. Factors: Ergon. Soc.* **1992**, *34*, 441–455. [CrossRef]
- 68. Libertus, K.; Hauf, P. Editorial: Motor Skills and Their Foundational Role for Perceptual, Social, and Cognitive Development. *Front. Psychol.* **2017**, *8*, 301. [CrossRef]
- 69. Needham, A.; Barrett, T.; Peterman, K. A pick-me-up for infants' exploratory skills: Early simulated experiences reaching for objects using 'sticky mittens' enhances young infants' object exploration skills. *Infant Behav. Dev.* **2002**, 25, 279–295. [CrossRef]
- 70. Bandurra, A. Social Learning Theory; Prentice Hall: Englewood Cliffs, NJ, USA, 1977.
- 71. Hughes, F.P. Children, Play and Development; SAGE Publishing: Newbury Park, CA, USA, 2009.
- 72. Ho, D.Y.F. Fatherhood in Chinese culture. In *The Father's Role: Cross-Cultural Perspective;* Lamb, M.E., Ed.; Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Inc: Hillsdale, MA, USA, 1987; pp. 227–245.
- Ayorinde, A.A.; Williams, I.; Mannion, R.; Song, F.; Skrybant, M.; Lilford, R.J.; Chen, Y.-F. Assessment of publication bias and outcome reporting bias in systematic reviews of health services and delivery research: A meta-epidemiological study. *PLoS ONE* 2020, 15, e0227580. [CrossRef]

Chapter Three: The Prevalence of Parent-Child Interactions in Australian Families

The importance of play as a platform for child development has been welldocumented (Kahen, Katz & Gottman, 1994; McElwain & Volling, 2004; Tamis-Lemonda et al., 2004). The systematic review presented in Chapter 2 demonstrated the numerous links between father-child play and child achievement, cognitive, emotional/behavioural and social/behavioural outcomes. Past research has also revealed beneficial relationships between father-child play and academic achievement (Cabrera et al., 2017; Cook et al., 2011), cognition (Baker, 2013; Cabrera et al., 2006), social skills (Fletcher et al., 2013; Isley et al., 1996) and emotional regulation (Flanders et al., 2010; Head-Reeves, 2010). Chapter 2 also revealed that positive behaviours during play (e.g., engagement, responsiveness, enthusiasm) yielded mostly positive child developmental outcomes and the opposite was seen for negative behaviours (e.g., criticism, control, intrusiveness). The results indicated that the same paternal behaviour can result in different child developmental outcomes, dependent upon the type of play in which that parent engaged in. This highlighted the need to explore different types of paternal play interactions to better understand their developmental impact.

It has been well documented that past research has focused on play in general and neglected to report the type of play (Black et al., 1999; Bornstein et al., 1992; Cook et al., 2011) or the frequency in which it is engaged. This makes it cumbersome to try to determine the type of play that is most impactful on child development and whether there are differences in play interactions between mothers and fathers (Majdandžić et al., 2014; Popp & Thomsen, 2017). Furthermore, with some play types being investigated more so than others (i.e., toy play vs rough and tumble play), there is an imbalance of knowledge into the particular relationship between a select play type and child developmental outcomes.

Furthermore, the prevalence of parent-child play interactions across Australia has not yet been explored and given that parental play and involvement make important contributions to child development, this is an important avenue for investigation. Thus, the aim of this study was to examine the prevalence of different play (e.g., RTP, toy play, pretend play and puzzle play) and general parent-child interactions (e.g., screen time sharing and book reading) in an Australian sample using an online survey. The study examined maternal and paternal interactions in families with 0-10-year-old children. Although this study will give us further insight into parent-child interactions, such as playing with puzzles, reading, imaginative play, screen time and toy play, the present research focuses on RTP. Given RTP's status as the most utilised form of play between fathers and their children (Flanders et al., 2010), the shortage of maternal RTP exploration (Paquette et al., 2003) and being the least studied form of human play (Flanders et al., 2010), directed exploration is warranted.

This chapters present the findings on the prevalence of RTP interactions in Australian families. It begins by providing an overview of the different play types that were considered, then discusses the role that perceived importance of play has on play participation. Next, the findings examining the demographic characteristics of our sample and each play type, the differences for mothers and fathers in interactions, the impacts of child characteristics on interactions, and the effects of COVID-19 are presented. This chapter concludes by exploring the impact of these findings and suggestions are made for future research.

Play types: Associated Benefits and Prevalence

The following section explores 6 different parent-child interactions. Some of these interactions are physical (e.g., rough-and-tumble play), some passive (e.g., screen time), some cognitive (e.g., puzzle), some academic (e.g., reading), and some are more creative

(e.g., pretend play/make believe and toy play). The associated benefits of these interactions will be discussed, and the prevalence of these interactions will be explored.

Rough-and-Tumble Play

Rough-and-tumble (RTP) play is a type of physical play which involves vigorous behaviours such as play fighting, grappling, rumbling and chasing within a play context (Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). It's reported that RTP interactions begin during preschool years with peak parent-child RTP occurring around 4 years of age (Haight & Miller, 1993). RTP then increases in the primary school years, with a peak around 8 to 10 years for peer RTP, then decline in early adolescences (Hulle et al., 2007; Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). Gender differences have been reported, with research indicating that, as infants (Parke & O'Leary 2009; Power & Parke 1982) and pre-schoolers (MacDonald & Parke 1986), boys tend to receive a greater amount of physical play compared with girls. Despite these interactions consisting of positive affect and mutual enjoyment between play partners (Pelligrini, 2009) and RTP being coined as one of the most common activities fathers engage in with their 0-10-year-old children, RTP is the least studied type of human play (Flanders et al., 2010). This lack of research has been linked to adults perceiving RTP as aggressive and dangerous (Panksepp, 1993). However, during RTP, children negotiate dominance with their play partner and must adjust their behaviour to the tempo of the game (Fletcher et al., 2013; Pellis et al., 2005). This provides important practice scenarios for children about navigating complex social interactions (Pellegrini & Smith, 1998). Consistent with this notion, RTP has been reliably linked to children's socioemotional competence (StGeorge & Freeman, 2017) and behavioural flexibility (Granic & Patterson, 2006; Hawley, 1999; Pellegrini, 2009; Tremblay, 2008). Furthermore, RTP has been linked to emotional regulation (Nangle et al., 2010, Parke et al.,) and achievement outcomes (Anderson et al., 2019; Landry & Smith, 2010; Zelazo et al., 1997).

While research has looked at the relationship between RTP and child developmental outcomes, research on the frequency of these interactions are sparse. Furthermore, as most RTP studies begin by saying that mothers tend to do more of the care-giving and fathers more of the RTP (e.g., Fletcher et al., 2012; Lamb, 1977; Paquette et al., 2003), research on RTP has neglected mothers.

There has been only one large scale study that has examined the prevalence of RTP and considered both parents engagement in the play. The research focussed on French-Canadian heterosexual two-parent families from Quebec, Canada (Paquette et al., 2003) and found that, contradicting past assumptions of RTP being a predominately paternal activity, 85% of fathers and 73% of mothers were engaging in RTP. The research did show however, that fathers did this more frequently than mothers.

Reading

Fathers and mothers reading to their children has been linked to child reading and language skills as well as cognitive development (Feitelson et al., 1986; Mol & Bus, 2011; Raikes et al., 2006). The two activities most likely to improve child reading skills are reading and being read to (Adams, 1990; McLane & McNamee, 1990; Teale, 1984). Thus, it is instinctive that additive benefits would be found in parent-child reading, whereby this activity stimulates further independent reading in these children (Klab & Van Ours, 2014). Research by Fielding and Rollers (1992) proposed that parent-child reading can help combat low reading involvement in children. They suggest that low involvement may be caused by the books at the child's reading level not being of interest and that the books of choice for children are too difficult. This predicament can be resolved with parent-child reading that exposes children to exciting/challenging stories, allowing them to practice their reading skills while having a positive shared experience with their parents (Clarke-Stewart, 1998).

Klab and Van Ours (2014) conducted an Australian study looking at the impacts of parental reading on child development, using information provided by parents and educators, as well as national reading test and cognitive skills test scores. They found that frequent reading to children at a young age (4-5 years) had significant positive impacts on subsequent reading and cognitive skills spanning to at least 10-11 years old. Although they did not investigate the impacts beyond these years, they suggested that the benefits could continue further into the child's life.

Klab and Van Ours' (2014) research also shed light into the frequency in which Australian children were being read to each week. The rates were similar for boys and girls. At age 4-5 19% of boys and 20% of girls were being read to 0-2 times per week, 23% of boys and 30% of girls were being read to 3-5 times per week and 50% of boys and girls were being read to 6-7 times per week. These rates differed from an American sample of 8-10-year-old children which reported 54% of parents read to their children less than once a week, while 21% of parents read to their children almost every day or every day (Clarke-Stewart, 1998). These differences could be due to parents reading to younger children being more prevalent. Clarke-Stewart (1998) also found that the child's enjoyment of being read to was significantly associated with parent-child reading frequency (r = .49, p < .001) and furthermore to how much the child liked reading independently (r = .83, p < .001).

Screen time

With concerns for children's safety on the rise, families often discourage unsupervised outdoor exploration in favour of safer, supervised, and structured activities inside the home (Downes, 2002). This has led to an increase in screen time and the impacts of its use have not reached consensus. Downes (2001) explored screen time use and child development within Australia and found that computer use increased problem-solving skills and encouraged risk-taking, supporting past research findings (Haugland, 1992). Observations of young children within this research found that children explaining what they were doing to their family strengthened their social skills and communication (Downes, 2001). Further studies have also found benefits of screen time (Granic et al., 2014; Przybylski & Weinstein, 2018; Valkenburg & Peter, 2009), while others have reported a negative relationship between screen time and children's wellbeing (Babic et al., 2017; Romer et al., 2013; Rosen et al., 2014).

Researchers in the U.S. explored the relationship between screen time (inclusive of phones, tablets, computers, gaming consoles and TV) and children's psychological wellbeing (Twenge & Campbell, 2018). In their sample of 2-17-year-old children and adolescents (n= 40,337), they found that over 1 hour of screen use was associated with decreased psychological well-being manifested as difficulty making friends, reduction in emotional regulation, and reduction in curiosity. In the 14-17-year-old population, high screen use was associated with anxiety, depression, and behavioural issue diagnoses. Thus, it is not surprising that in 2018 the World Health Organisation included gaming disorder within their 11th revision to the International Classification of Diseases (WHO, 2018).

However, few studies have examined screen time as a shared activity. Research by Jinqiu and Xiaoming (2010) examined co-viewing of television of 5-year-old children and their parents in Beijing, China. A positive relationship was found between co-viewing and child cognitive performance. The parents within the study reported co-viewing as a platform to educate their children, moderate the programs they watch and to gain an understanding of their child's judgement and intelligence. In line with this 77% of parents within the study explained television content to their child and 66% explained what the child could learn from the program. This phenomenon of parental commentary has been found in past research (Collins et al., 1981; Watkins et al., 1980). Beyond educational benefits, the parents in Beijing also suggested that their child's social skills can be enhanced through communication during co-viewing and these interactions can strengthen their parent-child bond (Jinqiu & Xiaoming, 2010).

Akin to exploration of co-viewing rates, the prevalence rates of screen time are scarce. The Australian Bureau of Statistics (2019) Multipurpose Household Survey revealed that of children aged 5-14 years, over 90% participated in screen-based activities each week. Of these children, more than half were participating in over 10 hours of screen time per week. There has been no research into the prevalence of parent-child screen time sharing per week in Australia or Internationally.

Puzzles

Parent-child puzzle play contributes to children's mental rotation and spatial skills. As children manoeuvre the pieces into locations, puzzles provide immediate accuracy feedback as to whether the pieces fit or not. This provides a strong foundation for children to build mental rotation skills using jigsaw puzzles (e.g., Williams, 2004) or more difficult mental transformations of 2-dimensional shapes (e.g., Levine et al., 2005). Further benefits were found in research conducted by Levine et al. (2012). They found that families who engaged in parent-child puzzle play with their 2-4-year-old children, had better spatial ability task performance compared to those who did not. Furthermore, this research reported that the frequency of puzzle play was concurrently related to child spatial ability performance and was also predictive of kindergarten spatial skills. While the frequency of play did not differ between boys and girls, boys' parent-child puzzle play was of higher quality. Levine et al. (2012) noted that parents can expose their children to spatial language while playing with puzzles (e.g., "long", "curve", "top", "bottom"), which may improve their spatial language that contributes to better spatial skill formation.

Based off the duration of puzzle play during the study conducted by Levine et al. (2012), they estimate that those who engage in puzzle play do so for slightly over 2 hours per

week. The prevalence rates from other research has considered puzzle play as a part of toy play, not a separate activity, where the average time for parent-child toy play (inclusive of puzzle play) is between 15-30 minutes, in a single sitting, for children aged 2-6 years (Chang & Yeh, 2015).

Toys

Toy play can be unstructured with no means-end, or by contrast be goal-focused and highly exploratory in nature (Gray, 2013). Vast amounts of research on toy play has demonstrated the importance of toy and object play for child cognitive development (Amato & Rivera 1999; Uzgiris & Weizmann, 1977; Yarrow et al., 1975). Elaborate interactions during toy play between toddlers and their parents predicted better emotional regulation outcomes and greater language skills, when compared with less-complex parent-child interactions (Roggman et al., 2004). Another study showed that parental sensitivity during toy play was positively associated with self-regulation in children, while overall positive toy play was associated with fewer emotional and behavioural problems in children (StGeorge et al., 2017).

Within parent-child toy play interactions a gender effect appears throughout the literature. For father-child play, toy play with daughters showed more dyad connectedness, less detachment and closer dyad proximity, when compared with father-son interactions (Barnett et al., 2008; StGeorge et al.,2017; Tamis-leMonda, 2004). Research examining mother-child toy play, has found that mothers comply more and ignore less of their sons' responses, compared to interactions with daughters. Furthermore, compared to fathers, mothers modelled higher facilitative and cooperative behaviour during play (Lindsey et al., 2010).

While there is vast research examining the impact of toy play on child development, there is limited research on prevalence. Namely, one study by Chang and Yeh (2015) reported 15 to 30 minutes as the average amount of time parents/caregivers spend sharing toy-play interactions with their 2-6-year-old child during a single sitting. The amount of parent-child toy-play outside of this age range has not been explored.

Pretend play/make believe

Pretend play encompasses an "as-if" stance (Garvey, 1990), where the pretenders develop layers of alternative realities onto the real environment (Fein, 1975; Lillard, 1993; Weisberg, 2015). Inanimate objects or beings can be treated as animate, mental representations become authentic and the pretenders create the context (Nielsen & Dissanayake, 2000). These interactions are related to child development in areas such as executive function (Lillard et al., 2011; Thibodeau et al., 2016; Vygotsky, 1978), language (Bergen, 2020; Lewis et al., 2000) and theory of mind (Taylor & Carlson, 1997). Lillard (2001) explains that make-believe play forces children to pay close attention to social cues, boosting theory of mind, which predicts children's social competence (Wellman, 2014). Children begin pretend playing around their first birthday (McCune-Nicolich & Fenson, 1984) and the play increases in complexity with age (Carlson et al., 1998; Lillard et al., 2010; Taylor & Carlson, 2000).

Past research has shown that after its emergence between 1-2 years of age, pretend play increases to its peak at around 3-4 years of age (Haight & Miller, 1993) and then declines after age 6 (Piaget, 1962). More recent research suggests this continues into middle childhood stopping completely (on average) at 11 years of age, although some adults continue to pretend play (Smith & Lillard, 2012). While there have been decades of research looking into the developmental impacts of pretend play, the prevalence rates are yet to be examined.

Perceived Play Importance: Impacts on Prevalence

Perceptions of play importance impact how often parents engage in play with their child. This is due to diverse perceptions of how children develop (Fogle & Mendez, 2006), and parents placing more importance on the desired competencies that they want their child to develop (Ogbu, 1988; Roopnarine et al. 1994; Tamis-LeMonda et al., 2002). Research by Chao (1996, 2000) found that Asian parents believed that good education prepares children for a successful life, while middle-class parents living in the United States, believed that play built the social and cognitive skills necessary for children to succeed at school and in their future undertakings. More recent research surmised that Confucian heritage culture, which dominates Chinese society, views play as flippant or harmful for children's academic learning (Luo et al., 2013). This is not to say that Chinese parents do not view play as important for development, but instead, that it does not serve the purpose of preparing them for academic endeavours (Farver et al., 1995; Lin & Li, 2018). Similarly, Taiwanese parents preferred for their children to engage in academic learning activities, as opposed to play (Lin & Yawkey, 2013). This position on play and academic learning, has also been found in collectivist mainland China and Chinese immigrant parents living in the United States (Jiang & Han 2016). Within individualist cultures, Parke and Black (1997) found that Caucasian parents' attitudes towards play were positively related to their participation in play. Further cross-cultural research has shown that American and Turkish mothers engage in childfocused play more frequently than Guatemalan, Korean-American and East Indian mothers who view play as mere amusement (Farver et al., 1995; Göncü et al., 1991). Research by Farver and Wimbarti (1995) has shown that Indonesian mothers who perceived play to be an important factor in keeping children busy and content, engaged in more pretend play with their child, compared to mothers who believed play was making greater contributions to social skill development and intelligence. This demonstrates that perceptions of play

importance not only impact the prevalence of play, but the types of play parents are engaging in with their children.

A study by Holmes (2011) explored the kinds of play caregivers encouraged their children to engage in and the extent to which they themselves participated with the child in play. This research investigated the play attitudes of 92 parents, grandparents, and other adult guardians of primarily Japanese, part Hawaiian and Filipino heritage. For child independent play, caregivers were most likely to encourage sporting/outdoor play. This was followed by make-believe, thinking games, video/electronic play, and toy play, with reading books being the least encouraged form of independent play. When caregivers were asked about the types of play activities they engaged in with their child, comparable to independent play, the most utilised form of play was outdoors activities. This was followed reading books, toy play, make-believe, puzzle play, rough-and-tumble play and screen time sharing. Thus, while caregivers encouraged certain types of play more so than others (make believe and thinking games vs toy play and book reading), this did not map consistently onto the types of play parents themselves engaged in most with their child (book reading and toy play). While the frequency of each play type was not described, caregivers reported on general play frequency. The majority of the caregivers reported that played with their child every day (62%), on days off/weekends (11%), two-four times per week (8%), often (6%), with the remainder reporting not as often as they would like (6%), as often as possible (3.5%) or oncetwice per month (3.5%). Thus, while past research has been successful in outlining the types of play parents engage in with their children, there is still much to learn about play prevalence rates and the relationship with parents' perceptions of play importance.

The Current Study

The aim of this study was to explore the frequency with which Australian parents engage in a range of play and general interactions with their 0-10-year-old children and the importance they place on each type of play for child development. In keeping with the overarching focus of this thesis, the results presented here will predominantly focus on RTP. The central questions of focus are: 1. Do Australian fathers participate in more frequent RTP than mothers? 2. Does the frequency of RTP vary dependent upon parental perception of the play (i.e., importance or enjoyment)? 3. Is the frequency of parent-child RTP related to child age and/or gender? 4. Is the frequency of RTP similar to other types of non-physical interactions? 5. How has the global pandemic impacted RTP frequency?

We predict that Australian fathers participate in RTP more frequently than mothers and that mothers engage more frequently in non-physical play interactions compared to fathers. Given RTP's status as the most utilised form of play between fathers and their children (Flanders et al., 2010), we expect this activity to be more frequently engaged in compared to other activities under investigation for fathers. Furthermore, as research has suggested that mothers tend to do engage in care-giving more so than play, we anticipate that book reading will be the activity with the highest engagement frequency for mothers. We expect, in line with past research, that RTP interactions will be more frequent with children around 4 years of age and that play perception will impact on RTP play frequency (higher reported enjoyment and perception of importance positively related to RTP frequency). We hypothesise that boys will engage in more frequent bouts of RTP compared to girls. Furthermore, we predict that RTP frequency will show a decrease compared to pre-COVID-19, due to elevated stress levels that arise in infectious disease outbreaks (Chua et al., 2004; Brooks et al., 2020).

Method

Participants

Three hundred and seventy-nine respondents (85% mothers) participated in the current study. The participants were recruited online via Facebook and through the University of Newcastle's SONA experimental management system. Facebook advertising captured participants from the general population, while SONA participants consisted of either undergraduate students enrolled in a psychology course at the University of Newcastle or volunteers. There was no incentive provided to the general population for participants identified themselves as Australian parents and responded to questions about their child aged 0-10 years. This project was approved by the University's Human Research Ethics Committee, Approval H-2019-0063.

Online Survey

Parents completed the Australian Parent-Child Play Study (APCPS) survey online through LimeSurvey. The questions in the survey can be found at <u>https://limesurvey.newcastle.edu.au/index.php/347555?lang=en</u>. The survey consisted of forced choice and open-ended questions. The survey varied in question length depending on participants answer to two key questions as displayed in Figure 3.1. The survey consisted of demographics questions for the participant and additional demographics questions about their parenting partner (secondary respondents) if they indicated there was another adult responsible for the study child. Subsequently, participants were asked about their engagement in various play activities with their child: RTP, reading, screen time, puzzles, toys and pretend play/ make believe. If parents indicated that they did participate in a particular play activity with the study child, they were asked about how much they and the child enjoy that activity and how important they believe the activity to be. If the parent indicated that they did not participate in an activity with the study child, they were only asked how important they believe that activity to be. Where applicable, after the completion of the responses about the participant and the study child's engagement in play, the participant was then asked about the secondary respondent's engagement in these activities. Thus, resulting in various question lengths for each participant based on their responses as shown in Figure 3.1. At the end of the survey, participants were invited to leave any additional comments about their parent-child play interactions, that the survey did not capture.

Figure 3.1

Maximum number of questions asked as determined by participant responses to key questions.



General testing procedure

All testing for participants was conducted online and via the use of their own devices and internet connection. All participants were asked the questions in the same standard order: demographic information, followed by questions regarding RTP, reading, screen time, puzzles, toys and pretend play/make believe. Each survey took approximately 30 minutes to complete.

Data manipulation and Analysis

JASP was used for the analysis (JASP Team, 2020). Descriptive statistics were generated, and independent samples t-tests were used to explore the differences in RTP factors (e.g., enjoyment for parent and child, motivation for child to win, how often does the child initiate RTP interactions etc.) for mothers and fathers. ANOVAs were utilised to examine the frequency for each parent-child interaction and COVID-19 impacts, as well as for exploring the impact of child age, gender, and parental perception of RTP on RTP frequency. Pearson's correlations explored the relationship between various demographic factors (e.g., average income, education, age of child, birth order of child) and RTP play factors (play frequency, importance, initiation, enjoyment). Linear regression analyses were conducted to examine the predictive association between various demographic factors (e.g., education, age and gender), perception of play (e.g., enjoyment and importance) and RTP frequency.

Results

Demographic Characteristics of the Sample

The child sample consisted of 201 female and 177 males, ranging from 0-10 years (M=4.61, SD=2.96) (See Figure 3.2). Seventy-three percent were 1st born children, fifteen percent were 2nd born children, seven percent were 3rd born children and five percent were 4th (+) born children. Children attended school (41%), day care (27%), preschool (11%) or were full time at home (21%).



Child sample spread by age range.

The primary respondents (those who filled in the survey) consisted of 334 female, 44 male and 1 Nonbinary participants, and ages ranged from 18-68 (M=33.77, SD=8.58). Most of the primary respondents lived in regional (n=167), outer suburbs (n=92) and metropolitan areas (n=75), with a smaller number of participants hailing from inner city urban (n=30) and remote areas (n=14). Over three quarters of the primary respondents were married (n=208) or living together as a couple (n=83), while the remainder were single (n=65), separated (n=15) or divorced (n=8). Ninety Two percent of primary respondents reported Australia to be their country of origin (n=348), with other respondents hailing from United Kingdom (n=6), New Zealand (n=6), India (n=3), Philippines (n=2), South Africa (n=2), Sweden (n=2), with all other countries obtaining single observations (See Figure 3.3).

Primary respondents reported country of origin.



Seventy nine percent of primary respondents reported having tertiary qualifications (See Figure 3.4), with 60% of participants being employed either part or full-time, 21% full time parents, 16% students and 3% unemployed. On average the primary respondents spent 2.5 days working outside of home (SD= 2.02). Primary respondents experienced an income drop from pre COVID-19 (M = \$83,500, SD = \$40,000) to post COVID-19 (M = \$68,500, SD = \$30,500). The average primary respondent had 1.92 children (SD=1.05), and predominantly reported being the study child's primary carer (89.68%). Primary respondents were principally biological parents (n=340), with a smaller number of respondents identifying themselves as relatives responsible for raising the study child (n=17), guardians (n=9), adoptive parents (n=6) and step-parents (n=4).



Primary respondents reported education level

Primary respondents also had the option of filling in the questions for the study child's other primary carer (secondary respondents). The primary respondent based these responses upon their perception of the secondary respondent. The secondary respondents were 245 males and 56 females, with ages ranging from 18-64 (M= 36.73, SD= 8.17). Ninety percent of the secondary respondents were reported to be married (n=202) or living together as a couple (n=70), while the remainder were single (n=20), separated (n=9) or divorced (n=1). It was reported that 87% of secondary respondent's country or origin was Australia (n=265), with other respondents hailing from United Kingdom (n=11), New Zealand (n=6), United States (n=2), Argentina (n=2), South Africa (n=2), with all other countries obtaining single observations (See Figure 3.5).

Secondary respondents reported country of origin.



Country of Origin

Seventy five percent of secondary respondent were reported to have tertiary qualifications (See Figure 3.6), with 84% of participants being employed either part or fulltime, 10% full time parents, 2% students and 4% unemployed. On average the secondary respondents spent 4.29 days working outside of home (SD= 1.75). Secondary respondents were reported to have experienced an income drop from pre COVID-19 (M = \$103,000, SD = \$40,000) to post COVID-19 (M = \$99,500, SD = \$41,000). The average secondary respondent was reported to have 1.99 children (SD=1.04), and over half were reported to be the study child's primary carer (58.94%). Secondary respondents were reported as being principally biological parents (n=283), with a smaller number of respondents identified as step-parents (n=8), guardians (n=10), adoptive parents (n=4) and relatives responsible for raising the study child (n=3).



Secondary respondents reported education level

Descriptive Statistics for each Activity Type

Frequency distributions were produced to examine the frequency in which mothers (See Figure 3.7) and fathers (See Figure 3.8) undertake different activities with their children. Within this section 'mothers' and 'fathers' reflect a combination of primary and secondary respondents. Nearly half of mothers in our sample read to their child 'everyday', while fathers reported '1-2 times per week' most frequently. The activity that received the highest 'everyday' frequency for fathers was RTP and albeit higher, this frequency was similar to mothers. This comparable trend continued for 5-6, 3-4 and 1-2 times per week' requencies of RTP. For screen time with children, most mothers and fathers reported '1-2 times per week' as the most common occurrence. One third of mothers were engaging in toy play daily with their child and '3-4 times per week' was the second most frequent answer. This was divergent from fathers where 10% were utilising toy play daily and '1-2 times per week' was the answer with the highest frequency. Puzzle play was reported as having the lowest weekly engagement for both mothers and fathers, with mothers reported '1-2 times per week' most

frequently and fathers reported '1-2 times per month' most frequently. Puzzles also obtained the highest 'never' ratings, where parents had never engaged in that activity with their child. Pretend play held similar 'never' ratings, with most fathers reporting engaging in pretend play '1-2 times per month' and most mothers reporting they played pretend 'everyday'.

Figure 3.7

Activity Frequency by Activity Type for Mothers





Activity Frequency by Activity Type for Fathers

Frequency distributions were produced to examine the perceived play importance for mothers (See Figure 3.9) and fathers (See Figure 3.10) across all activity types. Both mothers and fathers perceived reading to be either 'very important' or 'quite important', making this the highest rated activity overall. Fathers perceived RTP to be the second most important activity followed closely by toy play. Mothers perceived pretend play to be the second most important activity and like fathers rated toy play to be the third most important activity. Mothers perceived puzzles to be more important than RTP and fathers perceived puzzles to be more important than pretend play. Screen time held the largest frequency of low ratings with 58% of mothers and 46% of fathers reporting it was either 'not at all important' or 'a little bit important'.





Figure 3.10 *Frequency Distribution of Perceived Importance by Activity Type for Fathers*





Frequency distributions were produced to examine child and parent enjoyment levels of different activities, as reported by mothers and fathers (See Figures 3.11-3.14). Both mothers and fathers reported that their children were most joyful when engaging in parent-child RTP compared to all other activities (See Figures 3.11-3.12). In turn fathers also

reported the highest enjoyment rating for RTP (See Figure 3.14), with two thirds of fathers reporting they were 'extremely joyful' or got 'a lot of enjoyment' from the activity. This combined enjoyment frequency was similar to mothers (See Figure 3.13). Children were similarly joyful when engaging in toy play, pretend play and reading with mothers (See Figure 3.11). While fathers reported lower frequency for high level enjoyment for their children in these same activities (See Figure 3.12). Among these 3 activities, mothers' frequency of 'extremely joyful' was highest for reading, and lower for toy play and pretend play. Similarly, fathers had a higher frequency of 'extremely joyful' ratings for reading compared to both toy play and pretend play. Fathers showed higher frequency in the 'moderate amount of enjoyment' rating for reading, and in the 'a lot of enjoyment' rating for toy play and pretend play. Mothers also showed higher frequency in the 'a lot of enjoyment' ratings compared to 'extremely joyful' for all 3 activities.

There was consensus amongst mothers and fathers that their children got 'a lot of enjoyment' from sharing screen time with them, while parents reported a higher frequency of moderate enjoyment in this activity. Similarly, parents reported that their children got 'a lot of enjoyment' playing puzzles together, with mothers reporting the highest frequency at the same enjoyment level and fathers reporting a higher frequency of moderate enjoyment.

Frequency Distribution of Child Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Children Playing with Mothers



Enjoyment Level

Figure 3.12

Frequency Distribution of Child Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Children Playing with Fathers



Enjoyment Level


Frequency Distribution of Parent Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Mothers

Figure 3.14

Frequency Distribution of Parent Enjoyment Level by Activity Type for Fathers



Enjoyment Level

Effects of COVID-19

A 2x6 between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare interaction frequency for mothers across activity type (reading/toy play/screen time/pretend play, RTP, puzzles) and COVID-19 (pre and post COVID-19 onset). There was a significant main effect of activity type, F(5,2063) = 56.87, p < .001, with higher interaction frequency being shown for reading and lowest interaction frequency for puzzles (See Figure 3.15). There was also a significant main effect of COVID-19, F(1,2063) = 35.01, p < .001 with all types of interactions showing higher interaction frequency pre-COVID-19 compared to post-COVID-19. The interaction, as shown in Figure 10, was significant F(5, 2064) = 2.28, p = .045. Tukey post-hoc tests showed that interaction frequency for reading was higher than all other types of interactions (p < .001). Toy play showed significantly higher interaction frequency than pretend play, RTP and puzzles (p < .001). While screen time, pretend play and RTP all showed significantly higher interaction frequency compared to puzzles (p < .001).

Interaction frequency for Mothers as a function of child age and gender. Error bars indicate the standard error.



A 2x6 between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare interaction frequency for fathers across activity type (reading/toy play/screen time/pretend play, RTP, puzzles) and COVID-19 (pre and post COVID-19). There was a significant main effect of activity type, *F* (5,1404) = 36.50, *p* <.001, with higher interaction frequency being shown for RTP and lowest interaction frequency for puzzles (See Figure 3.16). There was also a significant main effect of COVID-19, *F* (1, 1404) = 4.98, *p* =.026, with the exception of toy and puzzle play, all other activity types showed higher interaction frequency pre-COVID-19 compared to post-COVID-19. There was no significant interaction found. Tukey post-hoc tests showed that interaction frequency for RTP was higher than all other types of interactions (screen time *p* =.03, reading *p* = .01, toy play, pretend play and puzzles *p* <.001). Pretend play interactions showed significantly lower interaction frequency than screen time, reading, toy play (*p*

<.001) and pretend play (p =.016). Similarly, interactions with puzzles showed significantly lower frequency than screen time, reading and toy play (p <.001).

Figure 3.16

Interaction frequency for Fathers as a function of child age and gender. Error bars indicate the standard error.



RTP: A Comparison of Enjoyment, Importance and Child Age and Gender

A one-way between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare RTP frequency across enjoyment levels. There was a significant main effect of enjoyment level, F(4,562) =28.07, p < .001. As shown in Figure 3.17 RTP frequency increased as enjoyment level increased.

RTP frequency as a function of enjoyment level. Error bars indicate the standard error.



A one-way between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare RTP frequency across perception of importance. There was a significant main effect of perceived level of importance, F(4,590) = 79.39, p < .001. As shown in Figure 3.18 RTP frequency increased as perception of importance increased.

standard error.

RTP frequency as a function of perceived level of importance. Error bars indicate the



A 2x11 between-subjects ANOVA was conducted to compare RTP frequency across child age and gender. There was a significant main effect of age, F(10,573) = 8.29, p < .001, with higher frequency of RTP being found in 1-3-year-olds than any other age (See Figure 3.19). There was also a significant main effect of gender F(1,573) = 20.72, p < .001 with male children engaging in RTP more frequently than their female counterparts. The interaction, as shown in Figure 8, was marginally significant, F(10,573) = 2.40, p = .052. Tukey post-hoc tests showed that there was a significant difference in RTP frequency between 1-year-olds and 8, 9 and 10-year-olds (p < .001). These differences were also found for 2 and 3-year-old children compared to 8, 9 and 10-year-olds (p < .001). Thus 1, 2- and 3-year-olds are receiving significantly more RTP interactions with their parents than their older 8, 9 and 10-year-old counterparts.

RTP frequency as a function of child age and gender. Error bars indicate the standard error.



Differences for Mothers and Fathers

An independent samples Welch's t-test was conducted to examine differences in RTP factors between mothers and fathers. Welch's t-test was employed as the assumptions of equal variance was not met for these data. Fathers (M=4.17, SD=.86) reported significantly higher enjoyment of RTP than mothers (M=3.79, SD=.94), t (524.88) = 4.94, p <.001. Respondents reported that children had significantly higher enjoyment of RTP with fathers (M=4.54, SD=.67) than mothers (M=4.35, SD=.73), t (521.11) = 3.33, p <.001. In line with this, children initiated RTP interactions significantly more often, t (556.27) =2.89, p=.004, with fathers (M=4.90, SD=1.71) than mothers (M=4.46, SD=1.96). Fathers perceived RTP to be of greater importance (M=3.90, SD=1.01) than mothers did (M=3.56, SD=1.08) and this difference was statistically significant t (509.99) = 3.79, p <.001. A significant difference, t (545.50) =2.93, p =.004, in RTP frequency was found with fathers (M=5.04, SD=1.56) participating more often than mothers (M=4.64, SD=1.73). Respondents reported that

children cried during RTP significantly more when playing with their father (M=1.52, SD=.58) than with their mothers (M=1.39, SD=.56), t (482.87) = 2.71, p = .007. It was also reported that children are more motivated to win when playing RTP with their fathers (M=2.79, SD=1.10) than with their mothers (M=2.60, SD=1.08), t (490.79) = 2.05, p = .041. Mothers were more likely to engage in tickle and chasing games, while fathers utilised physical contact games such as wrestling and strength games (See Figure 3.20).

Figure 3.20

Reported percentages of RTP games engaged in by mothers and fathers





Relationships with/and Predictors of RTP

Pearson Product-Moment correlations were conducted to assess the relationship between respondent demographic factors (gender, age, education level, employment status, days working outside of home, income), child (age, gender, birth order) and RTP factors (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) for primary and secondary respondents (See Table 3.1). For primary respondents (seen below the diagonal line) RTP frequency showed small and significant positive relationships with child age, gender and respondent education level. Perceived importance of RTP showed small and significant positive relationships with respondent education level, child age and child gender, and a moderate significant positive relationship with RTP frequency. Small significant positive correlations were found between child initiating RTP, child gender and respondent education level. A moderate and significant positive correlation was found between child initiating RTP, and a strong and significant positive correlation was found between child initiating RTP and perceived importance of RTP, and a strong and significant positive correlation was found between child initiating RTP and perceived importance of RTP, and RTP Frequency.

Child enjoyment of RTP showed small and significant positive relationships with respondent education level and child gender, and moderate and significant positive relationships with Child initiate RTP, perceived importance of RTP and RTP Frequency. Parent enjoyment of RTP demonstrated small and significant positive relationships with respondent gender, respondent age, child gender, RTP Frequency, perceived importance of RTP and child initiate RTP, and a moderate and significant positive relationship with child enjoyment of RTP.

For secondary respondents (seen above the diagonal line) RTP frequency showed small and significant positive relationships with respondent gender, respondent age, child age and birth order (See Table 3.1). Perceived importance of RTP showed small and significant positive relationships with respondent gender, respondent age, employment status, child gender and birth order, and a small and significant negative relationship with days working outside of home. Furthermore, a strong and significant positive relationship was found between perceived importance of RTP and with RTP frequency. Small significant positive correlations were found between child initiating RTP, and respondent gender, respondent age, child gender and birth order. Strong and significant positive correlations were found between child initiating RTP; and RTP frequency and perceived importance of RTP.

Child enjoyment of RTP showed small and significant positive relationships with child gender, child initiating RTP, RTP Frequency and perceived importance of RTP. Parent

enjoyment of RTP showed small and significant positive relationships with respondent gender, respondent age, employment status, child age and child initiating RTP and a small and significant negative relationship with days working outside of home. Moderate and significant positive correlations were found between parent enjoyment of RTP; and RTP frequency, perceived importance of RTP and Child enjoyment of RTP.

Table 3.1

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
1. Respondent Gender	_	-0.07	0.12*	0.33**	-0.40**	-0.21**	0.07	0.09	-0.00	0.31**	0.22**	0.25**	0.09	0.18*
2. Respondent Age	-0.04	_	0.11	-0.11*	0.09	0.20**	-0.09	0.41**	0.34**	0.20*	0.13*	0.13*	0.06	0.14*
3. Education Level	0.03	-0.31**	_	-0.04	0.01	0.16*	-0.05	-0.02	-0.04	0.01	-0.06	0.04	-0.01	0.10
4. Employment Status	-0.17*	0.07	-0.21**	_	-0.72**	-0.43**	0.14*	0.11	-0.02	0.06	0.13*	0.05	0.07	0.14*
5. Days working Outside of Home	-0.18**	0.01	-0.15*	0.72**	_	0.46**	-0.08	-0.08	0.04	-0.03	-0.13*	-0.09	-0.01	-0.13*
6. Annual Gross Income	-0.25**	0.23**	-0.38**	0.54**	0.44**	_	-0.10	0.10	0.05	-0.06	-0.05	0.00	-0.11	-0.11
7. Child Gender	-0.00	-0.08	0.02	-0.00	0.02	-0.02	_	-0.06	-0.04	0.13	0.15*	0.17*	0.17*	0.03
8. Child Age	-0.11*	0.40**	-0.02	0.15*	0.07	0.10*	-0.06	_	0.25**	0.30**	0.11	0.11	0.09	0.16*
9. Birth Order	-0.01	0.34**	0.05	-0.10	-0.08	-0.03	-0.04	0.25**	_	0.24**	0.22**	0.14*	0.13	0.10
10. RTP Frequency	-0.06	0.03	0.19**	0.05	0.03	-0.03	0.18**	0.26**	0.09	_	0.66**	0.74**	0.33**	0.48**
11. Perceived RTP Importance	0.04	0.01	0.25**	-0.01	-0.03	-0.09	0.16*	0.11*	0.05	0.52**	_	0.51**	0.29**	0.54**
12. Child initiate RTP	-0.04	0.03	0.14*	0.10	0.07	0.00	0.23**	0.05	0.04	0.77**	0.49**	_	0.33**	0.39**
13. Child Enjoyment of RTP	0.01	-0.02	0.18*	-0.06	-0.04	-0.08	0.14*	0.09	-0.00	0.40**	0.38**	0.41**	_	0.50**
14. Parent Enjoyment of RTP	0.12*	0.11*	-0.10	-0.03	-0.05	-0.03	-0.03	0.20**	0.10	0.32**	0.31**	0.16*	0.43**	_

Pearson's Correlations for Respondent Demographic and RTP Factors for Primary and Secondary Respondents

Note. Coefficients below the diagonal line represent the correlations for primary respondents. Coefficients above the diagonal line represent the correlations for secondary respondents. * p < 0.05 * p < 0.001

A multiple linear regression was conducted using the stepwise method to determine whether parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling) and RTP interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors predict RTP frequency for primary respondents. A significant model was found, F(6,335) = 102.75, p <.001, and it explained 64% of variance in Scores (Adjusted R² = .642). As shown in Table 3.2, Child initiating RTP was the strongest predictor in the model, followed by age of child, primary respondent enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance and primary respondent age, which were all significant. The criterion of education level approached significance. All assumptions for regression were met.

Table 3.2

Results from the regression model using parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling, birth order) and interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors to predict RTP frequency for primary respondents, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

	В	β	t	р
Child initiating RTP	.534	.637	17.546	<.001
Age of child	.140	.263	7.281	< .001
Primary respondent enjoyment of RTP	.254	.153	4.337	< .001
Education	.070	.068	1.882	.061
Perception of RTP importance	.151	.099	2.536	.012
Primary respondent age	017	091	-2.432	.016

A multiple linear regression was also conducted using the stepwise method to determine whether parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling) and interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors predict RTP frequency for secondary respondents. A significant model was found, F(5,220) = 94.22, p < .001, and it explained 67% of variance in Scores (Adjusted R² = .674). As shown in Table 3.3, Child initiating RTP was the strongest predictor in the model, followed by perception of RTP importance, age of child, child days at care/school and secondary respondent

relationship status. All criterion variables included in the model were significant. All

assumptions for regression were met.

Table 3.3

Results from the regression model using parental (age, gender, relationship status, days working outside of home, education, employment, income), child (age, gender, days at care/schooling, birth order) and interaction (child initiating RTP, enjoyment of RTP, perception of RTP importance) factors to predict RTP frequency for secondary respondents, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

sumaraisea (p) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.						
	В	β	t	р		
Child initiating RTP	.461	.518	12.051	< .001		
Perception of RTP importance	.464	.332	7.051	< .001		
Age of child	.103	.211	4.796	< .001		
Child days at care/school	.092	.128	2.908	.004		
Secondary respondent relationship status	.223	.099	2.591	.010		

Discussion

Analyses revealed that of all the activities included within this study both mothers and fathers rated reading to be the most important activity, followed by RTP for fathers and pretend play for mothers, with parents rating toy play as the third most important activity. Consistent with this, reading was the most frequent mother-child interaction, followed by toy play, while the frequency of RTP was similar to screen time sharing and pretend play. This is in keeping with the prediction that reading would display the highest engagement for mothers. For fathers, despite rating reading as the most important activity, frequency of RTP was significantly higher than all other types of interactions. This is in line with previous research reporting that RTP is one of the most engaged in activities for fathers (Flanders et al., 2010). This supports the prediction that RTP would be the most frequently engaged in activity for fathers and supports the findings of past research (Fletcher et al., 2012; Lamb, 1977; Paquette et al., 2003). Therefore, while the frequency of RTP was higher than other

types of interactions for fathers and their children, the frequency of RTP is similar to nonphysical kinds of interactions for mothers and their children. It is interesting to note that while RTP frequency is highest proportionally compared to other activity types for fatherchild exchanges, RTP frequency is comparable for mother and fathers. Thus, while the paternal focus in RTP research is founded, these findings give merit to additionally exploring the maternal influences.

Screen time was rated by parents as having the lowest importance across the activity types and had the second lowest daily engagement, surpassing puzzle play overall. Parents reported higher child enjoyment of RTP compared with other activity types, with fathers reporting a greater frequency of high enjoyment when playing with their children compared to mothers. Reciprocal to this, fathers reported having greater enjoyment of RTP interactions and rated these interactions as being more important compared to mothers. This may explain why children initiated RTP interactions more frequently, had a higher level of enjoyment with fathers and were more motivated to win during these interactions, compared to when playing with mothers. Mothers indicated they enjoyed the activity of reading best.

During RTP, parents reported that children cried more when interacting with their fathers. Given that children are more motivated to win when playing with their fathers, it is possible that this heightened emotional state when interacting with fathers could contribute to a wider range and intensity of emotional responses (Vingerhoets, 2013). Research has demonstrated that crying serves to moderate increased arousal and distress (Maestripieri et al., 1992) and also functions to reduce inter-personal aggression and encourage parental assistance (Walter, 2006; Trimble, 2012). Mothers engaged in tickle and chasing RTP games more than fathers, while fathers engaged in wrestle and strength RTP games more than mothers. This is illuminating, given that RTP research has focused heavily on fathers, as it displays that while mothers do engage in all forms of RTP interactions, they utilise non-

strength-based games more so than fathers. Thus, the finding of comparable RTP frequency levels for mother and fathers establishes the need to explore maternal influences in future research.

In line with predictions, there was a positive relationship between enjoyment level, parental perception of importance and RTP frequency. That is to say, the more the parent enjoyed RTP the more they engaged in it. Furthermore, the greater the parental perception of RTP importance the more they engaged in it. While parental perceptions have not been assessed before in RTP research, this phenomenon has been reported in past play research (Farver & Wimbarti,1995; Holmes, 2011), with parents participating in play that they themselves enjoy and that they believe benefits their child's development (i.e., perceived importance). Child enjoyment and child initiation of RTP were found to be positively related to both RTP frequency and parental perception of RTP importance. Thus, there is synergy between children enjoying an activity and initiating it with parents, which plays a role in how frequently parents are engaging in RTP and how important parents believe that play to be.

RTP frequency was also related to child age and gender. As anticipated boys engaged in RTP more frequently than girls. This is consistent with past research findings that boys receive a greater amount of physical play compared to girls (MacDonald & Parke 1986; Parke & O'Leary 2009; Power & Parke 1982). We found that 1-3-year old children received RTP interactions more frequently than any other age. This is similar to previous research that found that RTP interactions peak around 4 years of age (Haight & Miller, 1993). Given that this past research was conducted over a decade ago and the benefits of RTP have been increasingly circulated in recent times (StGeorge & Freeman, 2017), it is possible that the perception of RTP as being dangerous and aggressive (Panksepp, 1993) may have changed, thus leading to an earlier peak for RTP interactions. Experiencing the COVID-19 pandemic was associated with a reduction in the frequency of parent-child interactions. While we did not directly measure parental stress, there was a decrease in average income for both primary and secondary respondents pre to post COVID-19 onset. Research has demonstrated a relationship between income reduction and stress increase (Golberstein, 2015; Sareen et al., 2011). Taken with the understanding that stress can result in withdrawal from/reduction of usually enjoyable activities (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), these findings of interaction reduction from pre to post COVID-19 onset are explicable.

The present findings demonstrate that the factors associated with RTP frequency are multifaceted. By considering not only parental influences, but the play aspects themselves (e.g., enjoyment and importance), as well as child and COVID-19 pandemic effects, this study was able to provide the foundational understanding of RTP frequency in Australian families. This creates opportunities for future research to contrast/compare RTP interactions transnationally and cross-culturally and provides helpful information that could inform future interventions in Australian families.

Chapter Four: Associations Between Father-Child Roughand-Tumble Play Interactions and Child Development

The results of the prevalence study presented in Chapter 3 revealed that Australian mothers and fathers engaged in similarly frequent bouts of RTP with their children. However, when considering the parent-child activities assessed wholistically, it was apparent that while RTP was the most engaged in activity for fathers, mothers engaged in reading, toy play and pretend play more frequently than RTP. Thus, while RTP is the preferred parent-child activity of most fathers, it is not the most preferred activity for mothers. Furthermore, both mothers and fathers reported that children had the highest levels of enjoyment when engaging in RTP, compared to all other activity types. Given this preference of fathers and their children to engage in RTP the aim of the present study was to explore how father-child RTP is related to child developmental outcomes. Furthermore, given past research has demonstrated that paternal mental health impacts how fathers engage with their children (Goldberg et al., 2002; Radoš, 2021), this study also aimed to determine whether mental health impacts father-child RTP interactions.

In this chapter the findings on the relationship between father-child rough-and-tumble play interactions and child developmental outcomes are presented. Firstly, an overview of the broad developmental impacts of rough-and-tumble play and other demographic factors that can impact father-child play interactions is provided. The implications of paternal mental health for play and the attachment relationship is discussed. Next, the demographic characteristics of our sample are discussed and the relationship between rough-and-tumble play and these demographic factors, paternal mental health, attachment (conflicts and positive aspects) and child development is explored. This chapter in concluded by exploring the outcomes of these findings and make suggestions for future RTP research.

Developmental Impacts of RTP

From infancy, parent-child play interactions offer the opportunity for parents to teach their children cultural skills and develop their emotional, behavioural, social, and cognitive competencies (Cabrera & Tamis-Lemonda, 2013; Tomasello, 2008). Research has indicated that fathers encourage their children to explore unfamiliar environments, take more risks and provide them more space to solve problems on their own, more so than mothers do (John et al., 2013; Tamis-Lemonda et al., 2004). These dyadic father-child interactions are often categorised as peer-like, or horizontal interactions, with the father displaying friend-like behaviour during play, while still maintaining their role as a parent (John et al., 2013). Thus, providing a friendly but challenge environment for children to test their abilities.

A challenging type of play fathers often engage in is rough-and-tumble play (RTP) (MacDonald & Parke, 1986; Roopnarine & Davidson, 2015). RTP involves activities such as wrestling, tumbling, chasing, holding, and fleeing that can either be simple tumble play (Pellegrini, 1989) or competitive where there is a winner and a loser of the play bout (Konner, 1972). RTP also involves dominance differentials, with one play partner being the more dominant partner at any one time, guiding the direction of the play (Pellegrini, 2009; Tremblay, 2008). In high quality RTP play this dominance is reciprocal (Fletcher et al., 2013) and the play partners display positive emotional expressions (Pellegrini, 1995).

The perception of RTP has changed over the years, with past research categorising RTP as an unchallenging form of play, unimportant to child development (Bishop & Curtis, 2001; Sylva et al., 1980). This may have stemmed from the view that RTP is aggressive in nature, incorrectly classifying affiliative behaviours with tangible fighting (Paquette, 1994; Pellis et al., 2005). Contemporary parent-child play research has emphasised RTP as important for human socialisation (Lindsey et al., 1997b; MacDonald & Parke, 1984), with fathers reported as the preferred play partner for these kinds of interactions (Ross & Taylor, 1989). The literature has expressed that, not only is RTP enjoyable for children (Pellegrini & Smith, 1998), but has been linked to a wide range of developmental benefits (Hart & Tannock, 2013; Pellegrini, 1989; Roggman et al., 2002).

Physical, exciting, and positive RTP activities can stimulate children to the brink of their emotional-regulatory capacity (Peterson & Flanders, 2005). Parents and children must adjust their emotional arousal and behaviour to play cooperatively to negotiate between their and their play-partner's needs, which is paramount for the interaction to be maintained (Peterson & Flanders, 2005). These cooperative and emotional modulation strategies found in RTP have demonstrated emotional regulation benefits for children, as outlined in the systematic review found in Chapter 2. Moreover, RTP has been associated with emotionencoding proficiency (emotional information stored for later retrieval), which has been known to aide peer interactions (Field & Walden, 2008; Zeman et al., 2006).

The direct collaborative play seen in father-child RTP serves as a platform through which social problem-solving skills can develop, which can extend from the familial to peer environments (Lindsey et al., 1997b; McArdle, 2001). Research has demonstrated that RTP is associated with social competence with peers and cooperative play abilities (Carson & Parke, 1996; MacDonald & Parke, 1984; Pellegrini, 1989) and teaches children about compromise and impulse inhibition (Hart & Tannock, 2013; Paquette et al., 2003). This can assist children to solve peer conflicts (Pellegrini, 1989), create friendships (McArdle, 2001) and better understand the physical body language and emotional responses of others (Hart & Tannock, 2013; Paquette et al., 2003). These skills are necessary and important for children to become socially capable adults (Sluckin, 1981).

In addition to social competence, children can learn essential behavioural skills through RTP. During quality RTP, fathers use limit setting and exert physical and emotional control, which in turn, models effective strategies children can employ in their own peer contexts (Paquette, 2004). Due to their physical superiority, fathers utilise self-handicapping to determine when and if their children can assume the role of the dominant play partner (Flanders et al., 2009). Self-handicapping differs among father-child dyads, leading to distinct developmental outcomes for children's aggression. Where fathers control the play, determining the shared winning and losing of the play bouts, children learn self-regulatory strategies (Flanders et al., 2009). Where children control the play and dominate their father whenever they so choose, they fail to learn the boundaries of physically aggressive behaviour, and subsequently have a reduced ability to regulate such behaviours (Paquette, 2004). A longitudinal study revealed that RTP with less dominant fathers, predicted higher physical aggressive behaviours in children, relative to their peers (Flanders et al., 2010). Furthermore, the systematic review (Chapter 2) revealed that fathers challenging play was related to lower child anxiety. Thus, successful RTP, where fathers determine the direction of the play and challenge their children, provides an important environment where children can learn to modulate their own aggression, affect, and behaviour (Carson et al., 1993; Paquette et al., 2003).

Less is known about the impact of RTP for cognition, as past research has focussed heavily on the benefits for the reduction of child aggressive behaviour and benefits for selfregulation (Robinson et al., 2021). The results of the systematic review presented in Chapter 2 found only 1 study that focussed on the cognitive benefits of RTP. Despite this lack of research, researchers have indicated that RTP aides in the development of the frontal cortex, which is essential for executive function including working memory, attention, reasoning, cognitive flexibility, and problem solving (Scott & Panksepp, 2003). Thus, it is essential that the cognitive impacts of RTP interactions are explored further.

Thus, RTP has established benefits for child developmental outcomes, with some areas being more extensively investigated than others. However, there are various demographic factors which can impact the frequency of play between fathers and their children. Chapter 3 revealed that boys participate more frequently in RTP compared to girls and past research has shown higher intensity RTP between parents and their sons, compared to with their daughters (Kyratzis, 2000, 2001; Marsh, 2000). This has impacted the direction of research, with father-son RTP being more prominently investigated (Coie et al., 1982; Pellegrini, 1993).

Like gender, it appears that birth order may also impact the frequency of father-child play. Price (2008) reported that first born children receive around half-an-hour more quality time with their parents each day, when compared to same-aged second born children, from a similar family structure. While this study examined parent-child quality time, not exclusive to play, it stands to reason that the more time a parent has with a child, the more opportunity for play interactions. Other research has reported that fathers who worked longer hours reported less involvement with their children which was associated with the quality of father involvement in play interactions (Crouter et al., 1987; Roggman et al., 1999). Despite this, involvement in play has not been found to be related to father age (Tamis-LeMonda et al., 2004) or socio-economic status (Flanders et al., 2009).

The Role of Paternal Mental Health in Child Development

In additional to demographic factors, paternal mental health has been shown to impact play frequency and moreover, the way in which fathers engage with their children during play. Past research has shown that paternal depression is related to less father involvement in their children's lives (Roggman et al., 1999), less play, and increased negative interactions (Lyons-Ruth et al., 2002). As depressed fathers have greater difficulty recognising happy emotions compared to negative emotions, this may negatively impact parent-child interactions (Koch et al., 2019) which may be compounded by depression decreasing affective responsiveness (Jacob & Johnson, 2001; Johnson & Jacob, 2000). In another study, reduced responsiveness and negative father-child interactions were also related to paternal stress (Darke & Goldberg, 1994), which has also been found to negatively influence play interactions (Goldberg et al., 2002; Magill-Evans & Harrison, 2001). This poor father-child bonding and lowered responsiveness found for both depressed (Kerstis et al., 2016) and stressed (Goldberg et al., 2002; Magill-Evans & Harrison, 2001) fathers has also be found for anxious fathers (Nicol-harper et al., 2007; Radoš, 2021). A subsequent physical play study found that when anxious fathers were move involved in play, their children displayed higher levels of anxiety, further impacting the attachment relationship (Fliek et al., 2015). It is apparent that mental health is not only a risk factor for impaired father-child interactions, it also has bearing on the attachment relationship (Field, 2010).

There are certain paternal play factors such as sensitivity and challenging parenting behaviour, that influence attachment, and moreover, attachment can play a role in the way in which fathers and their children interact. Grossman and colleagues (Grossman et al., 2002) found that when fathers were sensitive and challenging during play, these elements better predicted long-term father-child attachment compared to the predictive ability of early infant attachment. Therefore, despite any early attachment representations, play can serve as an avenue to strengthen familial bonds. Similarly, when children are more securely attached to their fathers, their play interactions are more refined in that they feel able to explore their play environment completely (Kazura, 2000). Thus, it is apparent that there is a symbiotic relationship between the father-child relationship and play (Bridges et al., 1988). However, much of this research has focussed on play more broadly, not from an exclusive RTP perspective (Goldberg et al., 2002; Robinson et al., 2021; Roggman et al., 1999). Therefore, it is imperative that these relationships are explored more comprehensively through a RTP lens.

The Current Study

The aim of this study was to explore father-child RTP to determine how play impacts child development, and furthermore, to explore the impacts of paternal mental health and attachment. We invited fathers and their 4-7-year-old child into our Play lab to participate in some RTP activities that were videorecorded for later coding. Fathers also completed a series of questionnaires exploring the family's demographic characteristics, paternal mental health, father-child attachment, and child developmental outcomes. Children also completed a cognitive assessment.

The main research questions for this study are: 1. What are the underlying factors of father-child rough-and-tumble play that are related to child developmental outcomes? 2. How do demographic factors relate to the way dyads engage in rough-and-tumble play? 3. Is there a relationship between paternal-mental health and rough-and-tumble play interactions? 4. What is the association between paternal mental health and child attachment? And lastly 5. Is there a relationship between rough-and-tumble play and child attachment?

We predict that, based on past play study findings (Fliek et al., 2015; Koch et al., 2019; Magill-Evans & Harrison, 2001), poor paternal mental health (depression, anxiety, and stress) will be negatively related to positive behaviours during RTP (e.g., sensitivity, spontaneity, connectedness, and warmth) and positively related to negative behaviours during RTP (e.g., ignoring, disengaging, low effort and loss of connection). Furthermore, we expect that poor paternal mental health will be negatively related to the closeness of the paternal-child attachment and positively related to the conflicts of the paternal-child attachment (Darke & Goldberg, 1994). As reduced responsiveness has been previously linked to poor father-child attachment outcomes (Johnson & Jacob, 2000), we anticipate that negative parenting behaviours (negative regard and detachment) during RTP will be positively related to the conflicts of the paternal-child attachment conflicts of the paternal-child attachment outcomes (Johnson & Jacob, 2000), we anticipate that negative parenting behaviours (negative regard and detachment) during RTP will be positively related to the conflicts of the paternal-child attachment. Conversely, we predict that closeness of the father-child relationship will be related to father sensitivity (Grossman et al., 2002), positive regard and dyadic connectedness.

The findings presented in Chapter 3 showed that boys undertake RTP more often than girls, which is consistent with past research (Kyratzis, 2000; Marsh, 2000). Thus, we predict

that quality of RTP will be related to child gender with boys receiving higher quality play than girls. We also expect that birth order will be related to positive behaviours during RTP (Price, 2008). As longer working hours negatively impacts quality of father-child play (Crouter et al., 1987) we predict that working hours will be negatively related to positive parenting behaviours during RTP. We do not expect father age, education, or income to be related to RTP factors (Flanders et al., 2009; Tamis-LeMonda et al., 2004). We anticipate that positive parenting behaviours during RTP will be positively related to positive child developmental outcomes (emotional control and inhibition, executive functioning, and cognition) (Scott & Panksepp, 2003) and to prosocial skills, which has been found in general play research (Lindsey et al., 1997b). Consistent with this, we lastly predict that negative parenting behaviours during RTP will be positively related to negative child developmental outcomes (e.g., hyperactivity and child externalising and internalising behaviours) (Flanders et al., 2010; Paquette, 2004).

Method

Participants

Fifty-seven father-child dyads participated in the current study. The participants were recruited online, over a one-year period, via Facebook and through flyer distribution in local preschools consisting of the general population. All participants identified themselves as part of two-parent families. Fathers mean age was 39 years, (ranging from 27 years to 71 years), while the mean age for child participants was 5 years, 11 months (ranging from 4 years, 0 months, to 7 years, 11 months). For their involvement in the study, participants were entered into a draw to win an iPad (worth \$500). Ethics approval to conduct this research was obtained from the University of Newcastle Human Research Ethics Committee (Approval Number: H-2019-0043). Written consent for both father and child, and child verbal assent was obtained prior to participation.

Measures

Demographic Questionnaire. Fathers completed a demographic questionnaire with questions relating to both themselves and their child (see Appendix A). Information gathered included parent age, marital status, education, household income, and hours of paid work each week, as well as the age and gender of the child participating in the study, birth order of child, number of siblings, and days in care/school.

Child Measures

Child Behaviour Checklist (CBCL; Achenbach & Rescorla, 2000). The CBCL was developed by Achenbach as a dimensional rating scale of childhood psychopathology (Achenbach, 2009). The CBCL consists of 99 items (for 1.5-5 years) and 140 items (for 6-18 years) respectively and is used to detect emotional and behavioural problems (see Appendix B). The CBCL has been validated in 31 countries (Ang et al., 2012; Kariuki et al., 2016; Rescorla et al., 2007, 2014) and contains Australian norms (Hensely, 1988).

The CBCL produces three primary scales (internalising problems, externalising problems, and total problems) and eight syndrome subscales (anxious/depressed, withdrawn/depressed, somatic complaints, social problems, thought problems, attention problems, rule-breaking behaviour, and aggressive behaviour). The CBCL internalising, externalising and total problems scales will be utilised within this study. The internalising problems scale considers child emotional problems, the externalising problems scale is an aggregate measure of behavioural problems, and the total problems scale considers both emotional and behavioural problems. The Internal Consistency (Cronbach's alpha) of the CBCL ranges from good to excellent (depending on the scale), with excellent norms and adequate test-retest reliability (r = .85 - .90) (Achenbach & Rescorla, 2001).

Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function (BRIEF; Gioia et al., 2000). The BRIEF is designed to assess executive functioning (see Appendix C). The BRIEF is useful in

evaluating children with a wide spectrum of developmental and acquired neurological conditions, such as: Learning disabilities, Low birth weight, Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, Tourette's disorder, Traumatic brain injury, Pervasive developmental disorders/autism, as well as typically developing children.

Each BRIEF questionnaire contains 86 items in eight non-overlapping clinical scales and two validity scales for children aged 6-18 years. These scales form two broader indexes: Behavioural Regulation (three scales: Inhibit, Shift, Emotional Control) and Metacognition (five scales: Initiate, Working Memory, Plan/Organise, Organisation of Materials, Monitor), as well as a Global Executive Composite score, which takes into account all of the clinical scales and represents the child's overall executive function.

There are also two validity scales to measure Negativity and Inconsistency of responses. Negativity scale scores reflect the extent to which responder answered selected items in an unusually negative manner, while Inconsistency scale scores reflect the extent to which the responder answered homogenous items in an inconsistent manner. The BRIEF has demonstrated good reliability, with high test-retest reliability ($rs \approx .82$ for parents) internal consistency (Cronbach's alphas $\approx .80 - .98$) (Mahone et al., 2002).

The Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function–Preschool version (BRIEF-P; Gioia et al., 2003) contains 63 items in five non-overlapping clinical scales (Inhibit, Shift, Emotional Control, Working Memory, and Plan/Organize) and two validity scales (Inconsistency and Negativity) for children aged 2-5:11 years. The scales form three broader indexes: Inhibitory Self-Control (ISCI), Flexibility (FI), and Emergent Metacognition (EMI) and an overall composite score, the Global Executive Composite (GEC). The BRIEF-P has demonstrated good reliability, with high test-retest reliability ($rs \approx .82$ for parents) internal consistency (Cronbach's alphas $\approx .76$ to .95) (Skogan et al., 2016).

The BRIEF and BRIEF-P inhibit, shift, emotional control, working memory, plan/organise and global executive composite scores will be utilised within this study. Inhibit

scores capture the ability to control impulses, emotional control scores capture emotional regulation, working memory scores capture the ability to hold and manipulate information while completing a task, plan/organise scores capture the ability to anticipate future events, set goals and grasp the main idea of a concept and the global executive compositive score is the summary score of all clinical scales.

Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ P4-10; Goodman, 1997). The SDQ is a short, 5-minute, behavioural screening questionnaire for children aged 4-16 (Goodman, 1997). The questionnaire consists of 25 items, mapping onto either positive or negative attributes, using a 3-point Likert scale (see Appendix D). These 25 items are divided evenly between 5 scales: Emotional symptoms, Conduct problems, Hyperactivity/Inattention, Peer relationship problems and Prosocial behaviour. The first 4 scales are added together to generate a total difficulties score. The Externalising scale is the aggregate score of the Hyperactivity/Inattention and Conduct problems and the Internalising scales is the by aggregate score of the Peer relationship problems and Emotional symptoms scales. The SDQ contains 11 supplemental items, assessing the distress and impairment caused by the child's difficulties and utilises a 4-point Likert scale. These supplemental items generate an impact score. The SDQ has shown strong correlations with the CBCL's externalising and internalising scales (r = .63 - .72) (Goodman & Scott, 1999).

The Internal Reliability (McDonald's omega) ranges from .67 to .90 (depending on scale), indicating good estimates for all subscales (Stone et al., 2015). Test-retest reliability correlations ranges from acceptable (Total problems scale, Hyperactivity-inattention, Emotional problems, and Prosocial behaviour) to poor reliability (Peer problems and Conduct problems) (Stone et al., 2015).

The SDQ emotional problems, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer problems, prosocial, total difficulties, externalising and internalising scales will be utilised within this study. The emotional problems scale includes child worries, fears, nervousness, and

emotional complaints, while the conduct problems scale includes child temper, lying/cheating, stealing, and fighting. The hyperactivity scale includes restlessness/overactivity, fidgeting, distractibility, and attention span and the peer problems scale includes the child's current friendships, play preferences, and peer interactions. Finally, the prosocial scale includes kindness to younger children, consideration of others' feelings and sharing/helping others. The externalising scale is an aggregate measure of the hyperactivity and conduct problems scores, while the internalising scale is an aggregate measure of the peer problems and emotional problems scores and the total difficulties scale is the sum of the emotional, conduct, hyperactivity, and peer problems scales.

Wechsler Preschool & Primary Scale of Intelligence - Fourth Edition Australian and New Zealand Standardised Edition (WPPSI-IV A&NZ). The WPPSI-IV measures cognitive development in preschoolers and young children and has been standardised on Australian and New Zealand children aged 2:6–7:7. The scale consists of 13 subtests designated as one of three types: core, supplemental, or optional. The core subtests are required for the computation of the Verbal, Performance, and Full-Scale IQ. The supplemental subtests provide additional information about cognitive abilities or can be used as replacement for inappropriate subtests. The optional subtests provide additional information about cognitive functioning but cannot be used as replacements for core subtests.

For ages 4:0 - 7:7 the WPPSI-IV provides index scores for Verbal Comprehension, Visual Spatial, Fluid Reasoning, Working Memory and Processing speed. Internal consistency reliability for the composite scores is good. Across the age groups, reliability coefficients range between .94 and .96 for the Verbal IQ Composite, between .89 and .95 for the Performance IQ Composite, and between .95 and .97 for the Full-Scale IQ (Sattler, 2008).

Verbal Comprehension is a measure of the child's ability to draw upon and apply acquired word knowledge (crystalised intelligence). Visual Spatial is a measure of the child's ability to consider visual details and understand spatial relationships. Fluid Reasoning is a measure of the child's ability to detect conceptual relationships amongst objects and utilise reasoning. Working Memory is a measure of the child's ability to consciously recognise, maintain and manipulated information. Processing speed is a measure of the child's speed and accuracy during decision-making and visual identification.

Father Measures

Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-SF; Lovibond & Lovibond, 1995). The DASS is a set of three self-report scales designed to measure the negative emotional states of depression, anxiety, and stress. Each of the three DASS scales contains 14 items, for a total of 42 items, each reflecting a negative emotional symptom (see Appendix E). Each item is rated on a four-point Likert scale of severity of participants experiences over the last week. These scores ranged from 0, meaning that the client believed the item "did not apply to them at all", to 3 meaning that the client considered the item to "apply to them very much, or most of the time". Scores for Depression, Anxiety and Stress are calculated by summing the scores for the relevant items.

The main purpose of the DASS is to isolate and identify aspects of emotional disturbance; for example, to assess the degree of severity of the core symptoms of depression, anxiety, or stress. The Depression scale assesses dysphoria, hopelessness, devaluation of life, self-deprecation, lack of interest/involvement, anhedonia, and inertia. The Anxiety scale assesses autonomic arousal, skeletal muscle effects, situational anxiety, and subjective experience of anxious affect. The Stress scale is sensitive to levels of chronic non-specific arousal. It assesses difficulty relaxing, nervous arousal, and being easily upset/agitated, irritable/over-reactive and impatient.

Parenting Stress Index - Fourth Edition (PSI-4; Abidin, 2012). The PSI-4 is a 120item measure of parenting stress. Items are scored on a five-point Likert Scale ranging from 'Strongly Agree' to 'Strongly Disagree' (see Appendix F). A higher total raw score equates to lower stress levels. The PSI-4 focuses on three major stress domains: child characteristics, parent characteristics and situational/demographic life stress. The Child and Parent Domains combine to form the Total Stress scale, while the Life Stress scale measures the amount of parent stress caused by factors external to the parent-child relationship. The Child Domain contains six subscales (Distractibility/Hyperactivity, Adaptability, Reinforces Parent, Demandingness, Mood and Acceptability) that evaluate parent stress associated with child characteristics. The Parent Domain contains seven subscales (Competence, Isolation, Attachment, Health, Role Restriction, Depression and Spouse/Parenting Partner Relationship) that evaluate stress related to parent characteristics. The PSI-4 has strong psychometric properties, with a high internal consistency ($\alpha = .85$) and good content and construct validity (National Child Traumatic Stress Network, 2012).

Child-Parent Relationship Scale (CPRS; Pianta, 1992). The CPRS is a self-report measurement tool that assesses parents' perceptions of their relationship with their child. The scale consists of 30 items rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "Definitely does not apply" to "Definitely applies" (see Appendix G). The CPRS was created for use with children aged 3-12 years. Ratings are summed into three groups of items: Conflicts, Closeness and Dependence. Internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) is good for Conflicts (alpha = .83), acceptable for Closeness (alpha = .72) and poor for Dependence (alpha = .50) (Pianta, 1992). The Dependence score is not utilised in the present research. The CPRS will be used as the measure of father-child attachment within this study.

Play Coding Measures

Rough and Tumble Play-Quality (RTP-Q; Fletcher et al., 2013). The RTP-Q is an observational rating assessing father-child interaction quality, through RTP. The RTP-Q has 16 items (see Appendix H). The items capture individual and dyadic affective states and behaviours of father and child, including verbal and non-verbal behaviours on the following

dimensions: Warmth, Control, Sensitivity, Winning and Losing, Physical engagement and Playfulness. Each behaviour is rated with a 5-point Likert Scale, specifically tailored to the item.

RTP Parent and Child Behaviour Scale (RTP-PCB; Robinson & Freeman 2019). The following scales were adapted under the supervision of Dr Emily Freeman at the University of Newcastle. They are based on the Early Head Start Research and Evaluation Project: Child-Parent Interaction Rating Scales for the Three-Bag Assessment 24-Month Wave (Brady-Smith et al., 1992). The rating scale of parent behaviour assess such characteristics as: Parental Sensitivity, Parental Positive Regard, Parental Negative Regard and Parental Detachment. While the rating scale of child behaviour assess such characteristics as: Child Engagement of Parent and Child Negativity toward Parent. The father-child dyad is also rated for Dyadic Mutuality/Connectedness. Each characteristic is scored on a 7-point scale range from "Very Low" to "Very High" (see Appendix I).

Inter-Rater Reliability (IRR). Two coders rated each play session. To become a play session coder; assistants had to undertake training sessions over a one-month period and follow strict manuals for the coding of 10 practice videos. Once the practice codes were examined and deemed satisfactory, assistants were endorsed as play session coders. The RTP-Q IRR was .56 and the RTP-PCB IRR was .65. Both IRR scores were indicative of moderate IRR between coders. For each coded item the two coders were within 1 point of each other, so while IRR is moderate, the disagreement between coders did not exceed 1 point of difference on the 5- and 7-point Likert scales.

Procedure

General testing procedure

All testing measurements and observations of participants were conducted in the Play Lab, within the School of Psychology, at The University of Newcastle. Father-child dyads first undertook the play portion of the testing session which consisted of 10 minutes of RTP games. The play was conducted on a 2x2m rubber play mat for safety. Fathers then completed the demographics questionnaire, three child measures (CBCL, SDQ and BRIEF), three parent measures (DASS-SF, PIS and the PSI) and one relationship measure (CPRS). All measures took approximately 60 minutes to complete. To prevent order effects, the order of these questionnaires was counterbalanced across participants. While fathers completed their paperwork, children completed the WPPSI-IV, which was conducted by one of the trained examiners, according to the administration protocol. WPPSI-IV administration took between 1-1.5 hours (depending on child age, ability, and attention). All testing occurred within a quiet room and lasted for a maximum of 2 hours.

The Play Session Procedure

Participants were asked to play two games during the 10-minute session. *Sock Wrestle* required each participant to wear one sock. The aim of the game was to get their opponents sock, without losing their own. *Get Up* required one participant to lay on the play mat on their back and try to get up to a standing position, while their opponent tried to keep them down. The play took place in a large room clear of toys and other distractions. The play was filmed from multiple angles via wall mounted cameras and the experimenter left the room for the duration of the RTP play.

Data manipulation and Analysis

The data were analysed using JASP (JASP Team, 2019). Descriptive statistics were generated. Pearson's correlations explored the relationship between various demographic factors (e.g., father age, working hours, age and gender of child, birth order of child), parental wellbeing measures (stress, depression, anxiety etc.), play interactions (sensitivity, negative regard, connectedness), and child behavioural (CBCL & SDQ) and cognitive development

(BRIEF & WPPSI-IV) measures. Linear regression analyses were conducted to examine the association between parental wellbeing measures, play interaction factors and child cognitive and behavioural developmental outcomes.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

The sample consisted of 57 father-child dyads. Fathers worked on average 38.71 hours per week (SD = 10.6). Over half of fathers had completed tertiary education (38.5% bachelor's degree and 23% Masters or PhD), a quarter held Tafe qualifications (16% Tafe certificate and 10.5% Tafe Diploma), while a smaller portion had completed some or all secondary schooling (7% completed year 12, 2% completed year 10 and 3% didn't complete year 10) (see Figure 4.1).

Figure 4.1

Education Level for Father Participants



The majority of fathers reported depression, anxiety and stress levels as measured by the DASS within the 'normal' range (see Table 4.1), with a smaller number of fathers reporting some mild, moderate, or severe symptoms. One father reported extremely severe depression symptoms. Average PSI life stress (M = 51.00, SD = 20.00), child-related stress (M = 46.81, SD = 14.30), parenting-related stress (M = 47.33, SD = 18.10), and total stress scores (M = 47.05, SD = 15.36) fell within normal range. Internal consistency for the DASS was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha = .79).

Table 4.1

Father Symptom Severity as Measured by the DASS

	Depression	Anxiety	Stress
Normal	47	51	39
Mild	7	3	10
Moderate	0	2	4
Severe	2	1	4
Extremely			
Severe	1	0	0

Our sample of child participants reflected a near-even divide of gender (51% male). Sixty percent were 1^{st} born children, thirty-one percent were 2^{nd} born children and nine percent were 3^{rd} (+) born children. Of the 57 fathers, 39 reported having a low conflict relationship with their child, 15 reported having moderate conflicts and 3 reported having a high conflict father-child relationship (see Table 4.2). Twenty-nine fathers reported being highly close with their child and nineteen fathers reported being moderately close to their child. No fathers reported low levels of closeness. Internal consistency for the CPRS was acceptable (Cronbach's alpha = .76).

Table 4.2

Conflicts and Positive Aspects of the Father-Child Relationship as Measured by the CRPS

	Conflicts	Positive Aspects (Closeness)
Low	39	0
Moderate	15	19
High	3	28

Scores on the CBCL indicated that children's behaviour and emotions fell within 'normal' range more frequently than any other category (see Table 4.3). Across internalising, externalising, and total problem scales, some children showed borderline and clinical levels of behaviour and emotion problems. Internal consistency for the CBCL was good (Cronbach's alpha = .80).

Table 4.3

Behavioural and Emotional Problem Scale Frequencies as Measured by the CBCL

	Normal	Borderline	Clinical
Internalising Problems	50	5	2
Externalising Problems	52	2	3
Total Problems	54	3	1

Scores on the SDQ indicated that children's behaviours were 'close to average', however there was a spread of responses that categorised some children's behaviours as 'slightly raised', 'high' and 'very high' (see Table 4.4). Internal consistency for the SDQ was good (Cronbach's alpha = .84).

Table 4.4

Behavioural Problem and Strength Scales Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ

	Close to	slightly raised/(slightly		very high/
	average	lowered*)	High/(low*)	(very low*)
Emotional Problems				
Scale	47	3	4	3
Conduct Problems				
Scale	47	6	4	0
Hyperactivity Scale	38	12	3	4
Peer Problems Scale	46	3	6	2
Prosocial Scale	31	14*	7*	5*
Total Difficulties Score	45	7	4	1
Externalising Score	32	20	5	0
Internalising Score	45	8	0	4

Scores on the BRIEF indicated that most children's executive function behaviours were within 'normal range, however there was a spread of responses that categorised some children's behaviours as 'mildly elevated, 'potentially clinically elevated and 'clinically elevated (see Table 4.5). Internal consistency for the BRIEF was good (Cronbach's alpha = .80).

Table 4.5

Behavioural Problem and Strength Scales Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ

			Emotional	Working	Global Executive
	Inhibit	Shift	Control	Memory	Composite
Normal Range	41	44	40	41	40
Mildly Elevated	9	1	10	8	8
Potentially Clinically					
Elevated	1	2	3	4	5
Clinically Elevated	4	5	2	2	2

Scores on the WPPSI indicated that for each WPPSI Index Scale, most child scores fell within the average range (see Figure 4.2). Very few children fell within the 'extremely low' or 'very superior' categories. Internal consistency for the BRIEF ranged from good to excellent (Cronbach's alpha \approx .87 to .90).

Figure 4.2

WPPSI Score Range Overview for Each Index Scale



The dyadic average for play quality as measured by the RTP-Q fell within the highquality range (M = 63.93, SD = 12.13). Figure 4.3 shows the score ranges for the participants, with a high percentage of dyads displaying 'very high', 'high' or 'moderate' quality RTP. A small portion of the dyads displayed 'low' quality RTP, and no dyads displayed 'very low' quality RTP.
Figure 4.3

RTP-Q Score Ranges for Father-Child Dyads



Scores on the RTP-PCB indicated that 88% of fathers were rated as having 'very high', 'high' or 'moderately high' sensitivity, and these score ratings were also seen in 89% of fathers for father positive regard (see Figure 4.4). The majority of fathers were rated as having very low negative regard (80%) and very low father detachment (77%). A large portion of children showed 'very high' or 'high' engagement levels during play (87%) and many children had 'very low' or 'low' negativity during play (93%). The connectedness in our father-child dyads were spread across the ratings of 'very high' (23%), 'high' (56%), 'moderately high' (9%), 'moderate' (9%) and 'low' (3%). No dyads received connectedness ratings of 'moderately low' or 'very low.'

Figure 4.4

RTP-PCB Scale Ratings for Each Underlying Play Characteristic



RTP-PCB Scales

Demographic Variables and RTP Measures

Correlational Analyses

Kendall rank correlations were used to assess the relationship between the RTP-Q and our adapted RTP-PCB scale. The RTP-Q showed relationships in the direction that we would expect. The RTP-Q showed strong significant positive relationships with father sensitivity (r_{τ} = .47, p <.001), positive regard (r_{τ} = .47, p <.001), child engagement (r_{τ} = .40, p <.001) and dyadic connectedness (r_{τ} = .43, p <.001), and strong significant negative relationships with negative regard (r_{τ} = -.37, p <.001) and father detachment (r_{τ} = .37, p <.001). This indicates that the fathers who were sensitive to their children's needs, displayed warm regard toward them and were more connected to them during play, had greater quality RTP, while fathers who were negative and detached, showed lower quality play. These findings help to validate our adapted scale.

Kendall rank correlation coefficients were utilised to assess the relationship between participant demographic factors (father age, child age, level of education, paid working hours, child birth order,) and RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) (see Table 4.6). For nominal demographics variables (primary carer status, gender of child) a one-way ANOVA and independent samples t-tests were used to examine the relationship with RTP factors.

A moderate significant negative relationship was found between child age and father positive regard ($r_{\tau} = -.21$, p = .03), and a moderate significant positive relationship was found between child birth order and child negativity ($r_{\tau} = -.26$, p = .03). Thus, fathers showed greater positive regard when their children were younger and children who were born second or subsequent, displayed greater negativity than first born children. No other significant correlations were found.

Table 4.6

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
1. Father Sensitivity													
	—												
2. Father Positive Regard	0.63 ***	*											
	< .001												
3. Father Negative Regard	-0.48 ***	* -0.45 ***	_										
	< .001	< .001	—										
4. Father Detachment	-0.58 ***	* -0.45 ***	0.51 ***	—									
	< .001	< .001	< .001	—									
5. Child Engagement	0.28 *	0.34**	-0.21	-0.36**	—								
	0.01	0.002	0.08	0.002	—								
6. Child Negativity	-0.20	-0.16	0.33 **	0.23*	-0.34 **	_							
	0.07	0.16	0.005	0.04	0.004	_							
7. Dyadic Connectedness	0.65 ***	* 0.61 ***	-0.49 ***	-0.60 **	* 0.50 ***	-0.40 ***	—						
	< .001	< .001	< .001	< .001	< .001	< .001							

Kendall's Tau B Correlations for Participant Demographic and RTP Factors

Table 4	4.6		
---------	-----	--	--

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
8. RTP-Q	0.47 ***	0.47 ***	-0.37 ***	-0.37 ***	0.40 ***	-0.05	0.43 ***	_					
	< .001	< .001	< .001	< .001	< .001	0.60	< .001		-				
9. Father Age	-7.852e -4	-0.10	-0.02	0.03	-0.01	0.04	-0.06	-0.05					
	0.99	0.35	0.85	0.82	0.92	0.74	0.59	0.63	_				
10. Level of Education	0.09	0.18	-0.10	0.01	0.08	-0.19	0.19	-0.04	0.13	_			
	0.39	0.09	0.37	0.95	0.48	0.09	0.08	0.69	0.20	_			
11. Paid working hours	-0.02	0.06	0.13	-0.02	-0.05	-0.08	0.010	-0.02	-0.34 ***	-0.14			
	0.83	0.60	0.24	0.85	0.63	0.47	0.92	0.80	< .001	0.18	_		
12. Birth Order	-0.14	-0.15	0.07	0.06	-0.19	0.26*	-0.12	-0.04	0.25 *	-0.11	-0.08		
	0.23	0.19	0.56	0.65	0.19	0.03	0.29	0.70	0.02	0.33	0.46	_	
13. Child Age	-0.16	-0.21 *	0.15	0.13	-0.02	-0.11	-0.02	-0.08	0.12	0.03	-0.03	-0.07	
	0.10	0.03	0.16	0.20	0.88	0.39	0.82	0.37	0.20	0.75	0.78	0.53	_

Note. * *p* <0.05 ***p* <0.01 *** *p* <0.001

A one-way ANOVA showed that while fathers who report being primary carers displayed higher levels of negative regard during RTP than both fathers who shared cared and those who's partner was the primary carer (see Figure 4.5). However, this difference was not significant F(2,54)= 1.78, p = 0.18.

Figure 4.5







Welch's t-tests examining differences in child gender revealed that fathers displayed higher sensitivity and positive regard when playing with their sons and higher negative regard and detachment when playing with their daughters (see Table 4.7), however detachment yielded the only significant difference. T-tests comparing sons and daughters also revealed that sons were more engaged during RTP interactions and daughters displayed greater negativity during RTP, however these differences were not significant. When considering the dyadic and quality measures of RTP (RTP-Q), the t-tests revealed that father-son dyads displayed greater connectedness during RTP and furthermore that quality of play was higher between father-son dyads than father-daughter dyads. However, this difference was not significant.

Table 4.7

	Females		Ma	les		
-	М	SD	М	SD	t-test	p-value
Father Measures						
Sensitivity	5.71	1.62	6.21	1.13	1.33	.19
Positive Regard	5.59	1.10	5.81	0.86	0.84	.40
Negative Regard	1.59	1.71	1.40	0.51	-0.81	0.43
Detachment	1.91	1.33	1.36	0.58	-2.00	0.05
Child Measures						
Engagement	6.29	1.17	6.67	0.52	1.61	0.12
Negativity	1.74	1.10	1.41	0.64	-1.28	0.21
Dyadic Measure						
Dyadic Connectedness	6.00	1.23	6.20	0.76	0.83	0.41
Quality Measure						
RTP-Q	61.71	12.11	66.07	11.97	1.37	0.18

Welch's t-tests Comparing Male and Female Children on RTP Factors

Father Variables and RTP Measures

Correlational Analyses

Kendall rank correlation coefficients were utilised to assess the relationship between paternal mental health (DASS, PSI), attachment (positive aspects and conflicts) and RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q). A strong significant positive relationship was found between child negativity and father depression (r_{τ} = .35, p <.001). Child negativity also showed moderate significant positive relationships with father anxiety (r_{τ} = .25, p = .02), and father stress (r_{τ} = .29, p = .005) as measured by the DASS and child-related stress (r_{τ} = .25, p = .01) and total stress (r_{τ} = .25, p = .02) as measured by the PSI. Therefore, depressed, anxious and stressed fathers had children who were more negative toward them during play. Child engagement during RTP was moderately significantly negatively related to father anxiety ($r_{\tau} = -.24$, p = .03) while father detachment was moderately significantly positively related to parent-related stress as measured by the PSI ($r_{\tau} = .24$, p = .04). Thus, children engaged less with their fathers when they were anxious, and fathers who were more detached during play also had more parent-related stress. No significant relationships were found between any of the attachment and RTP factors.

Strong significant positive relationships were found between conflicts within the father-child relationship and depression (r_{τ} = .35, p <.001) (as measured by the DASS), child-related stress (r_{τ} = .43, p <.001), parenting-related stress (r_{τ} = .39, p <.001) and total stress (r_{τ} = .70, p <.001) (as measured by the PSI). A moderate significant positive relationship was found for conflicts and stress (r_{τ} = .26, p = .007) (as measured by the DASS). Thus, both depression and stress negatively impacted father-child attachment and was related to conflicts in their relationship.

Positive aspects of the father-child relationship showed a weak significant negative relationship with parenting-related stress ($r_{\tau} = -.19$, p = .05) and a moderate significant relationship negative with total stress ($r_{\tau} = -.21$, p = .03) as measured by the PSI. Thus, when fathers had more positive relationships with their children when they were less stressed.

Multiple Regression Analyses

Multiple linear regressions were conducted using the stepwise method to determine whether paternal mental health factors (depression, anxiety, and stress as measured by the DASS and PSI) predicted conflicts and positive aspects of the father-child attachment. Significant models were found for both attachment outcomes.

Paternal mental health factors explained 31.6% of variance in conflicts within the fatherchild relationship (Adjusted $R^2 = .316$) and the model was significant, F(1,55) = 26.89, p = <.001. As shown in Table 4.8, child-related stress (measured by the PSI) was the only significant predictor in the model. All assumptions for regression were met.

Table 4.8

standardised (β)	regression c	oefficients and the sign	ificance of each pred	ictor.	
	В	β	t	р	
Child-related stress	.57	.30	5.19	< .001	

Results from the regression model using paternal mental health factors (depression, anxiety, and stress)) to predict conflicts within the father-child relationship, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

Paternal mental health factors explained 12.7% of variance in positive aspects of the father-

child relationship (Adjusted $R^2 = .127$) and the model was significant, F(2,54) = 5.06, p = .01. As

shown in Table 4.9 total stress (measured by the PSI) was the strongest predictor in the model,

followed by depression (measured by the DASS), which were both significant. All assumptions for

regression were met.

Table 4.9

Results from the regression model using paternal mental health factors (depression, anxiety, and stress)) to predict positive aspects of the father-child relationship, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

	В	β	t	р	
Total stress	37	10	-2.82	.01	
Depression	.31	.17	2.32	.02	

Child Development and RTP Measures

Correlational Analyses

Kendall rank correlation coefficients were utilised to assess the relationship between child development (CBCL, SDQ, BRIEF, WPPSI) and RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q). When examining the relationship between CBCL and RTP factors moderate significant positive relationships were found between father sensitivity and both child internalising ($r_{\tau} = .21$, p = .04) and anxiety problems ($r_{\tau} = .24$, p = .02), as well as between father negative regard and total problems ($r_{\tau} = .23$, p = .03). This indicates that when children display internalising or anxiety problems, fathers are more sensitive during play and when the total problems of children were greater fathers displayed greater negative regard during play. Child negativity showed a moderate significant positive relationship with externalising problems ($r_{\tau} = .29$, p = .005).

When examining the relationship between SDQ and RTP factors a moderate significant negative relationship was found between RTP-Q and child conduct problems, indicating that as play quality increases conduct problems decrease ($r_{\tau} = -.20$, p = .04). Father negative regard during play showed a strong significant positive relationship with child conduct problems ($r_{\tau} = .30$, p = .008) and a moderate significant positive relationship with child externalising problems ($r_{\tau} = .24$, p = .03). Hence, children of fathers who were more negative during play were more likely to have conduct or externalising problems. Child negative regard during play showed moderate significant positive relationships with child hyperactivity ($r_{\tau} = .24$, p = .02), externalising ($r_{\tau} = .21$, p = .04), and total difficulties ($r_{\tau} = .27$, p = .01). Thus, children who displayed negative regard toward their father during play, also had hyperactivity and externalising problems. RTP-Q showed a moderate significant positive relationship with child prosocial behaviours ($r_{\tau} = .21$, p = .03), whereby as quality of play increased so too did prosocial skills. Comparable to associations found within the CBCL, father sensitivity showed moderate significant positive relationships between child internalising ($r_{\tau} = .21$, p = .05) and emotional problems ($r_{\tau} = .21$, p = .05). Thus, there appears to be an interplay between fathers exhibiting sensitive responses to children who display increased anxiety, fear, sadness, and social withdrawal (internalising and emotional behaviours). Providing further support for this is the moderate significant positive relationship between father positive regard (praise, warm affection and enjoyment of the child) and child internalising behaviours (r_{τ} = .22, p = .04).

All significant relationships found between BRIEF and RTP factors were moderate in size. Elevated scores on the BRIEF scales are indicative of problems in that particular area. Father detachment ($r_{\tau} = .28$, p = .008) and child negativity ($r_{\tau} = .22$, p = .04) were both positively related to child emotional control scores. Emotional control measures the ability to regulate emotional responses appropriately. Thus, children who were more negative during play and who had more detached fathers, were worse at regulating their emotional responses. Conversely, dyadic connectedness was negatively related to emotional control scores ($r_{\tau} = .23$, p = .03), indicating that these children had better emotional control. Child negativity was positively related to inhibit scores $(r_{\tau} = .27, p = .01)$. Inhibit scores measure the ability to control impulses and stop engaging in a particular behaviour. Thus, children who were more negative during play were worse at inhibiting their behaviour. Father negative regard was positively related to the global executive functioning of children $(r_{\tau} = .22, p = .04)$, indicating that children had more problems with executive functioning when their fathers displayed negative regard during RTP.

When examining the relationship between WPPSI and RTP factors a moderate significant negative relationship was found between father detachment and child fluid reasoning (inclusive of conceptual thinking, visual intelligence, simultaneous processing) ($r_{\tau} = -.21$, p = .04) and a moderate significant positive relationship was found between dyadic connectedness and the WPPSI nonverbal index (estimating child's cognitive ability through nonverbal responses) ($r_{\tau} = .20$, p = .04). Thus, children of fathers who detach during play show lower fluid reasoning, while children sharing a dyadic connection during play had better cognitive ability.

Multiple Regression Analyses

Multiple linear regressions were conducted using the stepwise method to determine whether RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) predicted child developmental outcomes (CBCL, SDQ, BRIEF, WPPSI). Significant models were found for child internalising problems (CBCL and SDQ), child prosocial behaviours (SDQ) and emotional control problems (BRIEF).

RTP factors explained 15.5% of variance in child internalising problems as measured by the CBCL (Adjusted $R^2 = .155$) and the model was significant, F(2,54) = 6.13, p = .004. As shown in Table 4.10, father sensitivity was the strongest predictor in the model, followed by father detachment, which were both significant. All assumptions for regression were met.

Table 4.10

Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child internalising as measured by the CBCL, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

	В	β	t	р
Father sensitivity	5.52	.745	3.50	< .001
Father detachment	5.78	.583	2.73	.008

RTP factors explained 5.9% of variance in child internalising problems as measured by the

SDQ (Adjusted $R^2 = .059$) and the model was significant, F(1,55) = 6.17, p = .04. As shown in

Table 4.11, father positive regard was the only significant predictor in the model. All assumptions

for regression were met.

Table 4.11

Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child internalising as measured by the SDQ, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

	В	β	t	р	
Father positive	72	275	2 1 2	04	
regard	.12	.275	2.12	.04	

RTP factors explained 17% of variance in emotional control scores as measured by the

BRIEF (Adjusted $R^2 = .173$) and the model was significant, F(2,52) = 6.66, p = .003. As shown in

Table 4.12, father detachment was the strongest predictor in the model, followed by father

sensitivity, which were both significant. All assumptions for regression were met.

Table 4.12

Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child emotional control scores as measured by the BRIEF, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

•	В	β	t	р
Father detachment	8.59	.797	3.60	< .001
Father sensitivity	4.72	.585	2.64	.011

RTP factors explained 11.6% of variance in child prosocial scores as measured by the SDQ

(Adjusted $R^2 = .116$) and the model was significant, F(1,55) = 8.34, p = .006. As shown in Table

4.13, RTP-Q was the only significant predictor in the model. All assumptions for regression were

met.

Table 4.13

Results from the regression model using RTP factors (father sensitivity, father positive regard, father negative regard, father detachment, child engagement, child negativity, dyadic connectedness, RTP-Q) to predict child prosocial scores as measured by the SDQ, including unstandardized (B) and standardised (β) regression coefficients and the significance of each predictor.

	В	β	t	р
Father	05	363	2.80	006
detachment	.05	.303	2.09	.000

Discussion

This study provided the first comprehensive investigation into the interplay between paternal mental health, rough-and-tumble play interactions and child developmental outcomes. It was predicted that positive behaviours during RTP would be positively related to desirable child developmental outcomes. We found that higher levels of play quality were related to reduced conduct problems and as predicted, an increase in prosocial skills. Furthermore, we found that RTP quality was concurrently predictive of prosocial scores. This is in line with past findings that RTP teaches children important prosocial skills (Pellegrini, 1989; Sluckin, 1981). The dyadic connectedness between father and child was related to non-verbal cognitive ability. As nonverbal intelligence is useful in thinking, planning, and implementing ideas, it is conceivable that the competitive nature of RTP utilises strategies to try to outwit the play partner and 'win' the bout, thus aiding in the development of the nonverbal intelligence skills.

It was also predicted that negative behaviours during RTP would be positively related to negative child developmental outcomes. In line with this, child negative regard during RTP was related to externalising behaviours. This relationship was also found for father negative regard. Exhibiting externalising behaviours such as aggression and defiance have been related to negative emotionally in children (Lipscomb et al., 2012), and furthermore positive regard has been found to be negatively related to child externalising behaviours (Boeldt et al., 2012). Thus, it is rational that negative regard would be related to externalising behaviours, however this has not been addressed in past research.

Child negativity during play was related to father detachment during play, and children's emotional control and inhibit problem scores. Furthermore, father detachment and sensitivity predicted emotional control scores and father detachment also predicted internalising behaviours (fear, sadness etc). These findings support past research indicating that paternal rejection is related to problems with emotional instability (Mendo-Lázaro et al., 2019; Muris et al., 2004) and that detachment increases fear and sadness in children (Kerns & Brumariu, 2014).

The direction of the relationships between RTP and child internalising behaviour were unexpected. Father sensitivity during play was related to child internalising and anxiety problems and father positive regard was also related to internalising problems. Further analysis revealed that both father sensitivity and positive regard predicted child internalising problems. Thus, fathers being sensitive to their children's needs predicts increased anxiety, social withdrawal, and fear. Interestingly, past research has found that parental sensitivity to child anxiety is a risk factor for the developmental of child anxiety (Wissemann et al., 2018), however ours is the first study to show this in the context of sensitivity during play.

Father negative regard was related to poorer global executive functioning in children. Executive function includes flexible thinking and self-control, which are both important elements of successful RTP (Hart & Tannock, 2013; Paquette et al., 2003). Conversely, negative regard involves belittling the child's efforts, calling them names, being abrupt with the child and having strained expression. As high levels of negative regard (as measured by the RTP-PCB) are not representative of high quality RTP (as measured by the RTP-Q), the relationship between negative regard and poorer executive functioning is comprehensible.

The RTP-PCB showed relationships in the direction we would expect with the RTP-Q. Fathers who were sensitive to their children's needs, displayed warm regard toward them and were more connected during play had higher RTP-Q scores and negative and detached fathers showed lower play quality. Future research can utilise this more involved scale and get information regarding sensitivity, detachment, positive and negative regard, and connectedness, beyond just the quality of play. Thus, underlying factors of father-child RTP have cognitive, behavioural, emotional, and social impacts on child development.

We also considered how demographic factors relate to the way dyads engage in rough-andtumble play. While past research has demonstrated that boys undertake RTP more often than girls (Kyratzis, 2000; Marsh, 2000), we found the gender spread of child participants was similar (51% male). While we found that fathers displayed more sensitivity, higher positive regard, engagement, and connectedness when playing with their sons, and that fathers displayed more negative regard and negativity when playing with their daughters, these differences were not significant. However, we did find that fathers were significantly more detached when engaging in RTP with their daughters. Furthermore, it was predicted that gender would impact RTP quality. While fathers did display higher quality RTP when playing with their sons, compared to their daughters, this difference was not significant. This suggests that within our sample there was no significant difference in the quality of father-child RTP for boys and girls. It was also predicted that father age, education or income would show no relationship with RTP factors (Flanders, 2009; Tamis-LeMonda et al., 2004) and that working hours would be negatively related to RTP (Crouter et al., 1987). Consistent with predictions, results showed no relationship between RTP factors and father age, level of education or paid working hours. Thus, the amount of time fathers spent working had no significant bearing on the way in which they interacted with their children through RTP.

As past research has shown that birth order impacts the way in which parents engage with their children, we anticipated that birth order would be related to positive behaviours during RTP with greater benefits for first born children (Price, 2008). The findings of the present research showed that while second and subsequent children showed more negativity toward their fathers than first borns, there was no significant relationship found between birth order and positive behaviours during RTP. Fathers showed greater positive regard when their children were younger, which included using a warm tone of voice, enthusiasm, concern for their distress, hugging and physical affection. This is consistent with past findings that parents' aide young children to manage behaviour and emotion through using encouragement, conveying love, and being a refuge for them (Osofsky & Fitzgerald, 2000; Parks & Smeriglio, 1986). Conversely, we found that fathers were more negative during RTP when they were primary carers and lowest when their partner was the primary carer. As the role of primary carer is related to stress (Pinquart & Sörensen, 2006, 2007) and an increased risk of burnout (Bevans & Sternberg, 2012), and negative affect is related to higher levels of stress (Jones et al., 2021), it is possible that fathers who are primary carers display increased negative affect due to the impact of their parent role.

While we predicted that paternal mental health (depression, anxiety, and stress) would be negatively related to positive behaviours during RTP (e.g., sensitivity, RTP-Q, dyadic connectedness), we did not anticipate we would find an interaction between carer status and stress. Thus, future research should further explore the implications of the primary carer role and the way in which it impacts other kinds of play interactions and the father-child attachment. In the present research, we found that paternal child-related stress predicted conflicts within the attachment relationship. Past research has shown that paternal related stress has been found to be related to family conflict and lead to externalising symptoms (Jones et al., 2021; Ponnet et al., 2013). In line with this, and our prediction that paternal mental health problems would be related to attachment conflicts (Darke & Goldberg, 1994), we found that father total stress was negatively predictive, and depression was positively predictive, of positive aspects (closeness) of the attachment relationship. While the findings of less stress predicting more closeness in the relationship is expected (Adams et al., 2018), the finding of depression predicting closeness was not. While one former study reported no significant differences in attachment styles between depressed and non-depressed parents (Johansson et al., 2020), more commonly the literature has reported insecure attachments, or the insecure-subtype (anxious attachments), for depressed (Lee & Hankin, 2009) and anxious fathers

(Hankin et al., 2005). Thus, the finding that depression predicted positive aspects of the relationship warrants more exploration.

We had also predicted that paternal mental health would be positively related to negative behaviours during RTP (e.g., negative regard and detachment). This was confirmed in our findings that paternal depression, anxiety, and stress was related to child negativity. Furthermore, when children were anxious, they engaged less with their fathers and fathers with parent-related stress were detached during play, providing further support to past research (Koch et al., 2001). Thus, as in other play studies, we found relationships between rough-and-tumble play and paternal-mental health. Furthermore, we found that paternal mental health has developmental impacts in terms of child anxiety and attachment and that further research is needed to investigate the role that depression has on positive aspects of father-child attachment.

Beyond a mental health perspective, when considering a relationship between rough-andtumble play and attachment alone, no significant relationships emerged. As we used a reduced model to consider attachment, specific to parent-child attachment, it is possible that we failed to detect other attachment patterns within these interactions. Further RTP research should consider the individual attachment patterns from both the child and parent perspectives and compare this to parent-child specific attachment outcomes.

Despite the need for future exploration to investigate the present research's shortcomings, as suggested throughout, a comprehensive analysis of father-child RTP was conducted and produced a plethora of rich findings. Positive behaviours during RTP showed benefits for prosocial skills and non-verbal cognitive ability, while detachment and father mental health problems negatively impacted children's own mental health, attachment and resulted in lower quality play. This complemented the findings of Chapter 2 which indicated that positive parenting behaviours during play were largely associated with positive child developmental outcomes and similarly that negative parenting behaviours were largely associated with negative child developmental outcomes. The present findings revealed that fathers showed more sensitivity during RTP when their children

displayed internalising or anxiety problems. Furthermore, in the present study child and father negative regard during play was related to increased externalising behaviours in children. Thus, there appears to be a relationship between RTP and child internalising and externalising behaviours and while past research has linked externalising behaviours to negative emotionality (Lipscomb et al., 2012), this was the first study to utilise the RTP-PCB to explore negative regard in a RTP setting. We produced concurrent validity of the RTP-PCB scale, with the RTP-Q, which provides the opportunity to investigate, more broadly, the way in which fathers engage in RTP with their children. Given that the use of this scale is in its infancy, and that a clear relationship has emerged for negative regard (as seen in lower quality RTP interactions) and externalising behaviours, it is crucial that future research continues to explore the uselessness of the RTP-PCB scale and furthermore consider RTP as an avenue for the reduction of externalising behaviour problems.

Chapter Five: The Feasibility of a Father Focused Rough-and-Tumble Play Intervention for the Reduction of Childhood Externalising Behaviours

The prevalence study presented in Chapter 3 revealed that, beyond all other interactions, RTP tends to be the preferred play type of many Australian fathers. Given this preference for fatherchild RTP Chapter 4 explored these play interactions in Australian father-child dyads to determine how this play type was related to child development. The RTP study revealed that fathers displayed greater sensitivity during play when their children showed internalising problems and furthermore that both child and father negative behaviour during play was related to child externalising behaviours. Thus, RTP was related to both child internalising and externalising problems. It was also found that high quality RTP was related to a reduction in conduct problems and an increase in children's' prosocial ability. Given that high quality RTP has benefits for emotional regulation (Peterson & Flanders, 2005) and prosocial skills (Lindsey et al., 1997b; Scott & Panksepp, 2003), this study exposed the potential to utilise RTP research to reduce child externalising behaviour problems. Chapter 4 also found relationships between rough-and-tumble play and paternal-mental health, which supported past research findings (Lyons-Ruth et al., 2002; Johnson & Jacob, 2000). Furthermore, stress predicted conflicts within the attachment relationship. Given that past research has shown that paternal stress is related to family conflict, which leads to an increase in externalising symptoms (Jones et al., 2021; Ponnet et al., 2013), it is important that research take into consideration paternal stress when examining child externalising behaviour problems. The impacts of paternal mental health on father-child play interactions, taken with behaviours found within low-quality RTP (e.g., negative regard) being related to child externalising behaviour problems, indicate that these areas require more investigation. Thus, the aim of the present research was to conduct a feasibility study for a father-focussed, play-based intervention to reduce childhood externalising behaviour problems. Through conducting this study, we aimed to determine whether it is possible to successfully conduct a pilot intervention study with Australian families. This chapter provides information related to the feasibility study's implementation and the validity of conducting future research, while taking into consideration the impact of paternal mental health on intervention adherence.

In this chapter I present my findings on the feasibility of a father-focused play-based intervention for Australian families. I begin by presenting an overview of the developmental impacts of childhood externalising problems, followed by an overview of parenting intervention effectiveness. I then discuss the reasons for lower father participation in interventions and the benefits of choosing a play-based intervention. Next, I present the findings of my study examining the demographic and mental health characteristics of our sample and explore the adherence to each phase of the intervention. I conclude this chapter by exploring the outcomes of these findings and make suggestions for future father-focused interventions.

The Developmental Impacts of Childhood Externalising Behaviour Problems

Childhood behaviour problems are consistently linked to persistent, life-long psychosocial problems (Dadds, 1997; Hawkins et al., 1992; Tremblay et al, 1992). These can be separated into externalising and internalising problems, as outlined in Chapter 1, (Achenbach, 1978), with both having unique contributions to a child's developmental trajectory (Campbell et al., 2000; Farrington, 1991).

Sawyer et al. (2001) reported that 14% of Australians aged 4–17 years displayed problematic internalising and externalising behaviours, while a more recent Australian sample reported that these rates were around 12% for Australians ages 4–12 years (Bayer, 2009). Given these rates of problematic behaviours, it is encouraging that the Australian Government Department of Health has identified internalising and externalising behaviours, as a high priority child mental health concern (DoH, 2003). Furthermore, they suggest that the early childhood years, specifically age 5 and under, should be targeted as an ideal point for preventing further maladaptive behaviours. Given that externalising problems are more clearly displayed in pre-school aged children, compared to school age children (Lavigne et al., 1996), an emphasis on early childhood provides robust potential for durable intervention impacts.

While both internalising and externalising behaviours are associated with adverse effects, longitudinal research has shown that children with externalising behaviour problems are more vulnerable to the subsequent development of internalising behaviour problems (Van Lier & Koot, 2010). Child developmental researchers have suggested that peer rejection and academic difficulties may be driving this relationship (Gooren et al., 2011; Ladd & Troop-Gordon, 2003). In comparison, the emergence of later externalising comorbidity does not seem to be present for children initially presenting with internalising problems (Beauchaine & McNulty, 2013; Gilliom & Shaw, 2004). Consequently, this chapter will focus on child externalising behaviour problems and the associated aggressive, hyperactive, and disruptive symptoms.

Aggression consists of outward physical and verbal behaviours that intend to threaten or cause harm to another person. This may be hostile or instrumental aggression. Hostile or reactive aggression occurs in response to aggression initiated by others and causes pain to the victim with little advantage to the aggressor (Feshbach & Feshbach, 1998). This is otherwise known as hotblooded aggression. Instrumental aggression is where the aggressor uses deliberate, emotion lacking, predatory attacks to control or dominate others (Atkins & Stoff, 1993). This is otherwise known as cold-blooded aggression. Aggression is seen more often in boys than girls and typically has different manifestations for each sex (Owens & MacMullin, 1995). Physical aggression (e.g., pushing, hitting) is more common for boys (Card et al., 2008), while relational (e.g., social exclusion, rumour starting and vilification) or indirect aggression has been historically found to be more common for girls (Hines & Fry, 1994), however more recent research has found similar levels of indirect aggression for boys and girls (Card et al., 2008). Regardless of sex, childhood aggression is a reliable predictor of later delinquent activity (Loeber & Hay, 1997) and conviction (Monahan & Piquero, 2009). Beyond this, aggression has been linked to poor school achievement and nonattendance (Ensminger & Slusarcick, 1992), problem drinking (Pulkkinen & Pitkanen, 1994), and long-term unemployment in adulthood (Kokko & Pulkkinen, 2000).

Comparable to aggression, hyperactivity has also been linked to persistent academic difficulties and can involve restlessness, interrupting, heightened motor activity, fidgeting and inability to wait your turn. Hyperactivity is one feature of ADHD, which is the most prevalent neurodevelopmental disorder impacting an estimated 4.2% of Australian children aged 14 years and under (Deliotte Access Econnomics, 2019). Given that the current legal school leaving age is 17 in Australia, this disorder impacts a significant number of school-aged children across Australia. ADHD is associated with persistent academic difficulties, which results in increased use of educational remedial aids, repeating school years (Barkley, 2002; Biederman et al., 1996) and longer-term lower rates of high school graduation and tertiary education (Fergusson & Horwood, 1995; Hinshaw, 1992). Those with ADHD have higher rates of suspension and expulsion, than those without ADHD, which further contributes to poor academic achievement (LeFever et al., 2002). Longitudinal impacts include increased risk of criminality in adulthood (Mannuzza et al., 1991) and later antisocial behaviours (Lilienfeld & Waldman, 1990).

Other classroom problems are seen to be associated with childhood disruptive behaviours. These can include sensation-seeking, noncompliance, truancy, chronic lying and violation of others property and are common symptoms of Oppositional Defiant Disorder (ODD) (Ghosh, 2017). This disorder emerges in early childhood (Lavigne et al., 2001) and is thought to affect one in ten children (Burke et al., 2002; Nock et al., 2007). ODD is predictive of family conflict (Tseng, 2011), negative peer interactions inclusive of peer rejection, poorer academic attainment (Paap et al., 2013) and repetition of school years (Harpold et al., 2007). Some children with ODD will go on to develop Conduct Disorder (CD) which consists of increasing aggressive (Crider et al., 2018) and delinquent behaviours (Lahey et al., 1988). Given the predisposition for disruptive childhood behaviours to progress into later juvenile delinquency, adult criminal activity, and violence (Betz et al., 1995; Campbell et al., 1995) it is paramount that interventions target the early childhood years.

Parenting Behavioural Intervention Effectiveness

It is well documented that critical learning and development occurs in the first five years of a child's life (Campbell et al., 2015; Cooper et al., 2010). This learning establishes the baseline for school readiness and functioning in a classroom setting (Hart & Risely, 1995). Early intervention during this time allows for symptoms of child behaviour problems to be targeted early in the aim of preventing long time negative impacts (Webster-Stratton et al., 2004). Currently, parenting interventions are recommended as the best approach for addressing behaviour problems in children (Bernstein et al., 1996; Furlong et al., 2012; Paquette, 2004). These interventions operate on the supposition that parenting practices are connected to child behaviour problems (Webster-Stratton & Hammond, 1998). Through changing practices or providing education to parents, there is the expectation that child behaviour may be improved or, in the least, that the intervention may prevent worsening of child symptomology (Sanders & Dadds, 1992; Wierson & Forehand, 1994). Current interventions are benefitted by the diversity of delivery: group or individual sessions, face-to-face or remote, and utilising written or electronic resources (Enebrink et al., 2012; Kling et al., 2010). This allows for both local, national, and potentially global delivery.

Parenting intervention programs targeting child conduct problems have displayed encouraging results (Furlong et al., 2012; Sanders et al., 2014). Furthermore, Coates et al. (2014) found that for preschool children with ADHD, parenting interventions led to a reduction of problem behaviours. Programs targeting ADHD include the Incredible Years parenting program and the Triple P – Positive Parenting Program. Both programs promote attachment strengthening, provide behaviour management strategies, offer practical strategies for child social competence and emotional regulation in the aim of prevention, reduction and treatment of child behaviour problems (Jones et al., 2007; Sanders, 1999). A recent review of these programs documented moderate reductions in ADHD symptoms and conduct problems for children aged 3-12 years (Sartore et al., 2016). Other research has documented positive effects on externalising behaviours lasting 2 decades beyond the intervention (Comer et al., 2013; Sandler et al., 2011). While these interventions aim to be inclusive of both parents, research has shown that fathers are largely absent in parenting interventions (Fletcher et al., 2011; Tully et al., 2017). Reviews on externalising and oppositional behaviour, and aggression (Flippin & Crais, 2011; Tiano & McNeil, 2005) have emphasised the underrepresentation of fathers in parenting programs (Phares et al. 2005). This parental discrepancy has been further reflected in behavioural parent training, commonly used to treat externalising behaviours in children, which has primarily been conducted with mothers (Budd & O'Brien, 1982; Tiano & McNeil, 2005). As both parents play a role in child development, neglecting to investigate the paternal impacts within parenting interventions, potentially limits the intervention effectiveness for child externalising behaviours. As such, future approaches should consider how parenting programs can better cater to fathers (Lundahl et al., 2008), to not only increase involvement, but to recognise the growing involvement of fathers in parenting (Palkovitz, 1996; Singh, 2004).

Causes of Lower Father Participation

Research has identified factors that may be contributing to fathers comparatively smaller representation in parenting interventions. Tully et al. (2017) surveyed 1001 fathers of children with externalising disorders aged between 2-16 years to gauge their perceptions and experience regarding interventions. They examined fathers' preferences for context, and delivery, and determined what barriers there were to participation and additionally what factors govern their decisions about participation. They identified 4 barrier themes: Practical, Knowledge, Attitudes and Beliefs, and Other. The main Practical barriers included work commitments, cost of the intervention service and not having time to participate. The Knowledge theme identified lack of information about program effectiveness, program locations, and programs in general as being barriers to participation. Interestingly fathers whose children were classified as having low levels of externalising disorders were more likely to report lack of knowledge as a barrier, compared to fathers of children with high levels of externalising disorders. This suggests that fathers with high externalising children may have had access to greater resources and knowledge about intervention effectiveness prior to this survey. Within the Attitudes and Beliefs theme, there was an overt divide between the two father groups, with low externalising fathers reporting they did not see their child's behaviour as an issue and that they did not need help with their parenting, more often than high externalising fathers. Furthermore, barriers for participation documented a belief that programs are not suitable for fathers and that it was their children's problems that required treatment, not their parenting. This attitude was reported more often for fathers of high externalising children than low externalising children, suggesting that fathers of children with more extreme externalising behaviour, were more likely to see parenting interventions as less essential. Other barriers reported fear of judgement, discomfort in asking for help with child issues and 'maternal gatekeeping' whereby mothers attended interventions but did not encourage father participation, as obstacles for paternal participation.

In terms of program delivery: Internet-based parenting programs were rated as the most desired delivery format, followed by app based or phone sessions. Fathers reported primarily wanting one-off sessions including either one or both parents, followed by weekly group or individual sessions. Fathers rated location and time convenience as important factors as well as knowing about the benefits, what is involved and knowing that the facilitator is trained, as high importance. Interestingly lower ratings were given to having a male facilitator, as opposed to a female facilitator, having the program recommended by another father and receiving a personal invitation from the facilitator. This suggests that fathers prefer a parenting program to be run by a female and that they have control over their participation whereby their participation is not suggested by another party.

Other research has identified a lack of time and interest (Mitchell et al. 2007) as being responsible for lack of father participations. While similar to Tully et al. (2017), other surveys have indicated that fathers have either not been asked to participate or that mothers do not encourage their participation (Davison et al., 2017). No differences were observed for fathers in intact vs separated families. As such, it is apparent that barriers to paternal participation are multifaceted and

should be carefully considered when designing parenting interventions. As fathers spend more time playing with their children, compared to all other caregiving activities (Clarke-Stewart, 1978; Kazura, 2000; Yeung et al., 2001), this is a potential avenue for paternally informed parenting inventions.

The Current Study

In Chapter 4 we showed a relationship between RTP quality and externalising behaviours, whereby higher quality play was related to a reduction in conduct problems and an increase in prosocial abilities, furthermore we showed that negative paternal behaviour during play was associated with an increase in externalising behaviours. Research has documented the benefits of RTP in terms of children's self-regulation (Flanders et al., 2010; Séguin & Zelazo, 2005; StGeorge & Freeman, 2017), social development (Paquette, 2004; StGeorge et al., 2018) as well as decreased levels of aggression (Anderson et al., 2019; StGeorge & Freeman, 2017). These past research findings, taken with the findings of Chapter 4, and the knowledge that aggression (Card et al., 2008), self-regulation (Shiels & Hawk, 2010) and social difficulties (Lilienfeld & Waldman, 1990) are all noted issues related to externalising behaviour problems, there exists an opportunity to explore RTP as a father-focused intervention that could potentially benefit externalising behaviour problems.

The present feasibility study involved three groups: a RTP group, a developmental group, and a control group. The RTP group (the intervention group) was used to determine what, if any, impact information about high quality RTP interactions has on play quality. The developmental group was used as an active control group, whereby participants were given age-relevant information about their child's development during the intervention stage. The control group engaged in the pre and post intervention measures but did not receive any educational material during the intervention phase.

The main research questions are: 1. Will we be able to recruit the required number of participants and how long will it take to recruit them? 2. What do the refusal rates look like for the

recruited participants and what reasons will be supplied for not wanting to participate? 3. What do the retention and attrition rates look like for the recruited participants. 4. How engaged are participants in the intervention?

Method

Participants

Forty-five families participated in the study. The participants were recruited through flyers distributed in local preschools, online via Facebook advertising, and through the University of Newcastle's SONA online experimental management system. Thus, the participants consisted of the general population and University students. Participants were comprised of fathers (biological, stepfathers, grandfathers etc.), their respective partners, and their 4-5-year-old children. It is important to note that while the target age range was 4-5, some children turned 6 during the feasibility study and one child was 7 at the beginning of the study. Parents of these children were provided with updated child measures standardized for their age range. All participants were proficient in English. Fathers' mean age was 38.94 years (SD=9.41), (ranging from 27 years to 71 years), while the mean age for child participants was 4.86 years (SD=.89) (ranging from 3.90 years to 7.52 years) All families who participated in the study were entered into a draw to win an iPad (worth \$500). Families who completed Phase 1 (play and online questionnaires) were afforded a \$20 Giftpay voucher and another \$20 Giftpay voucher for completing Phase 3 (repeating the play and online questionnaires). Ethics approval to conduct this research was obtained from the University of Newcastle Human Research Ethics Committee (Approval No. H-2019-0212). Written consent for both father, partner and child, and child verbal assent was obtained prior to participation.

Measures

The measures used in this study were described in detail in Chapter 4. For this study fathers completed the Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS) and the Parenting Stress Index

(PSI) to measure paternal mental health (see Appendix E-F) and the Child-Parent Relationship Scale (CPRS) to measure attachment (see Appendix G). Fathers also completed a demographic questionnaire relating to themselves and their child (see Appendix A). The demographic questionnaire asked about parent and child ages and gender, marital status, education, and income including hours of paid work each week. Mothers completed the Child Behavioural Checklist (CBCL) and the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) to measure child development (see Appendix B & D). The play was coded using the Rough and Tumble Play-Quality (RTP-Q) (see Appendix H) and the RTP Parent and Child Behaviour Scale (RTP-PCB) (see Appendix I).

Procedure

All testing measurements and observations of participants were conducted online. The testing was broken up into three phases across 10 weeks, as shown in Figure 5.1. Phase 1 consisted of a Father-child play session and an online survey for both father and partner. Father-child dyads were provided with the play instructions to undertake the play portion of the testing session which consisted of 10 minutes of RTP games: *Sock Wrestle* and *Get Up* described in Chapter 4 (see Appendix J). Participants were asked to conduct the play on a 2m x 1m area, indoors and away from household distractions such as tv, other family member and pets. Fathers completed the demographics questionnaire, three parent measures (DASS-SF, PIS and the PSI) and one relationship measure (CPRS). Partners completed child measures (SDQ and CBCL). All online measures took approximately 30 minutes to complete.

Figure 5.1

Feasibility tasks and structure across the 3 phases



On completion of Phase 1, participants entered into Phase 2, which was carried out across 8 weeks. Participants were counterbalanced across three groups for intervention delivery. At the beginning of each of the 8 weeks participants were sent an email with a link to the online questionnaire. The question format for each group can be seen in Table 1. All groups were provided

with 1 general question per week, which asked participants things like "How many hours sleep did your child get last night?", "What has your child's eating habits been like this week?" or "Does your child help tidy up their toys?" These questions were used as an engagement indicator to measure participant commitment to the research and determine attrition rates.

While the control group had only 1 question per week, both the developmental and RTP groups received a subsequent question within the same brief questionnaire. The developmental group was also asked a question about their child's social, motor, language, or cognitive development each week. Questions asked participants things like "How does your child greet you? In what way is this similar/different to how they would greet someone new?" (social), "What kind of things does your child currently like to talk about?" (language), "What number can you child count to?" (cognitive) or "What physical activities has your child engaged in this week? Did you take part?" (motor). Upon providing a response to the developmental question, participants were given some information regarding what they should expect from typically developing child. This information related to the developmental question answered. For example, upon answering "Has your child drawn a picture this week? If so, what were its features?" (motor), participants received the following information: "At 4 to 5 years of age, children typically will be drawing pictures of people consisting of large heads that appear to have arms and legs."

The RTP group's subsequent question asked about their play interactions with their child. Questions asked participants things like "Who takes the lead when you play with your child?", "Describe your level of energy when you play with your child" or "When you play games with your child who wins most?" Upon providing a response to the RTP question, participants were given some information about what high quality RTP looks like. This information was related to the RTP question they had answered and was intended to provide corrective feedback in the instances where the response they gave was not consistent with high quality play. For example, upon answering "Who takes the lead when you play with your child?", participants received the following information: "Allowing your child to take the lead and determine the direction/nature of the play is important."

The final phase, Phase 3, consisted of repeating the Phase 1 play session and online questionnaires.

Data manipulation and Analysis

As this is a feasibility study, the analysis focused on the key parameters necessary for conducting a father-focused play intervention in the future. Most of the analysis was descriptive in nature. Feasibility outcomes were assessed through the number of participants recruited, recruitment duration, retention/attrition rates across the three phases (including a summary of reasons why interested parties did not consent to participating in the study), completion of questionnaires in phases one and three, and engagement in phase two surveys.

Results

The reasons for not wanting to participate, after an initial expression of interest in the study, are listed in Table 5.1. Over half of the individuals who expressed their interest, and who were not converted into participants, did not respond after receiving the study information. The most common reasons for participation refusal were family or father commitments, father not interested in the study and father did not want play recorded. When fathers contacted researchers to express their interest in the study, they were more likely to participate (53.57% conversion rate) than when mothers contacted researchers (42.86%).

Table 5.1Recruitment Information Outline by Primary Correspondents

	Pri	mary
	Corres	pondent
	Mothers	Fathers
Reasons for participation refusal		
Father did not want play recorded	3	0
Father not interested in participation	5	0
No response after receiving study information	21	9
Father unable to commit to study given other commitments	2	3
Family unable to commit to the study given other commitments	6	0
Father reported study to be too time consuming	2	0
Father injured	1	0
Child out of study age range	0	1
Subtotal	40	13
Participants who consented to the study		
	30	15
Total		
	70	28

Note. Both parents consented to participation in the study Primary Correspondent represents the parent who initiated the contact with the researchers.

Most fathers in our sample were born in Australia and reported varied education levels (see Table 5.2). Tafe certificate, Tafe diploma and Bachelor degrees were the most frequently reported levels of education. While most fathers reported that their partner was the primary career of the study child, 4 fathers reported themselves to be the primary carer. The most frequently reported annual household income was \$100,001-\$150,000, closely followed by \$50,001-\$100,000. This is on par with the Australian Bureau of Statistics (2019) report that noted \$116,584 as the average Australian household income.

There were more male child participants in our sample (58.33%) than female participants. Half of children were first born, a quarter were second born, and a quarter were their third born or 'other' (either fourth born child (n=5) or grandchild (n=3)).

Table 5.2

Descriptive Statistics - Demographics

	Ν	Percent
Country of birth	36	
Australia	31	86.11
Malaysia	1	2.78
New Zealand	3	8.33
United Kingdom	1	2.78
Highest Level of Education	36	
Did not complete yr. 10	3	8.33
Completed yr. 10	2	5.55
Completed yr. 12	4	11.11
Tafe Certificate	7	19.44
Tafe Diploma	8	22.22
Bachelor's degree	9	25
Masters or PhD	3	8.33
Household Annual Income	36	
\$0-\$50,000	4	11.11
\$50,001-\$100,000	10	27.78
\$100,001-\$150,000	15	41.67
\$150,001+	7	19.44
Child Gender	36	
Female	15	41.67
Male	21	58.33
Carer Status	36	
Primary Carer	4	11.11
Partner is Primary Carer	32	88.89
Birth Order of Child	36	
First Born	18	50.00
Second Born	9	25.00
Third	1	2.78
Other	8	22.22

Most fathers reported normal depression, anxiety and stress levels as measured by the DASS (see Table 5.3), with a smaller number of fathers reporting some mild, moderate, severe symptoms. One father reported extremely severe depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms. Average PSI life stress (M = 41.92, SD = 23.77), child-related stress (M = 51.31, SD = 25.61), parenting-related stress (M = 43.67, SD = 27.22), and total stress scores (M = 46.66, SD = 24.81) fell within normal range.

Table 5.3

	Depression	Anxiety	Stress
Normal	30	33	26
Mild	3	2	6
Moderate	1	0	3
Severe	1	0	0
Extremely Severe	1	1	1

Father Symptom Severity as Measured by the DASS

Of the 36 fathers who completed the Phase 1 questionnaires, 20 reported having a low conflict relationship with their child, 12 reported having moderate conflicts and 4 reported having a high conflict father-child relationship. Twenty-Five fathers reported being highly close with their child and ten fathers reported being moderately close to their child. One father reported low closeness. Most mothers reported that their children's behaviours were 'close to average' on the SDQ, however there was a spread of responses that categorised some children's behaviours as 'slightly raised', 'high' and 'very high' (see Table 5.4).

Table 5.4

		Slightly		very high/
	Close to	raised/(Slightly		(very
	average	lowered*)	High/(low*)	low*)
Emotional Problems				
Scale	36	2	2	0
Conduct Problems Scale	25	6	7	2
Hyperactivity Scale	25	6	7	2
Peer Problems Scale	18	2	9	11
Prosocial Scale	22	7*	3*	8*
Total Difficulties Score	27	5	4	4
Externalising Score	20	12	5	3
Internalising Score	27	10	3	0

Behavioural Problem and Strength Scale Frequencies as Measured by the SDQ

Scores on the CBCL indicated that children's behaviour and emotions, as reported by mothers on the CBCL, fell within 'normal' range more frequently than any other category (see Table 5.5). Across internalising, externalising, and DSM-5 related scales, some children showed borderline and clinical levels of behaviour and emotion problems.

Table 5.5

	Normal	Borderline	Clinical
Internalising Problems	33	4	2
Externalising Problems	33	2	4
Total Problems	25	6	7
DSM-5 Depression	29	4	6
DSM-5 Anxiety	27	3	9
DSM-5 ADHD	30	5	4
DSM-5 ODD	25	3	11

Behavioural and Emotional Problem Scale Frequencies as Measured by the CBCL

The progression of participants throughout the study phases can be seen in Figure 5.2.

Figure 5.2





Thirty families completed all Phase 1 components and proceeded to Phase 2 (Developmental group = 10, RTP = 12, Control = 8) (see Figure 5.3). Six families completed one of the parent

measures and no play and five families complete both parent measures and no play. Four families completed none of the Phase 1 required components.

Figure 5.3

Phase 1 Breakdown of Completed Components for Each Participant Group



Participant engagement across Phase 2 was relatively consistent for both the Development and RTP groups, with a single participant response decrease noted in week 7 (see Figure 5.4). This decrease remained in week 8 for the RTP group but not for the developmental group who regained the previous response engagement. The control group showed greater variance in participant engagement across the 8-week intervention. While the response rate from the control group was varied, all families responded at least once during Phase 2. The developmental group also had all families respond during Phase 2. Three of the 12 families allocated to the RTP groups did not respond at all during Phase 2.
Figure 5.4

Participant Engagement Across Phase 2 (Intervention) for Each Participant Group



Phase 2 - Intervention Weeks

Nine families completed all Phase 3 components (Developmental group = 3, RTP = 3, Control = 3) (see Figure 5.5). Five families partially completed the required components with two fathers completing only their measures, two mothers completing only their measures and one family completing only the play. Thirteen families completed none of the Phase 3 required components (Developmental group = 3, RTP = 6, Control = 3).

Phase 3 Breakdown of Completed Components for Each Participant Group



To examine whether there were particular characteristics of the subset of families (N=14) who undertook all three phases of the intervention (and at a minimum completed some components of Phase 3) comparisons were made with the starting study population. Children from the Phase 3 subset families showed lower mean scores on all problem scales of the CBCL, compared to the study population. Further, the study population displayed higher mean scores on SDQ emotional problems, conduct problems, the hyperactivity scale, total difficulties, and externalising scores for children compared to the subset. Conversely, the subset children exhibited higher mean scores for peer problems and internalising scores but were rated higher on the prosocial scale than the study population. Subset fathers reported higher average depression, anxiety, and stress scores on the DASS, and higher child-related, parenting-related, and total-stress scores on the PSI compared to the subset. RTP-Q, CPRS conflicts and positive aspects mean scores were similar for both the study population and the subset (see Table 5.6). Welch's t-tests examining differences

between the study population and the Phase 3 subset families for CBCL, DASS, PSI, CPRS and

SDQ scores revealed no significant differences.

Table !	5.6
---------	-----

	Study Population Dhasa 3 C		ubset Families	
CRCI	Moon	Std	Phase 3 Subset Families	
UDUL	Mean 51 74	510 10.91		
	51.74	10.81	47.04	9.00
Externalising	52.25	13.88	49.07	10.85
Total problems	40.538	7.29	38.30	4.58
Depression	3.33	2.94	2.43	1.87
Anxiety	4.10	3.19	4	3.08
ADHD	4.77	3.45	4.5	3.08
ODD	4.36	3.65	3.64	2.98
DASS				
Depression	4.22	6.87	5.21	8.98
Anxiety	2.67	3.70	3.71	5.21
Stress	10.47	7.81	11.93	8.66
PSI				
Life Stress	40.91	23.77	39.69	24.58
Child Stress	51.31	25.61	52.31	18.25
Parent Domain	46.83	29.45	51.85	28.18
Total Stress	46.66	24.81	52.62	19.30
CPRS				
Conflicts	27.92	8.10	28.71	9.04
Positive Aspects	42.28	4.66	41.86	3.72
SDO				
Emotional Problems	1.58	1.43	1.21	1.31
Conduct Problems	2.38	1.94	2	1.84
Hyperactivity Scale	4.68	2.62	3.64	2.06
Peer Problems	3	2.54	3.5	2.07
Prosocial Scale	7.63	2.32	8.43	1.91
Total Difficulties	11.63	5.94	10.36	3.37
Externalising Score	7.05	3.84	5.64	2.41
Internalising Score	4.58	3.09	4.71	2.20
RTP-Q				
	66.51	12.55	66.96	11.30

Means and Standard Deviations for the Study Population in the intervention and the Subset of Families who undertook components of Phase 3

Discussion

By reflecting upon the outcomes of Tully et al's survey (2017) and considering the working hours of fathers, providing flexibility in the intervention delivery, and utilizing a popular fatherchild play activity (RTP), we recruited the 45 families into the intervention. Julious (2005) suggested a 'rule of thumb' number of 12 per group for feasibility studies, while Littlewood and Badenhorst et al. (2019) proposed a total sample of 20-30 participants and Sim and Lewis (2012) advocated for 40-50 participants in full. Based upon these findings, 45 families is an acceptable amount for evaluating the feasibility of a 3 group intervention (15 in each group).

It took 11 months to recruit these families into this study. This was a great feat given that this study took place during the COVID-19 global pandemic and continued during fluctuating lockdowns across Australia. This sample contained fathers who, on the whole, presented with normal range depression, anxiety, and stress scores and who reported having low conflicts and high closeness with their children. Children in this sample had normal range emotional, social, and behavioural development as reported by mothers.

Despite achieving the desired recruitment number, it is important to note that while we had 128 individuals express their interest in the study, we converted only 35.15% of these individuals into participants. Despite being a father-focused intervention, some of the main reasons for not converting expressions of interests (EOIs) into participants was the fathers were not interested or had personal or familial commitments that prevented participation. This complements the findings of Tully et al. (2017) who noted lack of time and/or interest as key reasons for participation refusal. Additionally, fathers reported not wanting the play to be recorded was a common reason for participation refusal.

While we cannot avoid the play being recorded, given that the purpose of this feasibility study is to determine whether this intervention could improve father-child RTP quality which is coded via recordings, we could reduce the impact of the study interfering with family commitments by delivering Phase 1 and Phase 3 in person. This would reduce burden on families having to set up

133

play recordings, remove the impact of other family members being in the room for the play and ensure that both parental measures are completed simultaneously. However, by delivering these phases in-person, we remove the flexible delivery that fathers requested in past research and reduce the reach of participants, thus reducing our possible participants. Future research should consider these factors and decide upon the most beneficial delivery format of the intervention to capture the most participants and provide them with the most convenient intervention experience. This may take the form of a dual delivery format, whereby families specify if they would prefer online or inperson delivery of Phase 1 and Phase 3.

In instances when fathers contacted researchers to express their interest, they were more likely to participate than when mothers contacted researchers. This highlights the importance of ensuring the study appeals to the intended demographic and future interventions should look to adapt recruitment techniques to target fathers. Recruitment may better target fathers through sporting venues, events, and specific workplaces (Berlyn et al., 2008).

Thirty families completed all required components of Phase 1, amounting to a 33.33% attrition rate prior to intervention. Twenty-two families completed all 8 weeks of the intervention, indicating a further 26.67% attrition rate during intervention. Thus, we found that the overall attrition rate prior to and during the intervention was 60%. This is higher than the 50% attrition rate that has been found in some past research (Chacko et al., 2016; Hall & Bierman, 2015). However, Macdonell and Prinz (2017) reported that attrition rates for parenting interventions may be underestimated due to many studies reporting only the percentage of the program completed, rather than reporting the number of parents who completed programs in their entirety. Further explanations for this difference may be accounted for by the global pandemic in which the current study took place. Nine families completed all components of the intervention program (pre-intervention, intervention, and post-intervention), making up 20% of our sample. This is higher than the completion rate of 15% that has been found in past research (Owen & Hutchings, 2017; Sanders et al., 2012).

The developmental and RTP groups showed more consistent engagement across the 8-week intervention compared to the control group. The educational information provided each week during the intervention may have served to provide consistent rewards to participants during this stage, which has had proven benefits on engagement, albeit in an employment setting, in the past (Harter, Schmidt & Hayes, 2002; Macey & Schneider, 2008). The effectiveness of educational rewards on participant engagement throughout the 8-week intervention, provides a promising scaffold for future interventions.

When examining the characteristics of the subset of families who undertook all three phases of the intervention (and at a minimum completed some components of Phase 3), it became clear that fathers of this subset had higher depression, anxiety and stress scores compared to the study population, although the differences were not statistically significant. Thus, it appears that when fathers present with greater paternal mental health problems, they are more likely to complete the full intervention program. No differences in quality of RTP, the conflicts or positive aspects of the dyadic relationship between the two groups were found. Thus, it does not appear that quality of play or the father-child relationship, impacts the likelihood of undertaking of the full intervention program. The study population showed higher emotional, conduct, hyperactivity, externalising and total difficulties and lower prosocial scores than the subset. However, the subset displayed higher peer problems and internalising scores than the study population. Furthermore, when children have fewer behaviour and emotional problems, and higher prosocial abilities families were more likely to undertake all the phases of the intervention. It is important to note that while there was difference in the aforementioned scores, these were not found to be significant. It appears that a combination of higher paternal mental health problems and lower childhood emotional and behavioural problems, increases the retention rates for fathers. This is interesting as this study aimed to examine the feasibility of a father-focussed behavioural intervention for the reduction of childhood externalising behaviour problems, however it is apparent that families of children with higher externalising behaviours within our study population did not tend to undertake in all phases of the intervention. It

is possible that once the 8-week intervention stage is complete that fathers deem that they are obtained enough educational information to cease the program, thus not completing the postintervention measures. This is problematic as we cannot determine the efficacy of the intervention without pre-post comparisons. Future amendments to this intervention could emphasise the rationale for Phase 3 to participants and may serve to obtain a higher retention rate for the full program.

Despite being conducted during a global pandemic, the present feasibility study presented promising results for a broader pilot study to further explore the efficacy of this proposed intervention. The present study achieved similar attrition rates during intervention to, and higher retention rates for the full program than, past intervention averages. Furthermore, we identified specific characteristics of the participants who completed the full intervention, which will need to be considered in the future to ensure we retain families with children with externalising difficulties for the full extent of the program. Additionally, we demonstrated the value of using educational information to reward participants and encourage engagement across the 8-week intervention. We encourage the use of this technique for future intervention studies. Finally, to overcome the time-burden on families a dual delivery format was proposed. This dual delivery format should be utilised in the future to provide families with further flexibility, as delivery format, location, and time convenience has, in the past, been stressed by fathers as an important consideration for intervention participation (Tully et al., 2017).

Chapter Six: General Discussion

The aim of the present research was to increase our understanding of the impact that fatherchild play has on child development. A particular focus of the research was rough-and-tumble play and the underlying aspects of the play interactions that contribute to child development. To gain a holistic understanding of the topic, paternal mental health and child externalising and internalising behaviour problems were examined. This general discussion chapter first presents a short synopsis of the empirical research undertaken and key findings before discussing potential explanations for these results. Suggested avenues for future research and implications of the present research findings are presented throughout the general discussion.

Key Findings on the Relationship Between Father-Child Play and Child Development

Chapter 1 explored the broad impacts of play on child development and explained the need to adopt a father focus throughout the present research. Then, an overview of play types to be explored within this thesis were presented, outlining the unique contributions that different play types make to child development. Furthermore, the implications of paternal and child mental health factors were considered. This highlighted the need to adopt a comprehensive approach to examining how father-child play impacts child development.

The systematic review, presented in Chapter 2, was the first stage of this research and served to provide a comprehensive overview of the father-child play literature to date. The results of the systematic review indicated that research in this field has explored 9 different play types and child emotional/behavioural outcomes were the most explored child outcome category, followed by cognitive and achievement outcomes. Thus, research has heavily focused on how paternal play impacts children's emotional and behavioural functioning. Given the long-term implications of internalising and externalising behaviours described throughout, this direction of research is understandable. It was also uncovered that research has primarily used objective measures to quantify developmental outcomes, which is indicative of measurement consistency, allowing us to have confidence in the relationships that have been reported. The studies in the systematic review focused on positive child developmental outcomes, or outcomes which are beneficial for child development such as prosocial ability, emotional regulation, or cognitive ability. While it is comprehensible that researchers want to educate the scientific and general community about how to engage in play to produce the most advantageous outcomes for children, it is important that negative outcomes are also explored. This thesis has not shied away from child developmental problems, but instead, has explored the way in which play is related to these problems and how play can be used to improve these problems. Overall, the systemic review revealed that relationships between father-child play and child developmental outcomes were in the directions we would expect, with positive play behaviours primarily associated with positive child outcomes and negative play behaviours primarily associated with negative child outcomes.

After gaining a broad understanding of the father-child play literature thus far, the main aim of Chapter 3, was to investigate the prevalence of parent-child play interactions in Australian families. While this study was the first of its kind to explore play prevalence in Australia, it also contributed to the limited international prevalence knowledge of the included interactions. The results of this study indicated that both mothers and fathers believed reading to be the most important activity for their child's development. In line with this, mothers engaged in reading more than any other activity, while fathers engaged in RTP the most. This supported past findings that RTP is the preferred play type of fathers (Fletcher et al., 2012). Furthermore, parents engaged more frequently in RTP with their sons than their daughters, which has been consistently reported in the literature (Pelligrini, 2009). As this study was conducted during the global pandemic, we explored the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on play interactions. There was an overall decrease in interactions from pre to post COVID-19 onset. Thus, despite lockdowns and parents spending more time at home with their children, they were interacting with them less. Given the mental health impacts of the pandemic and taken with the decrease in familial income, these findings are explainable. In addition, this study demonstrated that parental play perceptions of importance, and

enjoyment of play impacted play prevalence. That is to say, the more the parent enjoyed the play and the more important they viewed the play to be, the more they engaged in it.

Given the preference for fathers to engage in RTP more so than mothers, the relationship between father-child rough-and-tumble play and child development was assessed in Chapter 4. This chapter also considered the implications of paternal mental health and various demographic factors. Findings of this study demonstrated that higher play quality was associated with reduced conduct problems and increased prosocial skills. Indicative of the benefits of decreased aggression (Anderson et al., 2017) and improved prosocial awareness that has been boasted in past research (Pellegrini and Smith, 1998). Moreover, father sensitivity was related to child internalising problems (e.g., anxiety), such that fathers were exhibiting more sensitivity in their play when their children were increasingly anxious or socially withdrawn. Conversely, when fathers or their children were negative during play (consistent with lower quality play), this was related to externalising behaviour problems. This is unsurprising as externalising behaviour problems are related to negative emotionality (Lipscomb et al., 2012).

Demographic factors were also considered and given that Chapter 3 demonstrated that boys receive more RTP interactions than girls, this was explored. There was a near even spread of boys and girls within our sample and we found that although fathers were more detached when playing with their daughters, no other significant play differences were found. This is enthusing, as despite boys receiving more RTP than girls, when fathers are engaging in RTP with their daughters, the quality of play is just as good as with their sons. We also found that fathers were more positive when engaging with younger children, displaying more warmth, concern for distress and physical affection, than when they played with their older children. Interestingly, primary carer status impacted father negativity, with fathers displaying more negativity during play if they were the primary carer and lower negativity when their partner was the primary carer. As primary carer status is linked to increased stress (Pinquart & Sörensen, 2006, 2007), this may be impacting the father-child play relationship. Beyond this, when examining paternal mental health, we found that

paternal stress predicted conflicts within the father-child attachment relationship and additionally, paternal depression, anxiety and stress were all related to child negativity. Thus, it was apparent that paternal mental health, and child internalising and externalising behaviour problems are important factors to consider when conducting RTP research.

While both internalising and externalising behaviour problems were related to RTP in Chapter 4, children with externalising behaviour problems are more vulnerable to the subsequent development of internalising behaviour problems (Van Lier & Koot, 2010). This, taken with the fact that high quality RTP has benefits for emotional regulation (Peterson & Flanders, 2005) and prosocial skills (Lindsey et al., 1997b; Scott & Panksepp, 2003), Chapter 5 explored the feasibility of utilising RTP to reduce child externalising behaviour problems.

This feasibility study recruited an acceptable number of participants, despite fluctuating lockdowns during a global pandemic. Common reasons for participation refusal echoed those found in past research (Tully et al., 2017), with fathers noting lack of time and/or interest as the main reasons for refusal. Thus, despite creating a father-focused intervention and delivering it in a flexible format to work around fathers' schedules, the same themes arose. Attrition rates for the feasibility study were higher than in previous research (Chacko et al., 2016; Hall & Bierman, 2015), but the completion rates were higher than past research (Owen & Hutchings, 2017; Sanders et al., 2012). Thus, while we had more participants drop out during the intervention, compared to past studies, we also had more participants complete the intervention program in its entirety. This increase in completion rates may be attributable to the format of the intervention itself. Within the intervention phase participants in the developmental and RTP groups received educational material each week. The educational material presented during this intervention served as consistent rewards during this stage and lead to improved engagement for the developmental and RTP groups, which is promising for future interventions using this type of design. Furthermore, this study identified characteristics of the subset of participants who completed the full intervention (e.g., higher paternal mental health problems, lower child behavioural and emotional problems). While analyses revealed

the characteristics of this subset were not statistically different than the study population, it still provides important consideration points. For example, as this intervention aims to improve externalising behaviour problems in children, the fact that the subset of children who completed the intervention program in its entirety had lower internalising and externalising behaviours problems is problematic, as we fail to determine the effectivity of the intervention for the children who need it most. Thus, it is important that future research emphasise the rationale behind completing the intervention; to obtain the post intervention measures and evaluate the program.

To summarise, there are many factors that impact the way in which fathers engage in play with their children, and thus the developmental outcomes children receive from that play. The quality of parent-child play contributes towards the child developmental trajectory, with higher quality play resulting in benefits for children, while lower quality play results in disadvantages. Mental health is shown to influence the way in which parents interact with their children, with poorer mental health demonstrating negative impacts for play quality. Furthermore, parental enjoyment and perceptions of importance additionally impact how often parents engage in play with their children, engaging more often when they enjoy the play and when they think it is of benefit to their child's development. Mothers particularly enjoy less-physical interactions with their children (e.g., book reading or toy play) while fathers enjoy more physical interactions (e.g., RTP). High quality RTP teaches children important social, emotional, and behavioural skills and provides the opportunity to reduce externalising behaviour problems in children through an RTP intervention. Utilising flexible delivery and educational information throughout the RTP intervention contributes to benefits for participant engagement and completion of the intervention program. Considerations for future research are discussed below.

Where to from here?

Despite many noteworthy findings presented within these chapters, there is still much to learn, and the research conducted within has brought to light some potential opportunities for future research. Firstly, the majority of RTP research has been conducted in Western-individualist populations and neglected to investigate these interactions in collectivist cultures where father-child interactions may differ (Flanders et al., 2009; Ho, 1987; St George, et al., 2016). Research by Chao (1996, 2000) reported that Asian parents placed greater importance on education, rather than play to benefit child development, while parents from the United States believed that play was more important in building strong social and cognitive skills. This lower preference of play has also been reported in Taiwanese (Lin & Yawkey, 2013) and Chinese research (Jiang & Han 2016). Luo et al. (2013) reported that Confucian cultures, the dominant Chinese culture, views play as frivolous and harmful to children's learning (Luo et al., 2013). Thus, while the research demonstrates variability in play beliefs and practices cross-culturally, there remains a need to explore father-child play interactions to better understand how play practices might impact on children's development.

While past research examined perceived importance in play more broadly (Farver & Wimbarti, 1995; Holmes, 2011), the present research presented the first prevalence study into the parental perceptions of importance for RTP. Whilst we received a large response for this survey, it is important that this study continue to gather ongoing evidence for RTP prevalence rates in Australian families longitudinally. This will allow researchers to gain a more accurate representation of RTP interactions long-term and additionally enable researchers to determine the ongoing impacts of COVID-19 pandemic on familial interactions. This longitudinal research should also consider further exploring the impact of child age on RTP prevalence, as the present research found that 1-3-year old's were engaging in parent-child RTP interactions more frequently, compared to their older cohort. Despite being similar to previous research that found that RTP interactions peak around 4 years of age (Haight & Miller, 1993), this study found a slightly younger peak age for RTP. Thus, further consideration of child age can serve to determine if the peak age for RTP interactions is categorically lower in Australia compared to other nations. Additionally, this proposed longitudinal study can further examine the finding of comparable RTP frequency levels for mother and fathers in Australia. The findings from this study also established the need to

explore maternal influences in future research, as mothers have been overlooked in RTP research to date.

Further opportunities for improvements in future research stem from the low conversion rates from enquiries to participation. Despite following recommendations made by Tully et al. (2017) and thus creating a father-focused online intervention with flexible participation based upon participants schedules, we saw similar reasons for participation refusal. In addition to the common reasons of lack of interest or time commitments as barriers to participation, participants were opposed to being filmed. It is imperative to record play to code the quality of RTP interactions, thus while we cannot avoid the need to record, we could reduce the impact of the study interfering with family commitments by offering a dual-delivery mode. This would take the form of families having the option to have Phase 1 and Phase 3 in person or online. Face-to-face delivery of the pre and post intervention measures, and play, would remove the impact of juggling filming while having other children at home, however it may be a proximity issue for rural or remote participants, causing further barriers to participants. Thus, having both formats available may aid in capturing more participants and moreover, enable them to choose the most convenient delivery method to suit their family. Additionally, it would be informative to not only run this feasibility study in dual format, but to additionally explore the attrition and full completion rates during a time where there is more global stability. We hypothesised that attrition rates may have been attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic and fluctuating lockdowns. Future research could serve as a comparison point to evaluate the credibility of our claim.

When we explored the relationship between RTP and attachment, no significant relationships emerged. We specifically chose to explore a reduced model that considered only parent-child attachment. Thus, prospective research should consider individual attachment patterns for both children and adults. This approach may allow the detection of other attachment patterns within RTP interactions and furthermore, operate to compare these individual attachment presentations to parent-child specific attachment outcomes.

Finally, the RTP-PCB, a scale adapted for use within the present research, showed consistent relationships with the RTP-Q scale. This is promising as it allows researchers to explore a broad range of parenting-child behaviours during RTP, beyond play quality alone. Therefore, forthcoming RTP research should look to utilise this scale to obtain a broader perspective on the ways in which RTP factors (e.g., sensitivity, negative regard, dyadic connectedness) impacts child development.

Final Conclusion

The aim of the present research was to increase our understanding of the impact that fatherchild play has on child development. It is clear from our work that positive parenting behaviours (e.g., sensitivity and positive affect) and high quality play interactions are related to positive child developmental trajectories. These positive aspects included not only specific facets of child development, such as emotion regulation, social competence, and fluid intelligence, but also broader aspects such as internalising and externalising behaviour problems. This is important given these are things that can set the child on a solid pathway to adulthood. We also learned important things about parental perceptions of play, their enjoyment of different play activities, and the impact this has on engagement in play. The cumulation of these findings was our promising pilot intervention study. The present research has provided valuable insights for further study into the intricacies of the relationship between father-child RTP, mental health and child development.

References

- Ahnert, L., Teufl, L., Ruiz, N., Piskernik, B., Supper, B., Remiorz, S., Gesing, A. and Nowacki,
 K. (2017). Father–Child Play During the Preschool Years and Child Internalizing
 Behaviors: Between Robustness and Vulnerability. *Infant Mental Health Journal, 38*:
 743-756. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21679
- Abidin, R. R. (2012). *Parenting Stress Index* (PSI-4), Fourth Edition: Professional Manual.Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources, Inc.
- ABS. (2019). Multipurpose Household Survey: Summary of Findings, 2017-18 financial year. Retrieved from https://www.abs.gov.au/methodologies/participation-selected-culturalactivities-australia-methodology/2017-18#abbreviations
- Achenbach, T. M. (1978). The Child Behavior Profile: I. Boys aged 6–11. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 46(3), 478–488. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.46.3.478
- Achenbach, T. M. (2009). Achenbach system of empirically based assessment (ASEBA):
 development, findings, theory, and applications. Burlington, Vt.: University of Vermont,
 Research Center of Children, Youth & Families.
- Achenbach, T. M., & Rescorla, L. A. (2001). Manual for the ASEBA school-age forms & profiles: child behavior checklist for ages 6-18, teacher's report form, youth self-report: an integrated system of multi-informant assessment. University of Vermont, research center for children youth & families.
- Adams, M. J. (1990). *Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Adams, G. C., Wrath, A. J., & Meng, X. (2018). The Relationship between Adult Attachment and Mental Health Care Utilization: A Systematic Review. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*. *Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie*, 63(10), 651–660. https://doi.org/10.1177/0706743718779933

- Amato, P. R., & Rivera, F. (1999). Paternal involvement and children's behavioral problems. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 61, 375 – 384. https://doi.org/10.2307/353755
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association (APA).
- Anderson, S., Oiu, W., & Wheeler, S. (2017). The quality of father– rough-and-tumble play and toddlers' aggressive behavior in China. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *38*(6), 726–742.
- Anderson, S., StGeorge, J., & Roggman, L. (2019). Measuring the Quality of Early Father–Child
 Rough and Tumble Play: Tools for Practice and Research. Child & Youth Care Forum,
 48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10566-019-09513-9
- Ang, R., Rescorla, L., Achenbach, T., Ooi, Y. P., Fung, D., & Woo, B. (2011). Examining the Criterion Validity of CBCL and TRF Problem Scales and Items in a Large Singapore Sample. Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 43, 70–86. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-011-0253-2
- Atkins, M. S., & Stoff, D. M. (1993). Instrumental and hostile aggression in childhood disruptive behavior disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 21(2), 165–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00911314
- Babic, M. J., Smith, J. J., Morgan, P. J., Eather, N., Plotnikoff, R. C., & Lubans, D. R. (2017).
 Longitudinal associations between changes in screen-time and mental health outcomes in adolescents. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, *12*, 124–131.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhpa.2017.04.001
- Baker, C. E. (2014). African American Fathers' Contributions to Children's Early Academic Achievement: Evidence From Two-Parent Families From the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study–Birth Cohort. *Early Education and Development*, 25(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2013.764225
- Barkley, A. R. (2002). Major life activity and health outcomes associated with attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *63*(12), 10–15.

- Barnett, M. A., Deng, M., Mills-Koonce, R. W., Willoughby, M. & Cox, M. (2008).
 Interdependence of parenting of mothers and fathers of infants. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22(4), 561–573.
- Baxter, J. A. (2015). Children's time with fathers and mothers over the pre-school years: A longitudinal time-use study of couple families in Australia. *Family Science*, 6(1), 302–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/19424620.2015.1082348
- Bayer, J. K., Hiscock, H., Ukoumunne, O. C., Scalzo, K., & Wake, M. (2010). Three-year-old outcomes of a brief universal parenting intervention to prevent behaviour problems: randomised controlled trial. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 95(3), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2009.168302
- Beauchaine, T. P., & McNulty, T. (2013). Comorbidities and continuities as ontogenic processes: Toward a developmental spectrum model of externalizing psychopathology. *Development* and Psychopathology, 25(4pt2), 1505–1528. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579413000746
- Bergen, D. (2002). The role of pretend play in children's cognitive development. *Early Childhood Research and Practice*, *4*(1), 1–13.
- Berk, L, E., & Meyers, A. B. (2013) The Role of Make-Believe Play in the Development of
 Executive Function: Status of Research and Future Directions. *American Journal of Play*, 6(1): 98-110.
- Berlyn, C., Wise, S., & Soriano, G. (2008). Engaging Fathers in Child and Family Services (Occasional Paper No.22). Canberra: Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs.
- Bernstein, G. A., Borchardt, C. M., & Perwien, A. R. (1996). Anxiety Disorders in Children and Adolescents: A Review of the Past 10 Years. *Journal of the American Academy of Child* & Adolescent Psychiatry, 35(9), 1110–1119. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199609000-00008

- Betz, C. L. (1995). Childhood Violence: A Nursing Concern. Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing, 18(3), 149–161. https://doi.org/10.3109/01460869509087268
- Bevans, M., & Sternberg, E. M. (2012). Caregiving burden, stress, and health effects among family caregivers of adult cancer patients. *JAMA*, 307(4), 398–403. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.29
- Biederman, J. (1996). A Prospective 4-Year Follow-up Study of Attention-Deficit Hyperactivity and Related Disorders. Archives of General Psychiatry, 53(5), 437. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1996.01830050073012
- Bishop, J., & Curtis, M. (2001). Play today in the primary school playground: life, learning, and creativity.
- Black, M. M., Dubowitz, H., & Starr, Jr., R. H. (1999). African American Fathers in Low
 Income, Urban Families: Development, Behavior, and Home Environment of Their
 Three-Year-Old Children. *Child Development*, 70(4), 967–978.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00070
- Boeldt, D. L., Rhee, S. H., Dilalla, L. F., Mullineaux, P. Y., Schulz-Heik, R. J., Corley, R. P., ...
 Hewitt, J. K. (2012). The Association between Positive Parenting and Externalizing
 Behavior. *Infant and Child Development*, 21(1), 85–106. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.764
- Bornstein, M. H., Vibbert, M., Tal, J., & O'Donnell, K. (1992). Toddler language and play in the second year: stability, covariation and influences of parenting. *First Language*, 12(36), 323–338. https://doi.org/10.1177/014272379201203607
- Bowlby, J. (1979). *The making and breaking of affectional bonds*. London: Tavistock *Publications*.
- Brady-Smith, C., O'Brien, C., Berlin, L., Ware, A., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (1992). Early Head Start
 Research and Evaluation Project: Child-Parent Interaction Rating Scales for the ThreeBag Assessment 24-Month Wave. National Center for Children and Families Teachers
 College, Columbia University.

- Bridges, L. J., Connell, J. P., & Belsky, J. (1988). Similarities and differences in infant-mother and infant-father interaction in the strange situation: A component process analysis. *Developmental Psychology*, 24(1), 92–100. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.24.1.92
- Bronte-Tinkew, J., Carrano, J., Horowitz, A., & Kinukawa, A. (2008). Involvement Among Resident Fathers and Links to Infant Cognitive Outcomes. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(9), 1211–1244. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X08318145
- Brooker, L. & Edwards, S. (2010). *Engaging play*. Maidenhead: McGraw Hill Open University Press.
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395(10227), 912–920. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8
- Budd, K. S., & O'Brien, T. P. (1982). Father involvement in behavioral parent training: An area in need of research. *The Behavior Therapist*, *5*(3), 85–89.
- Burke, J. D., Loeber, R., & Birmaher, B. (2002). Oppositional Defiant Disorder and Conduct
 Disorder: A Review of the Past 10 Years, Part II. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(11), 1275–1293. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583200211000-00009
- Cabrera, N. J., Karberg, E., Malin, J. L., & Aldoney, D. (2017). The Magic of Play: Low-Income Mothers' and Fathers' Playfulness and Children's Emotion Regulation and Vocabulary Skills. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 38(6), 757–771. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21682
- Cabrera, N. J., & Roggman, L. A. (2017). Father Play: Is It Special? Infant Mental Health Journal, 38(6), 706–708. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21680
- Cabrera, N. J., Shannon, J. D., West, J., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2006). Parental Interactions With Latino Infants: Variation by Country of Origin and English Proficiency. *Child Development*, 77(5), 1190–1207. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00928.x

- Cabrera, N.J., & Tamis-Lemonda, C.S. (Eds.). (2013). *Handbook of father involvement: Multidisciplinary perspectives*. East Sussex, United Kingdom: Routledge.
- Cabrera, N. J., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Bradley, R. H., Hofferth, S., & Lamb, M. E. (2000). Fatherhood in the twenty-first century. *Child Development*, 71, 127 – 136. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00126
- Campbell, F., Conti, G., Heckman, J. J., Moon, S. H., Pinto, R., Pungello, E., & Pan, Y. (2014). Early Childhood Investments Substantially Boost Adult Health. *Science*, 343(6178), 1478–1485. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1248429
- Campbell, J. C., Harris, M. J., & Lee, R. K. (1995). Violence research: An overview. *Scholarly Inquiry for Nursing Practice*, *9*, 105–126.
- Campbell, S. B., Shaw, D. S., & Gilliom, M. (2000). Early externalizing behavior problems:
 Toddlers and preschoolers at risk for later maladjustment. *Development and Psychopathology*, *12*(3), 467–488. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579400003114
- Card, N. A., Stucky, B. D., Sawalani, G. M., & Little, T. D. (2008). Direct and Indirect
 Aggression During Childhood and Adolescence: A Meta-Analytic Review of Gender
 Differences, Intercorrelations, and Relations to Maladjustment. *Child Development*,
 79(5), 1185–1229. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01184.x
- Carlson, S. M., Taylor, M., & Levin, G. R. (1998). The Influence of Culture on Pretend Play: The Case of Mennonite Children. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 44, 538–565.
- Carson, J. L, Burks, V., & Parke, R. D. (1993). Parent–child physical play: Determinants and consequences. In SUNY Series, Children's Play in Society. Parent–child play: Descriptions and implications. (pp. 197–220). Albany, NY, US: State University of New York Press.
- Carson, J. L., & Parke, R. D. (1996). Reciprocal negative affect in parent-child interactions and children's peer competency. *Child Development*, 67(5), 2217–2226.

- Chacko, A., Jensen, S. A., Lowry, L. S., Cornwell, M., Chimklis, A., Chan, E., ... Pulgarin, B. (2016). Engagement in Behavioral Parent Training: Review of the Literature and Implications for Practice. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *19*(3), 204–215. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-016-0205-2
- Chang, J.-H., & Yeh, T.-L. (2015). The Influence of Parent-child Toys and Time of Playing Together on Attachment TI2. *Procedia Manufacturing*, *3*, 4921-4926. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.628
- Chao, R. K. (1996). Chinese and European American Mothers' Beliefs about the Role of Parenting in Children's School Success. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 27(4), 403–423. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022196274002
- Chao, R. K. (2000). Cultural explanations for the role of parenting in the school success of Asian-American children. In Taylor. R. D. & Wang. M. C. (Eds.), *Resilience across contexts: Family, work, culture, and community*. (pp. 333–363). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Chase, R. (1992). Toys and Infant Development: Biological, Psychological, and Social Factors. *Children's Environments*, *9*(1), 3-12.
- Chua, S. E., Cheung, V., McAlonan, G. M., Cheung, C., Wong, J. W., Cheung, E. P., ... Tsang,
 K. W. (2004). Stress and Psychological Impact on SARS Patients during the Outbreak. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(6), 385–390.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370404900607
- Clarke-Stewart, K. A. (1978). And Daddy Makes Three: The Father's Impact on Mother and Young Child. *Child Development*, *49*(2), 466. https://doi.org/10.2307/1128712
- Clarke-Stewart, K. A. (1998). Reading with children. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *19*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0193-3973(99)80025-2
- Coates, J., Taylor, J. A., & Sayal, K. (2015). Parenting Interventions for ADHD. *Journal of Attention Disorders*, *19*(10), 831–843. https://doi.org/10.1177/1087054714535952

- Coie, J. D., Dodge, K. A., & Coppotelli, H. (1982). Dimensions and types of social status: A cross-age perspective. *Developmental Psychology*, 18, 557–570.
- Collins, W. A., Sobol, B. L., & Westby, S. (1981). Effects of Adult Commentary on Children's Comprehension and Inferences about a Televised Aggressive Portrayal. *Child Development*, 52(1), 158. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129225
- Comer, J. S., Chow, C., Chan, P. T., Cooper-Vince, C., & Wilson, L. A. S. (2013). Psychosocial Treatment Efficacy for Disruptive Behavior Problems in Very Young Children: A Meta-Analytic Examination. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52(1), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2012.10.001
- Conrade, G., & Ho, R. (2001). Differential parenting styles for fathers and mothers. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, *53*(1), 29–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530108255119
- Cook, G. A., Roggman, L. A., & Boyce, L. K. (2011). Fathers' and mothers' cognitive stimulation in early play with toddlers: Predictors of 5th grade reading and math. *Family Science*, 2(2), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1080/19424620.2011.640559
- Cooper, P., Winter, P., Luddy, S., & Daley, M. (2010). Engaging families in the early childhood development story: Summary of selected literature and key messages for parenting. SA:
 Ministerial Council for Education, Early Childhood Development and Youth Affairs.
- Crider, H., Malhotra, K., & Singh, G. (2018). Aggression and Conduct Disorder in Young Children. A Case Report. *Journal of Biosciences and Medicines*, 06(02), 57–61. https://doi.org/10.4236/jbm.2018.62005
- Crouter, A. C., Perry-Jenkins, M., Huston, T. L., & McHale, S. M. (1987). Processes underlying father involvement in dual-earner and single-earner families. *Developmental Psychology*, 23(3), 431–440. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.23.3.431
- Dadds, M. R. (1997). Conduct disorder. In M. Ammerman, R.T. & Hersen (Ed.), *Handbook of prevention and treatment with children and adolescents* (pp. 521–550). NY: John Wiley.

- Dadds, M. R., Barrett, P. M., & Cobham, V. E. (1998). Anxiety Disorders. In T. H. Ollendick (Ed.), Comprehensive clinical psychology: Vol. 5: Children and Adolescents: Clinical Formulation and Treatment (pp. 317–341). Oxford, UK: Elsevier Science.
- Darke, P. R., & Goldberg, S. (1994). Father-infant interaction and parent stress with healthy and medically compromised infants. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 17(1), 3–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(94)90017-5</u>
- Davison, K. K., Charles, J. N., Khandpur, N., & Nelson, T. J. (2017). Fathers' Perceived Reasons for Their Underrepresentation in Child Health Research and Strategies to Increase Their Involvement. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 21(2), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-016-2157-z
- Deliotte Access Economics. (2019). The social and economic costs of ADHD in Australia. Report commission by and prepared for the Australian ADHD Professionals Associations (AADPA).
- Department of Health. (2003). Windows of opportunity: Outcome studies in the prevention of internalising disorders and externalising disorders.
- DeVries, R., & Kohlberg, L. (1990). Constructivist early education: Overview and comparison with other programs. Washington, D.C.: National Association for the Education of Young Children.
- Downes, T. (2002). Children's and Families' Use of Computers in Australian Homes. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 3(2), 182–196. https://doi.org/10.2304/ciec.2002.3.2.3
- Downes, T., Arthur, L., & Beecher, B. (2001). Effective Learning Environments for Young Children Using Digital Resources: An Australian Perspective. *Inf. Technol. Child. Educ.*, 2001(1), 139–153.
- Eisenberg, N., Cumberland, A., Spinrad, T. L., Fabes, R. A., Shepard, S. A., Reiser, M., ... Guthrie, I. K. (2001). The Relations of Regulation and Emotionality to Children's

Externalizing and Internalizing Problem Behavior. *Child Development*, 72(4), 1112–1134. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00337

- Enebrink, P., Högström, J., Forster, M., & Ghaderi, A. (2012). Internet-based parent management training: A randomized controlled study. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 50(4), 240– 249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2012.01.006
- Ensminger, M. E., & Slusarcick, A. L. (1992). Paths to High School Graduation or Dropout: A Longitudinal Study of a First-Grade Cohort. *Sociology of Education*, 65(2), 95. https://doi.org/10.2307/2112677
- Farrington, D. P. (1991). Childhood aggression and adult violence: Early precursors and later-life outcomes. In D. Pepler & K. Rubin (Eds.), *The development and treatment of childhood aggression* (pp. 5–29). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Farver, J. A. M., Kim, Y. K., & Lee, Y. (1995). Cultural Differences in Korean- and Anglo-American Preschoolers' Social Interaction and Play Behaviors. *Child Development*, 66(4), 1088–1099. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1995.tb00924.x
- Farver, J. A. M., & Wimbarti, S. (1995). Indonesian Children's Play with Their Mothers and Older Siblings. *Child Development*, 66(5), 1493–1503. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1995.tb00947.x
- Fein, G. G. (1975). A transformational analysis of pretending. *Developmental Psychology*, 11(3), 291–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076568
- Feitelson, D., Kita, B., & Goldstein, Z. (1986). Effects of Listening to Series Stories on First Graders' Comprehension and Use of Language. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 20(4), 339–356. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40171092
- Fergusson, D., & Horwood, L. (1995). Early disruptive behavior, IQ, and later school achievement and delinquent behavior. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 23, 183– 199.

- Feshbach, N., & Feshbach, S. (1998). Aggression in the schools: Toward reducing ethnic conflict and enhancing ethnic understanding. In P. Trickett & C. Schellenbach (Eds.), *Violence against children in the family and the community* (pp. 269–286). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Field, T. (2010). Postpartum depression effects on early interactions, parenting, and safety practices: a review. *Infant Behavior & Development*, 33(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2009.10.005
- Field, T. M., & Walden, T. A. (1982). Production and discrimination of facial expressions by preschool children. *Child Development*, 53(5), 1299–1311.
- Fielding, L., & Roller, C. (1992). Making Difficult Books Accessible and Easy Books Acceptable. *The Reading Teacher*, 45(9), 678–685. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/20200958
- Flanders, J. L., Leo, V., Paquette, D., Pihl, R. O., & Séguin, J. R. (2009). Rough-and-tumble play and the regulation of aggression: An observational study of father-child play dyads. *Aggressive Behavior*, 35(4), 285–295. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.20309
- Flanders, J. L., Simard, M., Paquette, D., Parent, S., Vitaro, F., Pihl, R. O., & Séguin, J. R. (2010). Rough-and-tumble play and the development of physical aggression and emotion regulation: A five-year follow-up study. *Journal of Family Violence*, 25(4), 357–367. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-009-9297-5
- Fletcher, R., StGeorge, J., & Freeman, E. (2013). Rough and tumble play quality: theoretical foundations for a new measure of father–child interaction. *Early Child Development and Care*, 183(6), 746–759. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2012.723439
- Fletcher, R., Freeman, E., & Matthey, S. (2011). The Impact of Behavioural Parent Training on Fathers' Parenting: A Meta-Analysis of the Triple P-Positive Parenting Program.
 Fathering. A Journal of Theory Research and Practice about Men as Fathers, 9, 291-312. https://doi.org/10.3149/fth.0903.291

- Fliek, L., Daemen, E., Roelofs, J., & Muris, P. (2015). Rough-and-Tumble Play and Other Parental Factors as Correlates of Anxiety Symptoms in Preschool Children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 24(9), 2795–2804. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-014-0083-5
- Flippin, M., & Crais, E. R. (2011). The Need for More Effective Father Involvement in Early Autism Intervention. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 33(1), 24–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815111400415
- Fogle, L. M., & Mendez, J. L. (2006). Assessing the Play Beliefs of African American Mothers with Preschool Children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 21, 507–518.
- Furlong, M., McGilloway, S., Bywater, T., Hutchings, J., Smith, S. M., & Donnelly, M. (2012).
 Behavioural and cognitive-behavioural group-based parenting programmes for earlyonset conduct problems in children aged 3 to 12 years. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD008225.pub2

Garvey, C. (1990). Play (2nd ed.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Ghosh, A., Ray, A., & Basu, A. (2017). Oppositional defiant disorder: current insight. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, *Volume 10*, 353–367. https://doi.org/10.2147/PRBM.S120582
- Gilliom, M., & Shaw, D. S. (2004). Codevelopment of externalizing and internalizing problems in early childhood. *Development and Psychopathology*, 16(02). https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579404044530
- Gioia, G. A., Isquith, P. K., Guy, S. C., & Kenworthy, L. (2000). Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function. Child Neuropsychology, 6, 235-238. http://dx.doi.org/10.1076/chin.6.3.235.3152
- Golberstein, E. (2015). The effects of income on mental health: evidence from the social security notch. *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, *18*(1), 27–37. Retrieved from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25862202

- Goldberg, W. A., Clarke-Stewart, K. A., Rice, J. A., & Dellis, E. (2002). Emotional energy as an explanatory construct for fathers' engagement with their infants. *Parenting: Science and Practice*, 2(4), 379–408. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327922PAR0204_03
- Göncü, A., Mistry, J., & Mosier, C. (2000). Cultural variations in the play of toddlers. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 24(3), 321–329.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/01650250050118303
- Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a research note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines, 38(5), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x
- Goodman, R., & Scott, S. (1999). Comparing the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire and the Child Behavior Checklist: Is Small Beautiful? *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 27, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022658222914
- Gooren, E. M. J. C., van Lier, P. A. C., Stegge, H., Terwogt, M. M., & Koot, H. M. (2011). The Development of Conduct Problems and Depressive Symptoms in Early Elementary School Children: The Role of Peer Rejection. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 40(2), 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2011.546045
- Gottfried, A. W. (Ed.). (1984). *Home environment and early cognitive development: Longitudinal research*. New York: Academic Press.
- Gottfried, A. W., & Brown, C. C. (Eds.). (1986). Play interactions: The contributions of play materials and parental involvement to children's development (Johnson & Johnson Pediatric Round Table 11). Lexington, MA: Lexington Books.
- Granic, I., Lobel, A., & Engels, R. C. M. E. (2014). The benefits of playing video games. *American Psychologist*, 69(1), 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034857
- Granic, I., & Patterson, G. R. (2006). Toward a comprehensive model of antisocial development: A dynamic systems approach. *Psychological Review*, 113(1), 101–131. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.113.1.10

- Gray, P. (2013). Free to Learn: Why Unleashing the Instinct to Play Will Make our Children Hap- pier, More Self-Reliant, and Better Prepared for Life. New York: Basic Books.
- Grossmann, K., Grossmann, K.E., Fremmer-Bombik, E., Kindler, H., Scheuerer-Englisch, H., & Zimmermann, P. (2002). The uniqueness of the child–father attachment relationship:
 Fathers' sensitive and challenging play as a pivotal variable in a 16-year longitudinal study. *Social Development*, *11*, 307–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9507.00202
- Haight, W. and Miller, P. J. (1993). *Pretending at Home: Early Development in a Sociocultural Context*. Albany: State University of New York: State University of New York Press.
- Hall, C. M., & Bierman, K. L. (2015). Technology-assisted interventions for parents of young children: Emerging practices, current research, and future directions. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 33, 21–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.05.003
- Hankin, B. L., Kassel, J. D., & Abela, J. R. Z. (2005). Adult Attachment Dimensions and Specificity of Emotional Distress Symptoms: Prospective Investigations of Cognitive Risk and Interpersonal Stress Generation as Mediating Mechanisms. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 31(1), 136–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167204271324
- Harkness, S. & Super, C. (1992). The cultural foundations of fathers' roles: Evidence from Kenya and the United States. In B. Hewlett (Ed.), *Father–child relations: Cultural and biosocial contexts* (pp. 191–211). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Harpold, T., Biederman, J., Gignac, M., Hammerness, P., Surman, C., Potter, A., & Mick, E.
 (2007). Is Oppositional Defiant Disorder a Meaningful Diagnosis in Adults? *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease*, 195(7), 601–605.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.0b013e318093f448
- Hart, B., & Risely, T. (1995). Meaningful differences in the everyday experiences of young American children. Boston, MA: Brookes Publishing.

Hart, J. L., & Nagel, M. C. (2017). Including Playful Aggression in Early Childhood Curriculum and Pedagogy. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 42(1), 41–48. https://doi.org/10.23965/AJEC.42.1.05

- Harter, J. K., Schmidt, F. L., & Hayes, T. L. (2002). Business-unit-level relationship between employee satisfaction, employee engagement, and business outcomes: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87(2), 268–279. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.87.2.268
- Haugland, S. W. (1992). The Effect of Computer Software on Preschool Children's Developmental Gains. *Journal of Computing in Childhood Education*, 3(1), 15–30.
 Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/145258
- Hawkins, J. D., Catalano, R. F., & Miller, J. Y. (1992). Risk and protective factors for alcohol and other drug problems in adolescence and early adulthood: Implications for substance abuse prevention. *Psychological Bulletin*, *112*(1), 64–105. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.64
- Hawley, P.H. (1999). The ontogenesis of social dominance: A strategy-based evolutionary perspective. *Developmental Review*, 19(1), 97–132. https://doi.org/10.1006/drev.1998.0470
- Head-Reeves, D. M. (2010). Paternal involvement among African-American fathers in two-parent families: Influences in early child development: A Thesis in the Department of Human Development and Psychological Studies in the School of Education (Doctor of Philosophy). (University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, United States of America.; Vol. 71). Retrieved from http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=psyc8&NEWS=N&AN

=2011-99060-287

- Hedges, H., & Cullen, J. (2012). Participatory learning theories: a framework for early childhood pedagogy. *Early Child Development and Care*, 182:7, 921-940. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2011.597504
- Hensley, V. R. (1988). Australian normative study of the achenbach child behaviour checklist. *Australian Psychologist*, 23(3), 371–382. https://doi.org/10.1080/00050068808255619
- Hines, N.J. & Fry, D. P. (1994). Indirect modes of aggression among women of Buenos Aires, Argentina. Sex Roles. A Journal of Research, 30, 213–236.
- Hinshaw, S. P. (1987). On the distinction between attentional deficits/hyperactivity and conduct problems/aggression in child psychopathology. *Psychological Bulletin*, 101(3), 443–463. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.101.3.443
- Hinshaw, S. P. (1992). Externalizing behavior problems and academic underachievement in childhood and adolescence: Causal relationships and underlying mechanisms.
 Psychological Bulletin, 111(1), 127–155. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.111.1.127
- Hofferth, S., & Lee, Y. (2015). Family structure and trends in US fathers' time with children, 2003–2013. *Family Science*, 6(1), 318–329. https://doi.org/10.1080/19424620.2015.1082805
- Holmes, R. (2011). Adult Attitudes and Beliefs Regarding Play on Lana'i ". American Journal of Play, 3, 356–384.
- Homeyer, L, E., & Morrison, M, O. (2018). Play Therapy: Practice, Issues, and Trends. *American Journal of Play*, *1*(2): 210-228.
- Isquith, P., & Gioia, G. (2003). Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function ® Preschool Version.
- Jacklin, C. N., DiPietro, J. A., & Maccoby, E. E. (1984). Sex-typing behavior and sex-typing pressure in child/parent interaction. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *13*(5), 413–425.

- Jacob, T., & Johnson, S. L. (2001). Sequential interactions in the parent–child communications of depressed fathers and depressed mothers. *Journal of Family Psychology*, Vol. 15, pp. 38– 52. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.15.1.38
- Jiang, S., & Han, M. (2016). Parental beliefs on children's play: comparison among mainland Chinese, Chinese immigrants in the USA, and European-Americans. *Early Child Development and Care*, 186(3), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2015.1030633
- Jinqiu, Z., & Xiaoming, H. (2004). Parent–child co-viewing of television and cognitive development of the Chinese child. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 12(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1080/0966976042000182389
- Jinqiu, Z., & Xiaoming, H. (2010). Parent–child co-viewing of television and cognitive development of the Chinese child. International Journal of Early Years Education, 12(1), 63-77, https://doi.org/10.1080/0966976042000182389
- Johansson, M., Nordström, T., & Svensson, I. (2021). Depressive symptoms, parental stress, and attachment style in mothers and fathers two and a half years after childbirth: Are fathers as affected as mothers? *Journal of Child Health Care*, 25(3), 368–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367493520942050
- John, A., Halliburton, A., & Humphrey, J. (2013). Child–mother and child–father play interaction patterns with preschoolers. *Early Child Development and Care*, 183(3–4), 483–497. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2012.711595
- Johnson, S. L., & Jacob, T. (2000). Moderators of child outcome in families with depressed mothers and fathers. In *Stress, coping, and depression*. (pp. 51–67). Mahwah, NJ, US: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Jones, J. H., Call, T. A., Wolford, S. N., & McWey, L. M. (2021). Parental Stress and Child Outcomes: The Mediating Role of Family Conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 30(3), 746–756. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-021-01904-8

- Jones, K., Daley, D., Hutchings, J., Bywater, T., & Eames, C. (2007). Efficacy of the Incredible Years Basic parent training programme as an early intervention for children with conduct problems and ADHD. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 33(6), 749–756. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2214.2007.00747.x
- Jones, S. M., Brown, J. L. & Lawrence Aber, J. (2011). Two-year impacts of a universal schoolbased social-emotional and literacy intervention: An experiment in translational developmental research. *Child Development*, 82(2), 533–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467- 8624.2010.01560.x
- Julious, S. A. (2005). Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. *Pharmaceutical Statistics*, 4(4), 287–291. https://doi.org/10.1002/pst.185
- Kahen, V., Katz, L.F., & Gottman, J.M. (1994). Linkages between parent-child interaction and conversations of friends. *Social Development*, 3, 238–254.
- Kalb, G., & van Ours, J. C. (2014). Reading to young children: A head-start in life? *Economics of Education Review*, 40, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2014.01.002
- Kariuki, S. M., Abubakar, A., Murray, E., Stein, A., & Newton, C. R. J. C. (2016). Evaluation of psychometric properties and factorial structure of the pre-school child behaviour checklist at the Kenyan Coast. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *10*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-015-0089-9
- Kazura, K. (2000). Fathers' Qualitative and Quantitative Involvement: An Investigation of Attachment, Play, and Social Interactions. *The Journal of Men's Studies*, 9(1), 41–57. https://doi.org/10.3149/jms.0901.41
- Kerns, K. A., & Brumariu, L. E. (2014). Is Insecure Parent-Child Attachment a Risk Factor for the Development of Anxiety in Childhood or Adolescence? *Child Development Perspectives*, 8(1), 12–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12054
- Kerstis, B., Aarts, C., Tillman, C., Persson, H., Engström, G., Edlund, B., ... Skalkidou, A. (2016). Association between parental depressive symptoms and impaired bonding with

the infant. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, *19*(1), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00737-015-0522-3

- Kling, Å., Forster, M., Sundell, K., & Melin, L. (2010). A Randomized Controlled Effectiveness Trial of Parent Management Training with Varying Degrees of Therapist Support. *Behavior Therapy*, 41(4), 530–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2010.02.004
- Kloosterman, R., Notten, N., Tolsma, J., & Kraaykamp, G. (2011). The Effects of Parental Reading Socialization and Early School Involvement on Children's Academic Performance: A Panel Study of Primary School Pupils in the Netherlands. *European Sociological Review*, 27(3), 291–306. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq007
- Koch, S., Pascalis, L., Vivian, F., Meurer Renner, A., Murray, L., & Arteche, A. (2019). Effects of male postpartum depression on father–infant interaction: The mediating role of face processing. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, imhj.21769. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21769
- Kokkinaki, T. & Vasdekis, V. G. S. (2014). Comparing emotional coordination in early spontaneous mother–infant and father–infant interactions. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology, 12*(1), 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2014.950220
- Kokko, K., & Pulkkinen, L. (2000). Aggression in childhood and long-term unemployment in adulthood: A cycle of maladaptation and some protective factors. *Developmental Psychology*, *36*(4), 463–472. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.4.463
- Konner, M. S. (1972). Aspects of the developmental ethology of a foraging people (B. Jones, Ed.).Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press.
- Kroll, M.E., Carson, C., Redshaw, M., & Quigley, M.A. (2016). Early Father Involvement and Subsequent Child Behaviour at Ages 3, 5 and 7 Years: Prospective Analysis of the UK Millennium Cohort Study. *PLoS ONE*, *11*, e0162339.

- Kromelow, S., Harding, C., & Touris, M. (1990). The role of the father in the development of stranger sociability during the second year. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 60: 521–530.
- Kyratzis, A. (2000). Tactical Uses of Narratives in Nursery School Same-Sex Groups. *Discourse Processes*, 29(3), 269–299. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326950dp2903_4
- Kyratzis, A. (2001). Children's Gender Indexing in Language: From the Separate Worlds Hypothesis to Considerations of Culture, Context, and Power. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 34(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327973RLSI3401_1
- Ladd, G. W., & Troop-Gordon, W. (2003). The Role of Chronic Peer Difficulties in the Development of Children's Psychological Adjustment Problems. *Child Development*, 74(5), 1344–1367. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00611
- Lahey, B. B., Piacentini, J. C., Mcburnett, K., Stone, P., Hartdaghn, S., & Hynd, G. (1988).
 Psychopathology in the Parents of Children with Conduct Disorder and Hyperactivity. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 27(2), 163–170.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-198803000-00005
- Lamb, M. E. (Ed.). (1997). *The role of the father in child development* (3rd ed.). New York: Wiley.
- Lamb, M. E. (Ed.). (2004). *The role of the father in child development* (4th ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Landry, S. H., & Smith, K. E. (2010). Early social and cognitive precursors and parental support for self-regulation and executive function: Relations from early childhood into adolescence. In B. W. Sokol, U. Müller, J. I. M. Carpendale, A. R. Young, & G. Iarocci (Eds.), *Self and social regulation: Social interaction and the development of social understanding and executive functions* (p. 386–417). Oxford University Press.
- Lavigne, J. V., Gibbons, R. D., Christoffel, K. K., Arend, R., Rosenbaum, D., Binns, H., ... Isaacs, C. (1996). Prevalence Rates and Correlates of Psychiatric Disorders among

Preschool Children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 35(2), 204–214. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199602000-00014

- Lawrence, D., Johnson, S., Hafekost, J., Boterhoven de Haan, K., Sawyer, M., Ainley, J., &
 Zubrick, S. R. (2015). *The Mental Health of Children and Adolescents: Report on the second Australian Child and Adolescent Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing*.
 Canberra: Department of Health.
- Lazarus, R. S., Dodd, H. F., Majdandžić, M., de Vente, W., Morris, T., Byrow, Y., ... Hudson, J.
 L. (2016). The relationship between challenging parenting behaviour and childhood anxiety disorders. Journal of Affective Disorders, 190, 784-791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.11.032
- Lee, A., & Hankin, B. L. (2009). Insecure Attachment, Dysfunctional Attitudes, and Low Self-Esteem Predicting Prospective Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety During Adolescence. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, *38*(2), 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374410802698396
- LeFever, G. B., Villers, M. S., Morrow, A. L., & Vaughn, E. S. (2002). Parental perceptions of adverse educational outcomes among children diagnosed and treated for ADHD: A call for improved school/provider collaboration. *Psychology in the Schools*, 39(1), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.10000
- Lehr, F., & Osborn, J. (Eds.). (2012). *Reading, Language, and Literacy*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203052631
- Lester, S. and Russell, W. (2010). *Children's right to play: An examination of the importance of play in the lives of children worldwide*. The Hague: Bernard van Leer Foundation.
- Levine, S. C., Ratliff, K. R., Huttenlocher, J. & Cannon, J (2012). Early Puzzle Play: A predictor of preschoolers' spatial transformation skill. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(2), 530-542. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025913
- Levine, S. C., Ratliff, K. R., Huttenlocher, J., & Cannon, J. (2012). Early puzzle play: A predictor of preschoolers' spatial transformation skill. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(2), 530–542. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025913
- Levine S. C., Vasilyeva. M., Lourenco. S. F., Newcombe. N. S., & Huttenlocher. J (2005).
 Socioeconomic status modifies the sex difference in spatial skill. *Psychological Science*, 16: 841–845.
- Lewis, V., Boucher, J., Lupton, L., & Watson, S. (2000). Relationships between symbolic play, functional play, verbal and non-verbal ability in young children. International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 35(1), 117–127. https://doi.org 10.1080/136828200247287
- Lilienfeld, S. O., & Waldman, I. D. (1990). The relation between childhood attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and adult antisocial behavior reexamined: The problem of heterogeneity. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *10*(6), 699–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7358(90)90076-M
- Lillard, A. S. (1993). Pretend play skills and the child's theory of mind. *Child Development*, 64(2), 348–371. https://doi.org/10.2307/1131255
- Lillard, A. S. (2001). Pretend Play as Twin Earth: A Social-Cognitive Analysis. *Developmental Review*, 21, 1–33
- Lillard, A., Pinkham, A. M., & Smith, E. (2010). Pretend play and cognitive development. In U.
 Goswami (Ed.). In U. Goswami (Ed.), *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Childhood Cognitive Development: Second Edition*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444325485
- Lin, X., & Li, H. (2018). Parents' play beliefs and engagement in young children's play at home. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 26(2), 161–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2018.1441979
- Lin, Y.-C., & Yawkey, T. D. (2013). Does play matter to parents? Taiwanese parents' perceptions of child's play. *Education*, 134, 244+. Retrieved from

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A356352105/AONE?u=anon~69cd62f&sid=googleSchola r&xid=95016cc5

- Lindsey, E. W., Cremeens, P. R., & Caldera, Y. M. (2010). Gender Differences in Mother-toddler and Father-toddler Verbal Initiations and Responses during a Caregiving and Play Context. Sex Roles, 63(5–6), 399–411. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11199-010-9803-5
- Lindsey, E. W., Mize, J., & Pettit, G. S. (1997a). Differential play patterns of mothers and fathers of sons and daughters: implications for children's gender role development. *Sex Roles*, 37(9–10), 643–661. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02936333
- Lindsey, E. W., Mize, J., & Pettit, G. S. (1997b). Mutuality in Parent-Child Play: Consequences for Children's Peer Competence. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14, 523– 538.
- Lipscomb, S. T., Leve, L. D., Shaw, D. S., Neiderhiser, J. M., Scaramella, L. V., Ge, X., ...
 Reiss, D. (2012). Negative emotionality and externalizing problems in toddlerhood:
 Overreactive parenting as a moderator of genetic influences. *Development and Psychopathology*, 24(1), 167–179. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579411000757
- Littlewood, E., Ali, S., Badenhorst, J., Bailey, D., Bambra, C., Chew-Graham, C., ... Ekers, D. (2019). Community Pharmacies Mood Intervention Study (CHEMIST): feasibility and external pilot randomised controlled trial protocol. *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, 5(1), 71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40814-019-0457-y
- Liu, J. (2004). Childhood Externalizing Behavior: Theory and Implications. Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatric Nursing, 17(3), 93–103. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6171.2004.tb00003.x
- Loeber, R., & Hay, D. (1997). Key Issues in the Development of Aggression and Violence from Childhood to Early Adulthood. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 48(1), 371–410. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.48.1.371

- Loukaitou-Sideris, A., & Sideris, A. (2010). What Brings Children to the Park? *Journal of the American Planning Association*, 76(1): 89-107.
- Lovibond, S. H., & Lovibond, P. F. (1995). *Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (2nd ed.)* (DASS-SF). Sydney: Psychology Foundation of Australia.
- Luecken, L. J., Roubinov, D. S. & Tanaka, R. (2013). Childhood family environment, social competence, and health across the lifespan. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 30(2), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407512454272
- Lundahl, B. W., Tollefson, D., Risser, H., & Lovejoy, M. C. (2008). A Meta-Analysis of Father Involvement in Parent Training. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 18(2), 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731507309828
- Luo, R., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., & Song, L. (2013). Chinese parents' goals and practices in early childhood. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 28(4), 843–857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.08.001
- Lyons-Ruth, K., Wolfe, R., Lyubchik, A., & Steingard, R. (2002). Depressive symptoms in parents of children under age 3: Sociodemographic predictors, current correlates, and associated parenting behaviors. In *Child rearing in America: Challenges facing parents with young children.* (pp. 217–259). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511499753.008
- Lyons-Ruth, K., Wolfe, R., Lyubchik, A., & Steingard, R. (2002). Depressive symptoms in parents of children under age 3: Sociodemographic predictors, current correlates, and associated parenting behaviors. In *Child rearing in America: Challenges facing parents with young children*. (pp. 217–259). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511499753.008
- MacDonald, K., & Parke, R. D. (1984). Bridging the gap: Parent–child play interaction and peer interactive competence. *Child Development*, Vol. 55, pp. 1265–1277. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129996
- MacDonald, K., & Parke, R. D. (1986). Parent-child physical play: The effects of sex and age of children and parents. *Sex Roles*, *15*, 367–378. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00287978

- MacDonell, K. W., & Prinz, R. J. (2017). A Review of Technology-Based Youth and Family-Focused Interventions. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 20(2), 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-016-0218-x
- Macey, W. H., & Schneider, B. (2008). The Meaning of Employee Engagement. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 1(1), 3–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1754-9434.2007.0002.x
- Maestripieri, D., Schino, G., Aureli, F., & Troisi, A. (1992). A modest proposal: displacement activities as an indicator of emotions in primates. *Animal Behaviour*, 44(5), 967–979. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-3472(05)80592-5
- Magill-Evans, J., & Harrison, M. J. (2001). Parent–child interactions, parenting stress, and developmental outcomes at 4 years. *Children's Health Care*, 30(2), 135–150. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326888CHC3002_4
- Mahone, E. (2002). Validity of the behavior rating inventory of executive function in children with ADHD and/or Tourette syndrome. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, *17*(7), 643–662. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0887-6177(01)00168-8
- MajdandžIć, M. (2017). Commentary on fathers' play: Measurement, conceptualization, culture, and connections with child development. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 38(6), 789–794. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21677
- Majdandžić, M., Möller, E. L., de Vente, W., Bögels, S. M., & van den Boom, D. C. (2014).
 Fathers' Challenging Parenting Behavior Prevents Social Anxiety Development in Their
 4-Year-Old Children: A Longitudinal Observational Study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 42(2), 301–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-013-9774-4
- Mannuzza, S., Klein, R. G., & Addalli, K. A. (1991). Young adult mental status of hyperactive boys and their brothers: a prospective follow-up study. *Journal of the American Academy* of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 30(5), 743–751.
- Marsh, J. (2000). But I want to fly too!: Girls and superhero play in the infant classroom. *Gender* and Education, 12(2), 209–220. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540250050010018

- McArdle, P. (2001). Children's play. *Child: Care, Health and Development*, 27(6), 509–514. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2214.2001.00230.x
- McCune-Nicolich, L., & Fenson, L. (2018). Methodological Issues in Studying Early Pretend Play. In *Children's Play* (pp. 83–107). https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315099071-6
- McElwain, N. L., & Volling, B. L. (2004). Attachment security and parental sensitivity during infancy: Associations with friendship quality and false-belief understanding at age 4. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 21(5), 639–667. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407504045892
- McLane, J.B., & McNamee, G. D. (1990). *Early literacy*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- McMahon, R. J. (1994). Diagnosis, assessment, and treatment of externalizing problems in children: The role of longitudinal data. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 62(5), 901–917. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.62.5.901
- Mehall, K. G., Spinrad, T. L., Eisenberg, N., & Gaertner, B. M. (2009). Examining the relations of infant temperament and couples' marital satisfaction to mother and father involvement: A longitudinal study. *Fathering*, 7(1), 23-48. https://doi.org/10.3149/fth. 0701.23
- Menashe-Grinberg, A., & Atzaba-Poria, N. (2017). Mother–child and father–child play interaction: The importance of parental playfulness as a moderator of the links between parental behavior and child negativity. *Infant Mental Health Journal, 38*(6), 772–784. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21678
- Mendo-Lázaro, S., León-del-Barco, B., Polo-del-Río, M.-I., Yuste-Tosina, R., & López-Ramos,
 V.-M. (2019). The Role of Parental Acceptance–Rejection in Emotional Instability
 During Adolescence. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 16(7), 1194. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16071194
- Milkie, M. A., & Denny, K. E. (2014). Changes in the Cultural Model of Father Involvement: Descriptions of Benefits to Fathers, Children, and Mothers in Parents' Magazine, 1926-

2006. Journal of Family Issues, 35(2), 223–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X12462566

- Miller, E., & Almon, J. (2009). *Crisis in the kindergarten: Why children need to play in school.* College Park, MD: Alliance for Childhood.
- Mitchell, S. J., See, H. M., Tarkow, A. K. H., Cabrera, N., McFadden, K. E., & Shannon, J. D. (2007). Conducting Studies with Fathers: Challenges and Opportunities. *Applied Developmental Science*, 11(4), 239–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888690701762159
- Mol, S., & Bus, A. (2011). To Read or Not to Read: A Meta-Analysis of Print Exposure from Infancy to Early Adulthood. *Psychological Bulletin*, 137, 267–296. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021890
- Møller, S, J. (2015). Imagination, Playfulness, and Creativity in Children's Play with Different Toys. *American Journal of Play*, 7(3): 322-346
- Möller, E.L., Majdandžić, M., de Vente, W., & Bögels, S. M. (2013). The evolutionary basis of sex differences in parenting and its relationship with child anxiety in Western societies.
 Journal of Experimental Psychopathology, 4, 88–117. https://doi.org/10.5127/jep.026912
- Monahan, K. C., & Piquero, A. R. (2009). Investigating the Longitudinal Relation Between
 Offending Frequency and Offending Variety. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *36*(7), 653–673. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854809335527
- Muris, P., Meesters, C., Morren, M., & Moorman, L. (2004). Anger and hostility in adolescents:
 Relationships with self-reported attachment style and perceived parental rearing styles. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 57(3), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00616-0
- Murphy, L. B. (1997). Fathers. Zero to Three, 18(1), 9.
- Nakić Radoš, S. (2021). Parental Sensitivity and Responsiveness as Mediators Between
 Postpartum Mental Health and Bonding in Mothers and Fathers. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*,
 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.723418

- Nangle, D. W., Hansen, D. J., Erdley, C. A. & Norton, P. J. (2010). Practitioner's Guide to Empirically Based Measures of Social Skills ABCT Clinical Assessment Series. New York: Springer.
- Newhouse, C., Cooper, M., & Cordery, Z. (2017). Programmable Toys and Free Play in Early Childhood Classrooms. *Australian Educational Computing*, *32*(1).
- Nicol-Harper, R., Harvey, A. G., & Stein, A. (2007). Interactions between mothers and infants: Impact of maternal anxiety. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 30(1), 161–167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2006.08.005
- Nielsen, M., & Dissanayake, C. (2000). An investigation of pretend play, mental state terms and false belief understanding: In search of a metarepresentational link. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 18(4), 609–624. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151000165887
- Nock, M. K., Kazdin, A. E., Hiripi, E., & Kessler, R. C. (2007). Lifetime prevalence, correlates, and persistence of oppositional defiant disorder: results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 48(7), 703–713. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01733.x
- Ogbu, J. (1988). Cultural diversity and human development. New Directions in Child Development. 42, 11–28.
- Osofsky, J., & Fitzgerald, H. Handbook of Infant Mental Health in Groups at High Risk. Chichester, UK: Wiley, 2000.
- Owen, D. A., & Hutchings, J. (2017). An evaluation of the online universal programme COPING Parent: a feasibility study. *Journal of Public Health Research*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2017.819
- Owens, L. D., & MacMullin, C. E. (1995). Gender Differences in Aggression in Children and Adolescents in South Australian Schools. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, 6(1), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.1995.9747776

Paap, M. C. S., Haraldsen, I. R., Breivik, K., Butcher, P. R., Hellem, F. M., & Stormark, K. M. (2013). The Link between Peer Relations, Prosocial Behavior, and ODD/ADHD
Symptoms in 7–9-Year-Old Children. *Psychiatry Journal*, 2013, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/319874

- Palkovitz, R. (1996). Parenting as a Generator of Adult Development: Conceptual Issues and Implications. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 13(4), 571–592. https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407596134006
- Panksepp J. 1993. Rough and tumble play: A fundamental brain process. In: MacDonald K (ed). Parent–Child Play: Descriptions and Implications. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press. (pp. 147–184.)
- Panksepp, J., Burgdorf, J., Turner, C., & Gordon, N. (2003). Modeling ADHD-type arousal with unilateral frontal cortex damage in rats and beneficial effects of play therapy. *Brain Cognition*, 52(1), 97–105.
- Paquette, D. (1994). Fighting and playfighting in captive adolescent chimpanzees. *Aggressive Behavior*, 20(1), 49–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-2337
- Paquette, D. (2004). Theorizing the Father-Child Relationship: Mechanisms and Developmental Outcomes. *Human Development*, 47(4), 193–219. https://doi.org/10.1159/000078723
- Paquette, D., Carbonneau, R., Dubeau, D., Bigras, M., & Tremblay, R. E. (2003). Prevalence of father-child rough-and-tumble play and physical aggression in preschool children. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 18(2), 171–189.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03173483
- Parke, R. D., & O'Leary, S. E. (2009). Father-mother-infant interaction in the newborn period;
 Some findings, some observations and some unresolved issues. In K. Riegel & J.
 Meacham (Eds.), *The developing individual in a changing world* (Vol. 2, pp. 653–663).
 New Brunswick, NJ: Aldine.

- Parke, R.D., Cassidy, J., Burks, V.M., Carson, J.L., & Boyum, L. (1992). *Familial contribution to peer competence among young children: The role of interactive and affective processes.*In R.D. Parke & G.W. Ladd (Eds.), Family-peer relationships: Modes of linkage (pp.107–134). Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Parks, P. L., & Smeriglio, V. L. (1986). Relationships among Parenting Knowledge, Quality of Stimulation in the Home and Infant Development. *Family Relations*, 35(3), 411–416. https://doi.org/10.2307/584369
- Pellegrini, A. D. (1989). What is a category? The case of rough-and-tumble play. *Ethology and Sociobiology*, *10*(5), 331–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/0162-3095(89)90023-X
- Pellegrini, A. D. (1993). Boys' rough-and-tumble play, social competence and group composition. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 11(3), 237–248. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-835X.1993.tb00600.x
- Pellegrini, A. D. (1995). School recess and playground behavior: Educational and developmental roles.
 In School recess and playground behavior: Educational and developmental roles.
 Albany, NY, US: State University of New York Press.
- Pellegrini, A. D. (2002). Rough-and-tumble play from childhood through adolescence: Development and possible functions. In P.K. Smith & C.H. Hart (Eds.), *Blackwell handbook of childhood social development* (pp. 437–453). Malden, MA: Blackwell.
- Pellegrini, A. D. (2009). *The Role of Play in Human Development*. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195367324.001.0001

Pellegrini, A. D., & Smith, P. K. (1998). Physical Activity Play: The Nature and Function of a Neglected Aspect of Play. *Child Development*, 69(3), 577–598. https://doi.org/10.2307/1132187

Pellis, S.M., Pellis, V.C., & Foroud, A. (2005). Play fighting: Aggression, affiliation, and the development of nuanced social skills. In R.E. Tremblay, W.W. Hartup, & J. Archer (Eds.), Developmental origins of aggression (pp. 47–62). New York: Guilford Press.

- Peterson, J. B., & Flanders, J. L. (2005). Play and the Regulation of Aggression. In R. E. Tremblay, W. W. Hartup, & J. Archer (Eds.), *Developmental origins of aggression* (pp. 133–157). The Guilford Press.
- Phares, V., Lopez, E., Fields, S., Kamboukos, D., & Duhig, A. M. (2005). Are Fathers Involved in Pediatric Psychology Research and Treatment? *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 30(8), 631–643. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsi050
- Piaget, J. (1962). *Play, dreams, and imitation in childhood*. New York: W. W. Norton & Company.
- Piaget, J. (1966). Play, Dreams, and Imitation in Childhood. *Psychology in the Schools*, 3(2), 189–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/1520-6807(196604)3:2<189::AID-PITS2310030222>3.0.CO;2-Z

Pianta, R.C. (1992). Child-Parent Relationship Scale (CPRS), University of Virginia

- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2006). Gender Differences in Caregiver Stressors, Social Resources, and Health: An Updated Meta-Analysis. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 61(1), P33–P45. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/61.1.P33
- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2007). Correlates of Physical Health of Informal Caregivers: A Meta-Analysis. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 62(2), P126–P137. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/62.2.P126
- Ponnet, K., Mortelmans, D., Wouters, E., Van Leeuwen, K., Bastaits, K., & Pasteels, I. (2013). Parenting stress and marital relationship as determinants of mothers' and fathers' parenting. *Personal Relationships*, 20(2), 259–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2012.01404.x
- Popp, J. M., & Thomsen, B. S. (2017). A Commentary on the Importance of Father-Child Play and Children's Development. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 38(6), 785–788. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21681

- Power, T. G., & Parke, R. D. (1983). Patterns of mother and father play with their 8-month-old infant: A multiple analyses approach. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 6(4), 453–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(83)90256-4
- Price, J. (2008). Parent-Child Quality Time: Does Birth Order Matter? *Journal of Human Resources*, 43(1).
- Przybylski, A. K., & Weinstein, N. (2019). Digital Screen Time Limits and Young Children's Psychological Well-Being: Evidence From a Population-Based Study. *Child Development*, 90(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13007
- Pulkkinen, L., & Pitkänen, T. (1994). A prospective study of the precursors to problem drinking in young adulthood. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 55(5), 578–587. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1994.55.578
- Raikes, H., Alexander Pan, B., Luze, G., Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Brooks-Gunn, J., Constantine,
 J., ... Rodriguez, E. T. (2006). Mother-Child Bookreading in Low-Income Families:
 Correlates and Outcomes During the First Three Years of Life. *Child Development*, 77(4),
 924–953. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00911.x
- Rescorla, L., Achenbach, T., Ivanova, M. Y., Dumenci, L., Almqvist, F., Bilenberg, N., ...
 Verhulst, F. (2007). Behavioral and Emotional Problems Reported by Parents of Children
 Ages 6 to 16 in 31 Societies. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *15*(3), 130–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266070150030101
- Rescorla, L., Frigerio, A., Sali, M. E., Spataro, P., & Longobardi, E. (2014). Typical and Delayed Lexical Development in Italian. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research*, 57(5), 1792–1803. https://doi.org/10.1044/2014_JSLHR-L-13-0242
- Robinson, E. L., & Freeman, E. E. (2019). *RTP Two-Bag Scales (RTPTB)*, The University of Newcastle.

- Robinson, E. L., StGeorge, J., & Freeman, E. E. (2021). A Systematic Review of Father–Child Play Interactions and the Impacts on Child Development. *Children*, 8(5), 389. https://doi.org/10.3390/children8050389
- Roggman, L. A., Benson, B., & Boyce, L. (1999). Fathers with infants: Knowledge and involvement in relation to psychosocial functioning and religion. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 20(3), 257–277. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199923)20:3<257::AID-IMHJ4>3.0.CO;2-S
- Roggman, L. A., Boyce, L. K., Cook, G. A., Christiansen, K. & Jones, D. (2004). Playing with daddy: Social toy play, early head start, and developmental outcomes. Chicago, IL: International Conference on Infant Studies.
- Roggman, L. A., Boyce, L. K., Cook, G. A., Hart, A. D. (2002). *Observational data on father play with infants: Challenging to get but valuable to have*. In Lamb-Parker, F., Hagen, J.,
 Robinson, R., Rhee, H (Eds.). The First Eight Years: Pathways to the Future: Implications for Research, Policy, and Practice, Summary of Conference Proceedings of Head Start's 6th National Research Conference. Washington, DC: Head Start Bureau, ACYF.
- Romer, D., Bagdasarov, Z., & More, E. (2013). Older Versus Newer Media and the Well-being of United States Youth: Results from a National Longitudinal Panel. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 52(5), 613–619. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.11.012
- Roopnarine, J.L., & Davidson, K.L. (2015). *Parent-child play across cultures*. In J.E. Johnson,
 S.G. Eberle, T.S. Henricks, & D. Kuschner (Eds.), The handbook of the study of play
 (Vol. 2, pp. 85–100). Landham, MD: Rowman and Littlefield.
- Roopnarine, J.L., Hossain, Z., Gill, P., & Brophy, H. E. (1994). Play in the East Indian context. In
 F. Hooper, J Roopnarine & J Johnson (Ed.), *Children's play in diverse cultures* (pp. 9–30).
- Rosen, L. D., Lim, A. F., Felt, J., Carrier, L. M., Cheever, N. A., Lara-Ruiz, J. M., ... Rokkum, J. (2014). Media and technology use predicts ill-being among children, preteens and

teenagers independent of the negative health impacts of exercise and eating habits.

Computers in Human Behavior, 35, 364–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.01.036

- Ross, H., & Taylor, H. (1989). Do boys prefer daddy or his physical style of play? *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, 20(1–2), 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00288024
- Rowe, K. J. (1991). The Influence of Reading Activity at Home on Students' Attitudes Towards Reading, Classroom Attentiveness and Reading Achievement: An Application of Structural Equation Modelling. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *61*(1), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1991.tb00958.x
- Sanders, M. R. (1999). Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: Towards an empirically validated multilevel parenting and family support strategy for the prevention of behavior and emotional problems in children. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 2(2), 71– 90. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021843613840
- Sanders, M. R., Baker, S., & Turner, K. M. T. (2012). A randomized controlled trial evaluating the efficacy of Triple P Online with parents of children with early-onset conduct problems. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 50(11), 675–684. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2012.07.004
- Sanders, M. R., Kirby, J. N., Tellegen, C. L., & Day, J. J. (2014). The Triple P-Positive Parenting Program: A systematic review and meta-analysis of a multi-level system of parenting support. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 34(4), 337–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2014.04.003
- Sanders, M. R., & Markie-Dadds, C. (1992). Toward a Technology of Prevention of Disruptive Behaviour Disorders: The Role of Behavioural Family Intervention. *Behaviour Change*, 9(3), 186–200. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0813483900006331
- Sandler, I. N., Schoenfelder, E. N., Wolchik, S. A., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2011). Long-Term Impact of Prevention Programs to Promote Effective Parenting: Lasting Effects but

Uncertain Processes. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 62(1), 299–329. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.121208.131619

- Sareen, J., Afifi, T. O., McMillan, K. A., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (2011). Relationship Between Household Income and Mental Disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(4), 419. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.15
- Sartore, G-M., Macvean, M., Devine, B. & P., & A. (2016). Interventions for parents and families: the evidence for improving emotional outcomes for children. Prepared for The Benevolent Society. Victoria: Parenting Research Centre.
- Sattler, J. M. (2008). Resource guide to accompany Assessment of Children: Cognitive Foundations (5th ed.). San Diego: Author. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 27(6), 508–514. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734282908327601
- Sawyer, M. G., Arney, F. M., Baghurst, P. A., Clark, J. J., Graetz, B. W., Kosky, R. J., ... Zubrick, S. . (2001). The Mental Health of Young People in Australia: Key Findings from the Child and Adolescent Component of the National Survey of Mental Health and Well-Being. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 35(6), 806–814. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1614.2001.00964.x
- Scott, E., & Panksepp, J. (2003). Rough-and-tumble play in human children. *Aggressive Behavior*, 29(6), 539–551. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.10062
- Séguin, J., & Zelazo, P. (2005). Executive function in early physical aggression. In R. Tremblay,
 W. Hartup, & J. Archer (Eds.), *Developmental Origins of Aggression* (pp. 307–329). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Sethna, V., Perry, E., Domoney, J., Iles, J., Psychogiou, L., Rowbotham...Ramchandani, P. G. (2017), Father–Child Interactions at 3 Months and 24 Months: Contributions to Children's Cognitive Development at 24 Months. *Infant Mental Health Journal, 38*: 378-390. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21642

- Shiels, K., & Hawk, L. W. (2010). Self-regulation in ADHD: The role of error processing. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 30(8), 951–961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.06.010
- Sim, J., & Lewis, M. (2012). The size of a pilot study for a clinical trial should be calculated in relation to considerations of precision and efficiency. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 65(3), 301–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.07.011
- Singh, J. P. (2004). The contemporary Indian family. In B. N. Adams & J. Torst (Eds.), Handbook of world families (chap. 16). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Skogan, A. H., Egeland, J., Zeiner, P., Øvergaard, K. R., Oerbeck, B., Reichborn-Kjennerud, T., & Aase, H. (2016). Factor structure of the Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Functions (BRIEF-P) at age three years. *Child Neuropsychology*, 22(4), 472–492. https://doi.org/10.1080/09297049.2014.992401

Sluckin, A. (1981). Growing up in the School Playground. London: Routledge and Keegan Paul.

- Smith, E. D., & Lillard, A. S. (2012). Play on: Retrospective Reports of the Persistence of Pretend Play Into Middle Childhood. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 13(4), 524– 549. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2011.608199
- St George, J., & Freeman, E. (2016). Measurement of father-child rough-and-tumble play and its relation to child behavior. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, *38*(6), 709–725.
- StGeorge, J., & Freeman, E. (2017). Measurement of Father-Child Rough-and-Tumble Play and Its Relations to Child Behaviour. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 38(6), 709–725. https://doi.org/10.1002/imhj.21676
- St George, J., Fletcher, R., & Palazzi, K. (2017). Comparing Fathers' Physical and Toy Play and Links to Child Behaviour: An Exploratory Study. *Infant and Child Development*, 26(1), e1958. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1958
- StGeorge, J. M., Wroe, J. K., & Cashin, M. E. (2018). The concept and measurement of fathers' stimulating play: a review. *Attachment & Human Development*, 20(6), 634–658. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616734.2018.1465106

- Stone, L. L., Janssens, J. M. A. M., Vermulst, A. A., Van Der Maten, M., Engels, R. C. M. E., & Otten, R. (2015). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: psychometric properties of the parent and teacher version in children aged 4–7. BMC Psychology, 3(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-015-0061-8
- Strickland, D. (1990). Emergent literacy: How young children learn to read and write. Educational Leadership. 47(6), 18–24.
- Sylva, K., Roy, C., & Painter, M. (1980). Child watching at Playgroup and Nursery School. London: Grant McIntyre.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S. (2004). Conceptualizing fathers' roles: Playmates and more. Human Development, 47(4), 220–227.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., & Cabrera, N. (Eds.). (2002). Handbook of father involvement: Multidisciplinary perspectives. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Tamis-LeMonda, C. S., Shannon, J. D., Cabrera, N. J., & Lamb, M. E. (2004). Fathers and Mothers at Play with Their 2- and 3-Year-Olds: Contributions to Language and Cognitive Development. *Child Development*, 75(6), 1806–1820. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00818.x
- Tamis-Lemonda, C., Uzgiris, IC., & Bornstein, M. (2002). Play in parent child interactions. In
 M. Bornstein (Ed.), *Handbook of parenting: Practical issues in parenting Vol. 5* (2nd ed., pp. 221–242). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Taylor, M., & Carlson, S. M. (2000). The influence of religious beliefs on parent's attitudes about children's fantasy behavior. In K. S. Rosengren., C. N. Johnson., & P. L. Harris (Ed.), *Imagining the impossible* (pp. 247–268). New York, NY: Cambridge.
- Teale, W. H. (1984). Reading to young children: Its significance for literacy development. In H.Goelman, A. Oberg., & F. Smith (Ed.), *Awakening to literacy* (pp. 110–121). Exeter, NH: Heinemann.

Team, J. (2020). JASP (Version 0.14.1)[computer Software].

- Thibodeau, R. B., Gilpin, A. T., Brown, M. M., & Meyer, B. A. (2016). The effects of fantastical pretend-play on the development of executive functions: An intervention study. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 145, 120–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2016.01.001
- Tiano, J. D., & McNeil, C. B. (2005). The Inclusion of Fathers in Behavioral Parent Training: A Critical Evaluation. *Child & Family Behavior Therapy*, 27(4), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1300/J019v27n04_01
- Tomasello, M. (2008). Origins of human communication. *Language and Dialogue, 1*(1), 166-170.
- Torres, N., Verissimo, M., Monteiro, L., Ribeiro, O., & Santos, A.J. (2014). Domains of father involvement, social competence and problem behavior in preschool children. *Journal of Family Studies, 20*, 188–203.
- Tremblay, R. E. (2008). Understanding development and prevention of chronic physical aggression: towards experimental epigenetic studies. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1503), 2613–2622. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2008.0030
- Tremblay, R. E., Vitaro, F., Bertrand, L., LeBlanc, M., Beauchesne, H., Boileau, H., & David, L. (1992). Parent and child training to prevent early onset of delinquency: The Montreal longitudinal-experimental study. In R. E. McCord, J. & Tremblay (Ed.), *Preventing antisocial behavior: Interventions from birth through adolescence* (pp. 117–138). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Trezza, V., Baarendse, P. J. J., & Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J. (2010). The pleasures of play: Pharmacological insights into social reward mechanisms. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 31(10), 463–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tips.2010.06.008
- Trimble, M. (2012). *Why Humans Like to Cry. Tragedy, Evolution, and the Brain*. Oxford: University Press.

- Tseng, W-L., Kawabata, Y., & Gau, S. S.-F. (2011). Social Adjustment Among Taiwanese Children with Symptoms of ADHD, ODD, and ADHD Comorbid with ODD. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 42(2), 134–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-010-0204-3
- Tully, L. A., Piotrowska, P. J., Collins, D. A. J., Mairet, K. S., Black, N., Kimonis, E. R., ... Dadds, M. R. (2017). Optimising child outcomes from parenting interventions: fathers' experiences, preferences and barriers to participation. *BMC Public Health*, *17*(1), 550. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4426-1
- Twenge, J. M., & Campbell, W. K. (2018). Associations between screen time and lower psychological well-being among children and adolescents: Evidence from a populationbased study. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 12, 271–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.10.003
- Twenge, J. M., Martin, G. N., & Campbell, W. K. (2018). Decreases in psychological well-being among American adolescents after 2012 and links to screen time during the rise of smartphone technology. *Emotion*, 18(6), 765–780. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000403
- Uzgiris, I. C., & Weizmann, F. (Eds.). (1977). *The structuring of experience*. New York: Plenum Press.
- Valkenburg, P. M., & Peter, J. (2009). Social Consequences of the Internet for Adolescents: A Decade of Research. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01595.x
- Van Lier, P. A. C., & Koot, H. M. (2010). Developmental cascades of peer relations and symptoms of externalizing and internalizing problems from kindergarten to fourth-grade elementary school. *Development and Psychopathology*, 22(3), 569–582. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579410000283
- Vingerhoets, A. (2013). Why Only Humans Weep: Unraveling the Mysteries of Tears. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198570240.001.0001

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

- Walter, C. (2006). *Thumbs, Toes, and Tears: and Other Traits That Make Us Human*. New York:Walker & Company.
- Watkins, B., Calvert, S., Huston, A. C. & Wright, J. C. (1980). Children's recall of television material: effect of presentation mode and adult labelling, Development Psychology. 16(6), 672–674.
- Webster-Stratton, C., & Hammond, M. (1998). Conduct problems and level of social competence in Head Start children: prevalence, pervasiveness, and associated risk factors. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 1(2), 101–124.
- Webster-Stratton, C., Reid, M. J., & Hammond, M. (2004). Treating Children With Early-Onset Conduct Problems: Intervention Outcomes for Parent, Child, and Teacher Training. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 33(1), 105–124. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15374424JCCP3301_11
- Wechsler, D. (2003). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fourth Edition. Integrated technical and interpretive manual (WPPSI-IV A&NZ). The Psychological Corporation.
- Weisberg, D. S. (2015). Pretend play. WIREs Cognitive Science, 6(3), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1341
- Wellman, H. M. (2014). Making Minds: How Theory of Mind Develops. Journal of Cognition and Development, 17:5, 800-804. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2016.1205337
- WHO: World Health Organisation. (2018). Gaming disorder. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news/item/14-09-2018-inclusion-of-gaming-disorder-in-icd-11
- Wierson, M., & Forehand, R. (1994). Parent Behavioral Training for Child Noncompliance:
 Rationale, Concepts, and Effectiveness. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 3(5), 146–150. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep10770643
- Williams, A. (2004). *The jigsaw puzzle: Piece together a history*. New York, NY: Penguin Group Inc.

- Wissemann, K., Gorday, J. Y., & Meyer, A. (2018). The Parent Sensitivity to Child Anxiety Index. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 49(5), 814–821. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-018-0797-5
- Yarrow, L. J., Rubenstein, J. L., & Pedersen, F. A. (1975). *Infant and environment*. New York: Halstead Press.
- Yeung, W. J., Sandberg, J. F., Davis-Kean, P. E., & Hofferth, S. L. (2001). Children's Time With Fathers in Intact Families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(1), 136–154. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00136.x
- Yogman, M. W., Kindlon, D., & Earls, F. (1995). Father involvement and cognitive/behavioral outcomes of pre-term infants. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 34, 58 – 66. doi: https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199501000-00015*
- Zelazo P. D., Carter A., Reznick J. S., Frye D. (1997). Early development of executive function: a problem-solving framework. Review of General Psychology, 1:198. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.1.2.198
- Zeman, J., Cassano, M., Perry-Parrish, C., & Stegall, S. (2006). Emotion regulation in children and adolescents. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics: JDBP*, 27(2), 155–168. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004703-200604000-00014

Appendices

Appendix A: Demographic Questionnaire Used in Chapter 4 and 5

Demographic Questionnaire

1. What was your age last birthday? _____years

2. In what country were you born? _____

3. What was the first language you learnt to speak? _____

- 5. What is your current marital status?
- □ Married
- Divorced
- DeFacto

4. Which cultural background(s) do you identify with?

- Argentinian
- Japanese

Mexican

□ Moroccan

Nepalese

Pakistani

- Bangladeshi Korean
- Brazilian
 Lebanese
- Chinese
 DAlaysian
- Caucasian
- Egyptian
- 🗆 Filipino
- Greek
- □ Indian □ Polynesian
- □ Indonesian □ Portuguese

- Russian
- Serbian
- □ Singaporean
- Sri Lankan
- Taiwanese
- □Turkish
- Vietnamese
- Other (Please Specify)

- 6. What is your highest level of education completed?
- Did not complete Year 10
- □ Completed Year 10
- □ Completed Year 12
- □ Tafe Certificate
- $\hfill\square$ Tafe Diploma
- Bachelor Degree
- Masters or PhD

7. What is your current employment status?

□ Employed, including self-employed

□ Unemployed – actively looking for a job

Not in labour force (e.g., stay-at-home parent; volunteer; student; retired; not looking for a job) Please state: ______

8. What is your current family income before deductions
□ \$0 - \$50,000
□ \$50,001 - \$100,000
□ \$100,001 - \$150,000
□ \$150,001 +

9. How many paid working hours do you undertake each week? ____hours

10. What is the gender of the child who is participating in this research?
□ Male
□ Female

11. What is the birth order of this child?

- First born
- \square Second

Other, please state_____

12. What is the birthdate of this child? ___/__/

13. Who is the Primary carer for this child?

□ I am the child's Primary Carer

□ My partner is the child's Primary Carer

14. Are you willing to be contacted about further research with parents and children? $\hfill\square$ Yes

 $\square \ No$

Appendix B: Child Behaviour Checklist for Ages 1.5-5 and 6-18 Used in Chapter 4 and 5

ACTONE HOUSERIOU MODIFIESS OTHER Control in the second and the s		Tree
ACTONS EXCENSION MODIFIENS COUNTRS	162. wash 214. store 215. zoo	star 105. uoitey street 106. truck
ACTONS HOURSE(L) MODIFIERS COURDER	160. walk 212. park	snow 104. train
ACTONS HOMERESS OFFER Control Control <th< td=""><td>- 158. tickle 210. hospita 150 m 211. library</td><td>sidewalk 102. plane kv 103 stroller</td></th<>	- 158. tickle 210. hospita 150 m 211. library	sidewalk 102. plane kv 103 stroller
ACTONS HOMPLERS OFFERS OPFERS OPFE	cycle 157, throw 209, home	ain 101. motorcyck
ACTONS HONERIUM MODIFIRISE OTHER Image: Control of the sector of	155. stop PLACES	100 get
ACTIONS HONSERIOLID MODIFIRISE COUNT ONE (a) Count of an (a) Count of an (a) <thcount an<br="" of="">(a) <thcount (a)<="" an="" of="" th=""> <</thcount></thcount>	153. SIL 207. WAIGH	Tower 98. boat
ACTIONS MODIFIEID OMDIFIEID OUT cancer OUT cancer <t< td=""><td>S 152. sing 206. umbrel</td><td>VEHICLES</td></t<>	S 152. sing 206. umbrel	VEHICLES
ACTIONS MOUNTPERSE OTHER Incrementation Incrementation <thincrementation< th=""></thincrementation<>	151. shut 205. tooth b	eddy bear
ACTIONS HOINSPIEUD MOINSPIEUS OTHER Conversion Inversion	149. see 203. pocket	dide 95. toe
ACTOONS HOUSERIOUT MODIFIERS OFFER Conversion Outpoints Provide model Outpoints Provide model Providem	148. run 202. penny	present 94. thumb
ACTOON MOUNPTURE (17): hank 100: hear 100: hank 101: ha	140. read 200. pen 147. ride 201. pencil	victure 93. teeth
ACTOONS HOUSERIOU MODIFIERS TO THE Construction OTHER TO THE Construction OTHER TO THE Construction OTHER THE THE Construction OTHER THE THE Construction OTHER THE THE Construction OTHER THE Construction OTHER Construction	145. push 199. paper	rayons 91. neck
ACTONS MODIFIERS (17) half OTHER (16) half OTHER (17) half OTHER (17) half OTHER (18) hal	144. peepee 198. money	pook 90. mouth
ACTONS MOURTRUSS OTHER Class of the point of	142. pattycake 190. glasses	vlocks 80 lea
ACITONS HOUSERIOU 107. bank 108. bank 109. bank 109. bank 100. ba	141. outside 195. comb	xall 87. hand
ACTIONS HOUSEHOUS NOTHERS CHARD DOT HER DOT HER DOT HER DOT HER DOT HER DOT	140. open 194. brush	S 86. hair
ACTIONS HIOUSENDUT MODIFIERS OFHER Description MODIFIERS OFHER OPEC Note: Figure 10: Laboration 10: Laboratio	139. nap PERSONA)	water ort, imgei 85. foot
ACTIONS HOUSEIDUD (01 kind) MODIFIERS OTHER THE FORM FLED OF FS off THE FORM FLED	137. lunch 193. window	oast 83. face
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MONTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS OTHERS Nothers Not	136. love 192. T.V.	ea 82. eye
ACTIONS HOURENULD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER <thother< th=""> OTHER OTHER</thother<>	135. look 191. trash	paghetti 81. elbow
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER COTHER Conversion Model Charles Charles Charles Model Model <th< td=""><td>133. Kiss 189. telepho</td><td>oda 79. chin</td></th<>	133. Kiss 189. telepho	oda 79. chin
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER <td>132. kick 188. table</td> <td>aisins 78. bottom</td>	132. kick 188. table	aisins 78. bottom
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS OTHERS OTHERS MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS MODIFIERS MODIFIERS MODIFIERS OTHERS MODIFIERS	utton 131. jump 187. stairs	vietzel 77. belly buttor
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER $\Box Holds$ <th< td=""><td>VTS 129. hit 185. soap</td><td>vrange BODY PARTS</td></th<>	VTS 129. hit 185. soap	vrange BODY PARTS
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER The Constraint of the child strength OTHER The Constraint of the child strength The child strengt The child strength <	128. help 184. sink	nik
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER OTHER TYPE OF PRES 10 bill 10 bill 210 all gene 210 bill bill bill bill bill bill bill bill 211 bill 220 bill bill <td< td=""><td>120. go 102. radio 127. have 183. room</td><td>neat 75. turtle</td></td<>	120. go 102. radio 127. have 183. room	neat 75. turtle
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the constr	125. give 181. potty	ce cream 73. tiger
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the constraintence of the constraintene constraint of the constr	124. get 180. plate	totdog 72. snake
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER TYPE OFERS TYPE OFERS TYPE OFERS 100 bring 165 bulket 216 all gene 265 awy effer TODAY SDATE CHLUS BIRTHDATE TYPE OF BORE TYPE OF WORE TYPE OF WORE <td>123. fix 179. pillow</td> <td>amburger 71. puppy</td>	123. fix 179. pillow	amburger 71. puppy
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the child of th	y 121. Iecu 177. lignt 122 finish 178 mirror	Tapes 09. monkey
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the child of th	120. eat 176. knife	ood 68. horse
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the child of th	119. down 175. glass	gg 67. frog
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the consth	11 17. uniter 173. Hour 118. doction 174. fork	rink 66 fish
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the constr	115. cut 171. cup 116. dance 172. door	ookie 64. duck
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Constraint of the space product of the space	114. cough 170. crib	heese 62. cow
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OTHER Image: Constraint of the c	1 112: crosc 100: criati 1 113: come 169: clock	ereal 61. chicken
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER Image: Bay Gin OTHER MOTHERS MOTHERS 107. bath 163. bathub 216. all gone 264. any letter TODAYSDATE CHILD'S BIRTHOATE TYPE OF WORK TYPE OF WORK 108. breakfast 164. bad 217. all right 266. boxbox Mo. Day Year Mo. Day Year THIS FORM FILLED OUT BY: (print your full name) 110. catch 166. bothe 219. bag 267. byebye Please fill out this form to reflect your view of the child's THIS FORM FILLED OUT BY: (print your full name) .	111. clap 167. bowl	ake 59. bunny
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER OB Girl OTHACE MOTHERS 107. bath 163. bathub 216. all gone 264. any letter TODAY SDATE OHILD'S BIRTHDATE TYPE OF WORK TYPE OF WORK OF WORK OF WORK OF WORK OF A CHILD'S BIRTHDATE THIS FORM FILLED OUT BY: (print your full name) 109. breakfast 164. bad	110. catch 166. bottle	utter 58. bug
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER DBoy D Girl OHMAGE MOTHER'S 107. bath 163. bathub 216. all gone 264. any letter TODAYS DATE CHILD'S BIRTHDATE TYPE OF WORK	108. breakfast 164. bed	nanana 56. bee
ACTIONS HOUSEHOLD MODIFIERS OTHER DBy DGid CHARGE MOTHERS	107. bath 163. bathtub	pple 55. bear
	ACTIONS HOUSEHO	DS ANIMALS
CHILD'S GENDER CHILD'S AGE CHILD'S ETHINC GROUP FANGE WORK).
reven if they are not pronounced clearly or are in "baby talk" (for example: "baba" for NAME	even if they are not pronounced clearly	sh). Please include words ev
no the list circle the Endition work and working new Page Andrew Start Control of the Control of	on the list circle the English word and y	nalich versions of words on



PAGE 2

PAGE 3

Be sure you answered all items. Then see other side

	1	N		,					
	1	N	-	0					
	1	N	_	0					
were not listed above:					(describe):				
Please write in any problems your child has th	113.				3. Stores up too many things he/she doesn't need	83	N	-	0
Worries	112.	N	-	0	2. Steals outside the home	82	N	-	0
Withdrawn, doesn't get involved with others	111.	N	-	0	1. Steals at home	81	N	-	0
Wishes to be of opposite sex	110.	N		0	0. Stares blankly	80	N	_	0
Whining	109.	N	-	0					
Wets the bed	108.	N	-	0	9. Speech problem (describe):	79	N	-	0
Wets self during the day	107.	N	_	0	8. Inattentive or easily distracted	78	N	-	0
Vandalism	106.	N	-	0	 Sleeps more than most kids during day and/or night (describe):	77	N	-	0
					o. Sleeps less man most kids	10	N	-	0
Uses drugs for nonmedical purposes (don't include alcohol or tobacco) (describe):	105.	N	-	0	5. Too shy or timid	75	J N		0
Unusually loud	104.	N	-	0	Showing off or clowning	74	N		0
Unhappy, sad, or depressed	103.	N	-	0					
Underactive, slow moving, or lacks energy	102.	N	-	0					
Truancy, skips school	101.	N	-	0	3. Sexual problems (describe):	73	N		0
					2. Sets fires	72	N	-	•
Trouble sleeping (describe):	100.	N	-	0	1. Self-conscious or easily embarrassed	71	N		0
Smokes, chews, or sniffs tobacco	99.	N	-	0					
Thumb-sucking	98.	N	-	0			1		
Threatens people	97.	N	-	0	 Sees things that aren't there (describe): 	70	N		
Thinks about sex too much	96.	N	-	0	a Connection knows things to solf	00	د		>
Temper tantrums or not temper	95.	N	-	c	8. Screams a lot	68	NI		
Teases a lot	94.	N		0	7 Runs away from home	67	2	-	-
Talks too much	93.	N	-	0	compulsions (describe):				
Talks or walks in sleep (describe):	92.	N	-	0	 Refuses to talk Repeats certain acts over and over; 	65	NN		0 0
Talks about killing self	91.	N	-	0	 Preters being with younger kids 	04	N	-	6
Swearing or obscene language	90.	N		0	3. Prefers being with older kids	63	N	-	0
Suspicious	89.	N	-	0	Poorly coordinated or clumsy	62	N	-	0
Sulks a lot	88.	N	-	0	1. Poor school work	61	N	-	0
Sudden changes in mood or feelings	87.	N	-	0	 Plays with own sex parts too much 	60	N	_	0
Stubborn, sullen, or irritable	86.	N	-	0	9. Plays with own sex parts in public	59	N		0
Strange ideas (describe):	85.	N		0	(describe):				
Strange behavior (describe):	84.	N		0	 Physically attacks people Picks nose, skin, or other parts of body 	58	NN		00

PAGE 4

Please be sure you answered all items.

ition -	6-1-01 Edi			GAL	G IS ILLE	COPYIN	JTHORIZED	UNAL	
	101 000 0	nome							C.
ered a	you answe	Be sure							b
									a.
				Know	Above	Average	Average		None
				e same le carry	iers of th ies he/sh	ed to oth w well do	Compar age, hov them ou	or chores your child has, oute, babysitting, making etc. (Include both paid chores.)	 Please list any jobs For example: paper ro bed, working in store, and unpaid jobs and c
									C.
									b
				Know	Active	Average	Active		a.
			2	e same in each' Don't	s he/she	ed to oth v active i	Compar age, hov Less	nizations, clubs, teams, I belongs to.	I. Please list any organ or groups your child
									c
									b.
									e.
Don	Above Average	e Average	Below Averag	Don't Know	More Than Average	Average	Less Than Average	, singing, etc. (Do not o or TV.)	include listening to radi
do	ers of the es he/she	ared to oth ow well do ine?	Compa age, ho each o	e same e does	ers of th nuch tim each?	ed to oth put how n pend in o	Comparage, abo he/she s	other than sports. other, books, plane,	. Please list your child activities, and games, For example: stamps, c
									с.
									b
									a.
Don't Knov	Above Average	Average	Below Average	Don't Know	More Than Average	Average	Less Than Average		riding, fishing, etc.
same do	ers of the es he/she	ared to oth ow well do ne?	Compa age, ho each o	e same e does	ers of th nuch tim hach?	ed to oth ut how n pend in e	Compare age, abo he/she s	your child most likes ample: swimming, boarding, bike	Please list the sports to take part in. For ex baseball, skaling, skale
	arent pecify)	Grandpi Other (s	Female Step Parent Foster Parent	Male Male the child: arent rent	gender: relation to Biological P Vdoptive Pa	not Your ants Your	your view of eople might ional comme ace provided items.	ase fill out this form to reflect Id's behavior even if other p ree. Feel free to print addit side each item and in the sp ge 2. Be sure to answer all	RADE Pie
		name)	Y: (print your full r	LED OUT B	FORM FILL	THIS	Έ Υr	CHILD'S BIRTHDAT	DDAY'S DATE
					OF WORK IER'S OF WORK	FATH TYPE MOTH TYPE	GROUP	LD'S AGE CHILD'S ETHNIC OR RACE	Boy Gender CHI
iemakei	eacher, hom	high school te ly sergeant.)	9, auto mechanic, l 10e salesman, arm	or example perator, st	er, lathe o	be sp labor		MINNIN	ALCUS FIRST

ase print. Be sure to answer all items.			Please print. Be sure t	o ansi	ver a
r child have? (Do <i>not</i> include brothers & sis	sters)	Below is please c your chil	list of items that describe children and youths. For each it she the 2 if the item is very true or often true of your child, circle the 0. Please If the item is not true of your child, circle the 0. Please	em tha Id. Cir answe	r all i
r child do things with any friends outside o	f regular school hours?	to apply	Not True (as far as you know) 1 = Somewhat or	Some	etime
Il does your child:	1	0 1 2	Acts too young for his/her age O Drinks alcohol without parents' approval		NN
hers & sisters?	Has no brothers or sisters		(describe):0		2
					NN
s?		0 1 2	3. Argues a lot	•	3
		0 1 2	4. Fails to finish things he/she starts		NN
Does not attend school because		0 1 2	5. There is very little he/she enjoys 6. Bowel movements outside toilet	-	N
			7 Bronzing Proving Control (0)	-	N
child takes Failing Average	Above Avorano	0 1 2	 bir agging, up asing Can't concentrate, can't pay attention for long 	-	2
nguage Arts		0 1 2	9. Can't get his/her mind off certain thoughts;		
			obsessions (describe):0	-	N
		0 4 9	10 Can't sit still restless or hyperactive	-	N
			0	-	N
			12. Complains of loneliness 0	-	N
		2		-	N
		0 1 2	14. Cries a lot	-	N
on or remedial services or attend a special c	school:	0 1 2	15. Cruel to animals 16. Cruelty, bullying, or meanness to others	-	N
□ No □ Yes—grades and reasons:		0 1 2	17. Daydreams or gets lost in his/her thoughts 0 18. Deliberately harms self or attempts suicide 0		NN
er problems in school? 🔲 No 📋 Yes-	please describe:	0 1 2	19. Demands a lot of attention 0 20. Destroys his/her own things 0		NN
Voc-when?		0 1 2	21. Destroys things belonging to his/her family or 0 others 0		NN
C IOS-WIGHT		0 1 2	22. Disobedient at home 0	-	N
(elther physical or mental)? 🗌 No 🗌 Y	∕es—please describe:	0 1 2	23. Disobedient at school 24. Doesn't eat well	-	N
		0 1 2	25. Doesn't get along with other kids 26. Doesn't seem to feel millty after misbehaving 0	<u>ــ</u>	0
		0 1 2	27. Easily jealous		S N
		0 1 2	28. Breaks rules at home, school, or elsewhere	<u>ــ</u>	NI
		0 1 2	29. Fears certain animals, situations, or places, other than school (describe):0	-	N
		0 1 2	30. Fears going to school 0		NN
		0 1 2	31. Fears he/she might think or do something bad 0	-	N
PAGE 2	Be sure you answered all items.		PAGE		e su

ure you answered all items. Then see other side

all items. escribes your child now or within the past 6 month. the 1 if the item is somewhat or sometimes true Il items as well as you can, even if some do not see es True 2 = Very True or Often True

	11.	P	-	•	Fears he/she might think or do something bad	31.	
Check Accessory	r Ģ				rears going to school	30.	
Stomachaches	F					2	
Rasnes of other skin problems	e			0	otner than school (describe):		
(describe):	ł.	5		>	Fears certain animals, situations, or places,	29.	
Problems with eyes (not if corrected by glasset	d.	N	-	0			
Nausea, feels sick	C.	N	-	0	Breaks rules at home, school, or elsewhere	28.	
Headaches	b.	N		, 0	Easily jealous	27.	
Aches or pains (not stomach or headaches)	e,	N	-	0	Doesn't seem to feel guilty after misbehaving	26.	
cause:					Doesn't get along with other kids	25.	
Physical problems without known medical	56.					24.	
Overweight	55.	N	-	0	Disobedient at school	23.	
Overtired without good reason	54.	N	-	0			
Overeating	53.	N	-	-	Dischardingt at home	33	
Feels too guilty	52.	N	-	0	Destroys things belonging to his/her family or	21.	
Feels dizzy or lightheaded	51.	N	-	0	Destroys his/her own things	20.	
Too fearful or anxious	50.	N	-	0	Demands a lot of attention	19.	
Constipated, doesn't move bowels	49.	N		0	Deliberately harms self or attempts suicide	18.	
Not liked by other kids	48.	N	-	0	Daydreams or gets lost in his/her thoughts	17.	
Nightmares	47.	N	-	0	Cruelty, bullying, or meanness to others	16.	
					Cruel to animals	15.	
Mervus increments of whoming (besome).	40.		-	-	Cries a lot	14.	
Noncole movements of twitching (describe):	AR	3		>	Confused or seems to be in a fog	13.	
Nervous, highstrung, or tense	45.	N	-	0	companie of recommond	i	
Bites fingernails	44.	N	-	0	Complains of Innelliness	12	
Lynig or oricoanig	40.	7	-	-	Clinns to adults or too dependent	4	
Would rather be alone than with others	42.	S N		0 0	Can't sit still, restless, or hyperactive	10.	
Impulsive or acts without thinking	41.	N	-	0	obsessions (describe):		
					Can't get his/her mind off certain thoughts;	9.	
(describe):	40.	~	-	0	Can't concentrate, can't pay attention for long	8.	
	5	2	•	,	Bragging, boasting	7.	
Hangs around with others who get in trouble	39.	N		0	Bowei movements outside tollet	0.	
Gets teased a lot	38.	N	-	0	There is very little he/she enjoys	о <u>с</u> л	
Gets in many fights	37.	N		0	and to minori timigo increiro eterno		
Gets hurt a lot, accident-prone	36.	N		0	Fails to finish things he/she starts	4	
reels wormess or interior	30.	~	-	0	Arques a lot	ω	
	0						
Feels others are out to get him/her	34	2	4	0	(describe):		
Feels or complains that no one loves him/her	33.	N	-	0	Drinks alcohol without parents' approval	2	
Feels he/she has to be perfect	32.	N	-	0	Acts too young for his/her age		

Appendix C: Behavior Rating Inventory of Executive Function Preschool Version and Second Edition Used in Chapter 4 and 5



our Name Today's I	Date			. Angry or learful outbursts are intense but end suddenly	S N	
elationship to Child: U Mother U Father U Teacher* U Other*				. Needs help from adult to stay on task	S N	-
ow well do you know the child? 🗌 Not Well 🔲 Moderately Well 🔲 Very Well *Have known the child for		aths 🗆	years.	. Does not notice when his/her behavior causes negative reactions	N N	
uring the past 6 months, how often has each of the following behaviors been a problem?	Never Son	netimes (Offen	Leaves messes may only in the to ceen up over ane instruction Has trouble changing activities	N N N	
1. Overreacts to small problems	N	s	0	Peacets more strongly to situations than other children	N N	0.0
When given two things to do, remembers only the first or last	Z	s	0	 rougets what here a contrain actions bother others 	Z :	~
3. Is unaware of how his/her behavior affects or bothers others	N	s	0	Gets caucht up in the small details of a task or situation and misses the main idea	Z :	~
When instructed to clean up, puts things away in a disorganized, random way	z	0 0	0 0	. Has trouble "joining in" at unfamiliar social events (such as birthday parties, picnics,		
5. Becomes upset with new situations 6 Has explosive anony outbursts	zz	s a	0 0	holiday gatherings)	z z	2 0
 Has trouble carrying out the actions needed to complete tasks (such as trying one puzzle piece at a time cleaning on the part a reward) 	z	S	0	, is easily orbitationing of orbitalinamene of gloose sond searches		
 Does not stop lauching at funny things or events when others stop 	z	S	0	. Has trouble finishing tasks (such as games, puzzles, pretend play activities)	S N	0
9. Needs to be told to begin a task even when willing to do it	N	s	0	. Gets out of control more than playmates	S N	-
0. Has trouble adjusting to new people (such as babysitter, teacher, friend, or day care worker)	Z	S	0	. Cannot find things in room or play area even when given specific instructions	S N	-
				. Resists change of routine, foods, places, etc.	N N N	
. Becomes upset too easily	z	S	0	Arter having a problem, will stay disappointed for a long lime Const status the come table when tables	N N	
Has trouble concentrating on games, puzzles, or play activities	z	S	0	 Cannot stay on the same topic when talking Talks or plays too loudly 	N N	-
Has to be more closely supervised than similar playmates	N	S	0	 num or projector recent Does not complete tasks even after niven directions 	S	-
 When sent to get something, torgets what he/she is supposed to get Is used to according to along a routing for example order of daily activities adding test minute 	N	c	c	. Acts overwhelmed or overstimulated in crowded, busy situations (such as lots of noise, activity,	2	
errands to schedule, change in driving route to store)	N	s	0	or people) Has trouble nettion started on activities or tasks even after instructed	Z	-
 Has outbursts for little reason Descate the second ministration and succession offer hole is given 	z z	ი თ	0 0	Acts too wild or out of control	S N	-
 repeats the settler instance over and over even and here is given Acts wilder or sillier than others in groups (such as birthday parties, play group) 	z	S	0 0			
. Cannot find clothes, shoes, toys, or books even when he/she has been given specific instructions	N	S	0	 Does not try as hard as his/her ability on activities 	: Z	
 Lakes a long time to teel comfortable in new places or situations (such as visiting distant relatives or new friends) 	z	S	0	 Has trouble putting the brakes on his/her actions even after being asked Unable to finish describing an event, person, or story 	ZZ	
				5. Completes tasks or activities too quickly	S	
. Mood changes frequently	N	S	0	Is unaware when he/she does well and not well	N S	55
 Makes slily mistakes on things he/she can do 	Z	S	0	3. Gets easily sidetracked during activities		
3. Is fidgely, restless, or squirmy	: Z	0 00	0	 Has trouble remembering something, even after a brief period of time Become to all. 		
 Has trouble following established routlines for steeping, eating, or play activities Is holdward by four noises bright lights or certain smalls 	ZZ	0 0	0 0	. Has a short attention span	N :	
3. Small events trigger big reactions	z	S	0	 Plays carelessly or recklessly in situations where he/she could be hurt (such as playground, 	Z	
Has trouble with activities or tasks that have more than one step	N	S	0	a sunaware when he/she nerforms a task right or wrong	Z	
 Is impulsive Is a lither of a different unit is only a problem or complete on a didd, when shade 	ZZ	0 00	0 0			
0. Is disturbed by changes in the environment (such as new furniture, things in room moved around, non-may clothes)	z	S	0			

.

2/ R 16204 N. Florida Ave. • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com copies available from:

> Behavior Rating Inventory of F"2

Executive Function, Second Edition

PARENT FORM

Gerard A. Gioia, PhD, Peter K. Isquith, PhD, Steven C. Guy, PhD, and Lauren Kenworthy, PhD

Instructions

On the following pages is a list of statements that describe children. We would like to know if your child has had <u>problems</u> with these behaviors <u>over the past 6 months</u>. Please <u>answer all the items</u> the best that you can. Please DO NOT SKIP ANY ITEMS. Think about your child as you read each statement and circle:

- Z if the behavior is Never a problem
- S if the behavior is Sometimes a problem
- O if the behavior is Often a problem

for this item: For example, if your child never has trouble completing homework on time, you would circle N

Has trouble completing homework on time Ø s

0

through the answer you want to change and then circle the correct answer: If you make a mistake or want to change your answer, IDO NOT ERASE. Draw an "X"

Has trouble completing homework on time 8 6

0

the next page. Before you begin answering the items, please fill in your child's name, gender, age, grade, your relationship to the child, today's date, and child's date of birth in the spaces provided at the top of

Copyright © 1996, 1998, 2000, 2015 by PAR. All rights reserved. May not be reproduced in whole or in part in any form or by any means without written permission of PAR. This form is printed in green link on carbonless paper. Any other version is unauthorized. 24 . • 16204 N. Florida Ave. • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com

9876 WARNING, PHOTOGOPYING OF DUPLICATION OF THIS FORM WITHOUT PERMISSION IS A VIOLATION OF COPYRIGHT LAWS.

Reorder #RO-10973 Printed in the U.S.A.

Child	d's name Gender	Age	Grad	e		
Rate	ar's nameto child	Today's date			33 Liss near bandwriting N = Never S = Sometime	0 = Otten
					34. Mood changes frequently	z z
	N = Never S = Sometimes O = Often				35. Has good ideas but cannot get them on paper	S
-	1. Is fidgety	_	S A	0	36. Has trouble counting to three	S
2	2. Resists or has trouble accepting a different way to solve a problem with schoolwork, friends, tasks, u	etc. 1	s N	0	37. Leaves messes that others have to clean up	S N
ω	3. When given three things to do, remembers only the first or last	_	S N	0	38. Needs to be told to begin a task even when willing	S
4	 Is unaware of how his/her behavior affects or bothers others 	_	S	0	39. Acts too wild or "out of control"	S Z
CT1	5. Work is sloppy	_	S N	0	40. Thinks too much about the same topic	Z S
6	5. Has explosive, angry outbursts	_	S	0	41. Forgets what he/she was doing	S N
7	7. Does not plan ahead for school assignments		s N	0	42. Does not check work for mistakes	N N
8	9. Cannot find things in room or school desk	_	s N	0	43. Angry or tearful outbursts are intense but end suddenly	2 N
6	3. Is not a self-starter		s	0	44. Becomes overwhelmed by large assignments	S Z
10	 Does not think before doing (is impulsive) 	_	S	0	45. Loses lunch box, lunch money, permission slips, homework, etc.	S N
11	1. Has trouble getting used to new situations (classes, groups, friends, etc.)	_	S N	0	46. Needs help from an adult to stay on task	S Z
12	2. Has a short attention span	-	S N	0	47. Forgets to hand in homework, even when completed	S 2
13	3. Has poor understanding of own strengths and weaknesses		S N	0	48. Has trouble putting the brakes on his/her actions	S S
14	4. Has outbursts for little reason	_	s N	0	49. Resists change of routine, foods, places, etc.	S N
15	5. Gets caught up in details and misses the big picture		S N	0	50. Has trouble getting started on homework or tasks	S
16	 Gets out of control more than friends 	_	s N	0	51. Mood is easily influenced by the situation	S
17	7. Gets stuck on one topic or activity	-	s N	0	52. Underestimates time needed to finish tasks	S
18	8. Forgets his/her name	_	s N	0	53. Does not bring home homework, assignment sheets, materials, etc.	S
18	9. Has trouble with chores or tasks that have more than one step	_	s N	0	54. Cannot find the front door of home	S
20	0. Does not realize that certain actions bother others	_	s N	0	55. Does not take initiative	S
21	1. Written work is poorly organized	_	S	0	56. Becomes upset too easily	S
25	2. Small events trigger big reactions	_	S	0	57. Starts assignments or tasks at the last minute	S N
23	3. Has good ideas but does not get job done (lacks follow-through)	_	s N	0	58. Has trouble moving from one activity to another	S S
24	4. Talks at the wrong time	_	S	0	59. Has trouble carrying out the actions needed to reach goals (saving n and anade etc.)	ey for special item, studying to get a N S
25	 Has trouble finishing tasks (chores, homework, etc.) 		s N	0	60. Is disturbed by change of teacher or class	Z
26	Does not notice when his/her behavior causes negative reactions	_	s N	0	61. Has trouble organizing activities with friends	Z
27	 Reacts more strongly to situations than other children 	_	S	0	62. Becomes too silly	Z
28	 Has trouble remembering things, even for a few minutes 	-	s N	0	63. Leaves a trail of belongings wherever he/she goes	Z
29	9. Makes careless errors	_	s N	0		
30	0. Gets out of seat at the wrong times	<u>_</u>	S	0		
3	1. Becomes upset with new situations	_	S N	0		
3	2. Has trouble concentrating on tasks, schoolwork, etc.	_		0		

195

-

Appendix D: Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire Used in

Chapter 4 and 5

Are	a Logo
	PC1
Parent Re Children Sl	eport Measures for and Adolescents DQ(P)04-10
Facility Name: Code:	

Please used gummed label if available	Patien	t or Clier	nt Ide	ntifie	er: L			_
Surname:	_							_
Other names:							 	_
Date of Birth:	Sex:						 5	-
//		Male			Fema	le		
Address:								
						•		

Instructions: For each item, please mark the box for Not True, Somewhat True or Certainly True. It would help us if you answered all items as best you can even if you are not absolutely certain. Please give your answers on the basis of your child's behaviour over the last six months.

	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire	Not True	Somewhat True	Certainly True
1.	Considerate of other people's feelings	0	0	0
2.	Restless, overactive, cannot stay still for long	0	0	0
3.	Often complains of headaches, stomach-aches or sickness	0	0	0
4.	Shares readily with other children, for example toys, treats, pencils	0	0	0
5.	Often loses temper	0	0	0
6.	Rather solitary, prefers to play alone	0	0	0
7.	Generally well behaved, usually does what adults request	0	0	.0
8.	Many worries or often seems worried	0	0	0
9.	Helpful if someone is hurt, upset or feeling ill	0	0	0
10.	Constantly fidgeting or squirming	0	0	0
11.	Has at least one good friend	0	0	0
12.	Often fights with other children or bullies them	0	0	0
13.	Often unhappy, depressed or tearful	0	0	0
14.	Generally liked by other children	0	0	0
15.	Easily distracted, concentration wanders	0	0	0
16.	Nervous or clingy in new situations, easily loses confidence	0	0	0
17.	Kind to younger children	0	0	0
18.	Often lies or cheats	0	0	0
19.	Picked on or bullied by other children	0	0	0
20.	Often volunteers to help others (parents, teachers, other children)	0	0	0
21.	Thinks things out before acting	0	0	0
22.	Steals from home, school or elsewhere	0	0	0
23.	Gets along better with adults than with other children	0	0	0
24.	Many fears, easily scared	0	0	0
25.	Good attention span, sees chores or homework through to the end	0	0	0

SOURCE: Mental Health National Outcomes and Casemix Collection: Overview of Clinician-Rated and Consumer Self-Report Measures V1.50, Mental Health & Suicide Prevention Branch, Department of Health and Ageing

Please turn over - there are a few more questions on the other side

Do you have any other comments or concerns?

	Over the last six months, have your child's teachers complained of:	No	A Little	A Lot
36.	Fidgetiness, restlessness or overactivity	` O	0	O
37.	Poor concentration or being easily distracted	0	0	0
38.	Acting without thinking, frequently butting in, or not waiting for his or her turn	0	o	0

		No	Yes – minor difficulties	Yes – definite difficulties	Yes – severe difficulties
26	Overall, do you think that your child has difficulties in any of the following areas: emotions, concentration, behaviour or being able to get along with other people?	0	0	ο	0

If you have answered "Yes", please answer the following questions about these difficulties:

	Less than a month	1-5 months	6-12 months	Over a year
27 How long have these difficulties been present?	0	o	ο	· 0

		Not at all	A little	A medium amount	A great deal	
28	Do the difficulties upset or distress your child?	0	0	0	0	
Do th follov	ne difficulties interfere with your child's everyday life in the ving areas? 29. HOME LIFE		0	0	o	
	30. FRIENDSHIPS	0	0	0	0'	
CHAR KA	31. CLASSROOM LEARNING	0	0	0	0	
	32. LEISURE ACTIVITIES	Ö	(O	0	0	
33	Do the difficulties put a burden on you or the family as a whole?	o	0	0	0	

Signature_

Date___

Mother/Father/Other (please specify):__

Thank you very much for your help.

© Robert Goodman 2002

SOURCE: Mental Health National Outcomes and Casemix Collection: Overview of Clinician-Rated and Consumer Self-Report Measures V1.50, Mental Health & Suicide Prevention Branch, Department of Health and Ageing

Appendix E: Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale Used in Chapter 4 and 5

D	ASS Name:	Date:			
Pleas applion ar	se read each statement and circle a number 0, 1, 2 or 3 which indicates ed to you <i>over the past week</i> . There are no right or wrong answers. Do ny statement.	s how much t o not spend t	he s oo m	tatem uch t	ient ime
The I	rating scale is as follows:				
D Die 1 Ap 2 Ap 3 Ap	d not apply to me at all oplied to me to some degree, or some of the time oplied to me to a considerable degree, or a good part of time oplied to me very much, or most of the time				
1	I found myself getting upset by quite trivial things	0	1	2	3
2	I was aware of dryness of my mouth	0	1	2	3
3	I couldn't seem to experience any positive feeling at all	0	1	2	3
4	l experienced breathing difficulty (eg, excessively rapid breathing, breathlessness in the absence of physical exertion)	0	1	2	3
5	I just couldn't seem to get going	0	1	2	3
6	I tended to over-react to situations	0	1	2	3
7	I had a feeling of shakiness (eg, legs going to give way)	0	1	2	3
8	I found it difficult to relax	0	1	2	3
9	I found myself in situations that made me so anxious I was most relieved when they ended	0	1	2	3
10	I felt that I had nothing to look forward to	0	1	2	3
11	I found myself getting upset rather easily	0	1	2	3
12	I felt that I was using a lot of nervous energy	0	1	2	З
13	I felt sad and depressed	0	1	2	3
14	l found myself getting impatient when I was delayed in any way (eg, lifts, traffic lights, being kept waiting)	0	1	2	3
15	I had a feeling of faintness	0	1	2	3
16	I felt that I had lost interest in just about everything	0	1	2	3
17	I felt I wasn't worth much as a person	0	1	2	3
18	I felt that I was rather touchy	0	1	2	3
19	l perspired noticeably (eg, hands sweaty) in the absence of high temperatures or physical exertion	0	1	2	3
20	I felt scared without any good reason	0	1	2	3
		0	1	2	1

Please turn the page @

Rem	inder of rating scale:				
0 Di 1 Ap 2 Ap 3 Ap	d not apply to me at all oplied to me to some degree, or some of the time oplied to me to a considerable degree, or a good part of time oplied to me very much, or most of the time				
22	I found it hard to wind down	0	1	2	3
23	had difficulty in swallowing	0	1	2	3
24	I couldn't seem to get any enjoyment out of the things I did	0	1	2	3
25	l was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion (eg, sense of heart rate increase, heart missing a beat)	0	1	2	3
26	felt down-hearted and blue	0	1	2	3
27	I found that I was very irritable	0	1	2	3
28	I felt I was close to panic	0	1	2	3
29	I found it hard to calm down after something upset me	0	1	2	3
30	l feared that I would be "thrown" by some trivial but unfamiliar task	0	1	2	3
31	was unable to become enthusiastic about anything	0	1	2	3
32	I found it difficult to tolerate interruptions to what I was doing	0	1	2	3
33	I was in a state of nervous tension	0	1	2	3
34	i felt I was pretty worthless	0	1	2	3
35	I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing	0	1	2	3
36	I felt terrified	0	1	2	3
37	l could see nothing in the future to be hopeful about	0	1	2	3
38	I felt that life was meaningless	0	1	2	3
39	found myself getting agitated	0	1	2	3
40	was worried about situations in which I might panic and make a fool of myself	0	1	2	3
41	experienced trembling (eg, in the hands)	0	1	2	3
42	found it difficult to work up the initiative to do things	Ó	1	2	3

Appendix F: Parent Stress Index 4th Edition Used in Chapter 4 and 5



÷ α α ÷	When my child wants something, my child usually keeps trying to My child is so active that it exhausts me. My child appears disorganized and is easily distracted. Compared to most, my child has more difficulty concentrating an
6. 7.	My child wanders away much more than I expected. My child is much more active than I expected.
8.	My child squirms and kicks a great deal when being dressed or bathed.
9.	My child is easily distracted, and it is a problem for me.
10.	My child rarely does things for me that make me feel good.
11.	Most times I feel that my child likes me and wants to be close to me.
12.	When I do things for my child, I get the feeling that my efforts are not appreciated
13.	My child smiles at me much less than I expected.
14.	Sometimes I feel my child doesn't like me and doesn't want to be close to me.
15.	 Which statement best describes your child? (Choose a response from the choices b 1. almost always likes to play with me. 2. sometimes likes to play with me. 3. usually doesn't like to play with me. 4. almost never likes to play with me.
16.	 My child cries and fusses: (Choose a response from the choices below.) 1. much less than I had expected. 2. less than I expected. 3. about as much as I expected. 4. much more than I expected. 5. it seems almost constant.
17.	My child seems to cry or fuss more often than most children.
18.	My child is very emotional and gets upset easily.
19.	My child generally wakes up in a bad mood.
20.	I feel that my child is very moody and easily upset.
21.	My child looks a little different than I expected, and it bothers me at times.
22.	In some areas, my child seems to have forgotten past learnings and has gone back characteristic of younger children.
23.	My child doesn't seem to learn as quickly as most children.

During the last 12 months, have any of the following events occurred in your immediate family? Choose "Y" for "Yes" and "N" for "No."

- 102. Divorce
- 103. Marital reconciliation
- 104. Marriage
- 105. Separation
- 106. Pregnancy
- 107. Other relative moved into household

....

- 108. Income increased substantially (20% or more)
- 109. Went deeply into debt
- 110. Moved to new location
- 111. Promotion at work
- 112. Income decreased substantially
- 113. Alcohol or drug problem
- 114. Death of close family friend
- 115. Began new job
- 116. Entered new school
- 117. Trouble with superiors at work
- 118. Lost job
- 119.
- Legal problems
- 120. Death of immediate family member

-
 101. Since I had my child; I have often been sick. availes, refuss to listen, overactive, cries, interrupts, fig. t. 1-3 t. 1-3 t. 1-3 t. 1-3 t. 4-5 t	100. I don't enjoy things as I used to. 42. Think carefully and count the number of things which yo	 99. I have problems sleeping, and I often feel tired during the day. 4. somewhat easier than I expected. 5. much easier than I expected. 	 Physically, I feel good most of the time. somewhat harder than I expected. about as hard as I expected. 	 97. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 97. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 97. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 97. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 97. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 98. During the past six months, I have been sicker than usual or have had more aches and pains than I from the choices below.) 	96. Since having children, I have a lot fewer changes to see my friends and to make new friends.	 When I run into a problem taking care of my children, I have a lot of people to whom I can talk to get help or advice. nothing I do helps to calm my child. 	94. I often have the feeling that other people my own age don't particularly like my company. 1. easy to calm down.	93. I am not as interested in people as I used to be.40. When upset, my child is: (Choose a response from the choose and the	 When I go to a party, I usually expect not to enjoy myself. 39. My child doesn't seem comfortable when meeting strange 	91. I feel alone and without friends. 38. It takes a lone time and it is very hard for my child to get	 The financial cost of having our child has created problems between me and my spouse/parenting My child 's sleeping or eating schedule was much harder Partner. My child usually avoids a new toy for a while before beging 	89. My spouse/parenting partner and I have a lot of conflict over how to raise our child. 35. My child easily notices and overreacts to loud sounds and	88. Since having my last child, I have less interest in sex with my spouse/parenting partner. 34. When playing, my child doesn't often giggle or laugh.	 87. Since having a child, my spouse/parenting partner and I don't spend as much time together as a family as I had expected. 33. Leaving my child with a babysitter is usually a problem. 	86. Since having a child, my spouse/parenting partner and I don't do as many things together. 31. My child is anway's nanging on line.	 Having a child has caused more problems than I expected in my relationship with my spouse/parenting partner. I feel capable and on top of things when I am caring for my spouse/parenting partner. 	 84. Since having my child, my spouse/parenting partner has not given me as much help and support as 1 28. I often have doubts about my ability to handle being a parent is harder than I thought it would be. 29. Being a parent is harder than I thought it would be. 	 After my child had been home from the hospital for about a month, I noticed that I was reeing more sad and depressed than I had expected. It bothers me that my child does not like to be cuddled or 	 82. I wind up feeling guilty when I get angry at my child, and this bothers me. 26. My child is not able to do as much as I expected. 	81. I felt sadder and more depressed than I expected after leaving the hospital with my baby.25. Compared to the average child, my child has a great deal schedules or changes around the house.	80. There are quile a few things that bother me about my life.
 fawdes, refuses to listen, overactive, cries, interrupts, fights, whines, etc. (Choose a response from th thoices below.) 1-3 2-4-5 3-6-7 4-8-9 10+ 	Think carefully and count the number of things which your child does that bothers you. For example	 somewhat easier than 1 expected. much easier than 1 expected. 	 somewhat harder than 1 expected. about as hard as 1 expected. 	row the choices below.) much harder than I expected.	have found that getting my child to do something or stop doing something is: (Choose a response	 harder to calm down than I expected. very difficult to calm down. nothing I do helps to calm my child. 	easy to calm down.	When upset, my child is: (Choose a response from the choices below.)	dy child doesn't seem comfortable when meeting strangers.	t takes a long time and it is very hard for my child to get used to new things.	dy child's sleeping or eating schedule was much harder to establish than I expected. dy child usually avoids a new toy for a while before beginning to play with it.	Ay child easily notices and overreacts to loud sounds and bright lights.	Vhen playing, my child doesn't often giggle or laugh.	eaving my child with a babysitter is usually a problem.	ay child is always nanging on me. 4 1:14	feel capable and on top of things when I am caring for my child.	often have doubts about my ability to handle being a parent. eing a parent is harder than I thought it would be.	bothers me that my child does not like to be cuddled or touched very much.	o ty child is not able to do as much as I expected.	ompared to the average child, my child has a great deal of difficulty in getting used to changes in checkels or changes around the house.	Ty child doesn't seem to simile as much as most children.

43. My child cries often, and it bothers me

- 44. There are some things my child does that really bother me a lot
- 45 My child has had more health problems than I expected
- 46 will get hurt or into trouble. As my child has grown older and become more independent, I find myself more worried that my child
- 47. My child's behavior is more of a problem than I expected
- 48 My child seems to be much harder to care for than most.
- 49 My child does a few things which bother me a great deal
- 50 My child makes more demands on me than most children
- 51 I can't make decisions without help.
- 52 I have had many more problems raising children than I expected
- 53 How easy is it for you to understand your child's wants or needs? (Choose a response from the
- choices below.) very easy.
- easy.
- somewhat difficult
- it is very hard.
- I usually can't figure out what the problem is.
- 54 I feel that I am successful most of the time when I try to get my child to do or not do something.
- 55 as well as I thought I could. I need help. Since I brought my last child home from the hospital, I find that I am not able to take care of this child
- 56 Foften have the feeling that I cannot handle things very well
- 57. When I think about myself as a parent, I believe: (Choose a response from the choices below.)
- I can handle anything that happens.
- I can handle most things pretty well
- sometimes I have doubts, but find that I handle most things without any problems
- I have some doubts about being able to handle things.
- I don't think I handle things very well at all.
- 58. I feel that I am: (Choose a response from the choices below.)
- a very good parent
- a better-than-average parent
- UN A N an average parent.
- a person who has some trouble being a parent
- not very good at being a parent

203

(Choose a response from the choices below.) What are the highest levels in school or college you and the child's father/mother have completed?

- 59. Mother:
- 1. 1st to 8th grade
- N 9th to 12th grade
- vocational or some college
- 5 college graduate
- graduate or professional school
- 60, Father:
- 1st to 8th grade
- 9th to 12th grade
- college graduate vocational or some college
- ç., graduate or professional school
- 61. I enjoy being a parent
- 62 It takes a long time for parents to develop close, warm feelings for their children
- 63 I expected to have closer and warmer feelings for my child than I do, and this bothers me
- 64 Sometimes my child does things that bother me just to be mean
- 65 I often feel guilty about the way I feel toward my child
- 66 My child and I are not as close as I would like
- 67 The number of children that I have now is too many
- 68 Most of my life is spent doing things for my child.
- 69 I find myself giving up more of my life to meet my children's needs than I ever expected
- 70 I feel trapped by my responsibilities as a parent
- 71. I often feel that my child's needs control my life
- 72. Since having this child, I have been unable to do new and different things
- 73 Since having a child, I feel that I am almost never able to do things that I like to do
- 74. It is hard to find a place in our home where I can go to be by myself.
- 75. When I think about the kind of parent I am, I often feel guilty or bad about myself
- 76. I am unhappy with the last purchase of clothing I made for myself
- 77 When my child misbehaves or fusses too much, I feel responsible, as if I didn't do something right
- 78 I feel every time my child does something wrong, it is really my fault
- 79 I often feel depressed and do not have the energy to handle my parenting responsibilities



Answer Sheet Richard R. Abidin, EdD

Name	Gender	Date of birth	/	/	/
Ethnic group	Marital status	Today's date	/	/	/
Child's name	Child's gender	Child's date of birth_		/	1

SA = Strongly Ag	ree /	A = Agree	NS =	Not Sure	D = Disagree	SD = Strongly Disagree
1. SA A N	S D SD	31. SA A	NS D	SD 61. SA	A NS D SD	91. SA A NS D SD
2. SA A N	S D SD	32. SA A	NS D	SD 62. SA	A NS D SD	92. SA A NS D SD
3. SA A N	S D SD	33. SA A	NS D	SD 63. SA	A NS D SD	93. SA A NS D SD
4. SA A N	S D SD	34. SA A	NS D	SD 64. SA	A NS D SD	94. SA A NS D SD
5. SA A N	S D SD	35. SA A	NS D	SD 65. SA	A NS D SD	95. SA A NS D SD
6. SA A N	S D SD	36. SA A	NS D	SD 66. SA	A NS D SD	96. SA A NS D SD
7. SA A N	S D SD	37. SA A	NS D	SD 67. SA	A NS D SD	97. SA A NS D SD
8. SA A N	S D SD	38. SA A	NS D	SD 68. SA	A NS D SD	98. SA A NS D SD
9. SA A N	S D SD	39. SA A	NS D	SD 69. SA	A NS D SD	99. SA A NS D SD
10. SA A N	S D SD	40. 1 2	3 4	70. SA	A NS D SD	100. SA A NS D SD
11. SA A N	S D SD	41. 1 2	3 4	5 71. SA	A NS D SD	101. SA A NS D SD
12. SA A N	S D SD	42. 1 2	3 4	5 72. SA	A NS D SD	102. Y N
13. SA A N	S D SD	43. SA A	NS D	SD 73. SA	A NS D SD	103. Y N
14. SA A N	S D SD	44. SA A	NS D	SD 74. SA	A NS D SD	104. Y N
15. 1 2 3	4	45. SA A	NS D	SD 75. SA	A NS D SD	105. Y N
16. 1 2 3	4 5	46. SA A	NS D	SD 76. SA	A NS D SD	106. Y N
17. SA A N	S D SD	47. SA A	NS D	SD 77. SA	A NS D SD	107. Y N
18. SA A N	S D SD	48. SA A	NS D	SD 78. SA	A NS D SD	108. Y N
19. SA A N	S D SD	49. SA A	NS D	SD 79. SA	A NS D SD	109. Y N
20. SA A N	S D SD	50. SA A	NS D	SD 80. SA	A NS D SD	110. Y N
21. SA A N	S D SD	51. SA A	NS D	SD 81. SA	A NS D SD	111. Y N
22. SA A N	S D SD	52. SA A	NS D	SD 82. SA	A NS D SD	112. Y N
23. SA A N	S D SD	53. 1 2	3 4	5 83. SA	A NS D SD	113. Y N
24. SA A N	S D SD	54. SA A	NS D	SD 84. SA	A NS D SD	114. Y N
25. SA A N	S D SD	55. SA A	NS D	SD 85. SA	A NS D SD	115. Y N
26. SA A N	S D SD	56. SA A	NS D	SD 86. SA	A NS D SD	116. Y N
27. SA A N	S D SD	57. 1 2	3 4	5 87. SA	A NS D SD	117. Y N
28. SA A N	S D SD	58. 1 2	3 4	5 88. SA	A NS D SD	118. Y N
29. SA A N	S D SD	59. 1 2	3 4	5 89. SA	A NS D SD	119. Y N
30. SA A N	S D SD	60. 1 2	3 4	5 90. SA	A NS D SD	120. Y N

PAR • 16204 N. Florida Ave. • Lutz, FL 33549 • 1.800.331.8378 • www.parinc.com

Copyright © 1990, 1995, 2012 by PAR. All rights reserved. May not be reproduced in whole or in part in any form or by any means without written permission of PAR. This form is printed in green and orange ink on carbonless paper. Any other version is unauthorized. Printed in the U.S.A. Reorder #RO-10269 8 9

WARNING! PHOTOCOPYING OR DUPLICATION OF THIS FORM WITHOUT PERMISSION IS A VIOLATION OF COPYRIGHT LAWS.

Appendix G: Child-Parent Relationship Scale Used in Chapter 4 and 5

CHILD-PARENT RELATIONSHIP SCALE

Robe	ert C.	Pia	nta

Child:	Age:	
Parent:		

Please reflect on the degree to which each of the following statements currently applies to your relationship with your child. Using the scale below, circle the appropriate number for each item.

	D	efinitely does not apply 1	Not really 2	Neutral, not sure 3	Applies somewhat 4	Definitely applies 5				
 1.	l share an affe	ctionate, warm rel	ationship with my	child.		1	2	3	4	5
2.	My child and I	always seem to be	e struggling with e	each other.		1	2	3	4	5
3.	If upset, my ch	ild will seek comfo	ort from me.			1	2	3	4	5
4.	My child is und	comfortable with p	hysical affection of	or touch from me.		1	2	3	4	5
5.	My child value	s his/her relations	hip with me.			1	2	3	4	5
6.	My child appea	ars hurt or embarr	assed when I cor	rect him/her.		1	2	3	4	5
7.	My child does	not want to accep	t help when he/sl	he needs it.		1	2	3	4	5
8.	When I praise	my child, he/she l	beams with pride.	a gradinat		1	2	3	4	5
9.	My child react	s strongly to separ	ration from me.			1	2	3	4	5
10.	My child spont	aneously shares i	information about	himself/herself.		1	2	3	4	5
11.	My child is ove	erly dependent on	me.			1	2	3	4	5
12.	My child easily	becomes angry a	at me.			1	2	3	4	5
13.	My child tries	to please me.				1	2	3	4	5
14.	My child feels	that I treat him/he	er unfairly.			1	2	3	4	5
15.	My child asks	for my help when	he/she really doe	es not need help.		1	2	3	4	5
16.	It is easy to be	e in tune with wha	t my child is feelir	ng.		1	2	3	4	5
17.	My child sees	me as a source o	of punishment and	d criticism.		1	2	3	4	5
18.	My child expre	esses hurt or jealo	ousy when I spend	d time with other o	children.	1	2	3	4	5
19.	My child rema	ins angry or is res	sistant after being	disciplined.		1	2	3	4	5
20.	When my chil	d is misbehaving,	he/she responds	to my look or ton	e of voice.	1	2	.3	4	5
21.	Dealing with r	ny child drains my	energy.			1	2	3	4	5
22.	I've noticed m	y child copying m	y behavior or way	s of doing things		· 1.	2	. 3	4	5
23.	When my chil	d is in a bad moo	d, I know we're in	for a long and dif	ficult day.	1	2	3	4	5
24.	My child's fee	lings toward me c	an be unpredicta	ble or can change	e suddenly.	3 1 T	2	3	4	5
25.	Despite my b	est efforts, I'm und	comfortable with h	now my child and	I get along.	1	2	3	4	5
26.	I often think a	bout my child whe	en at work.	1918 - 19		. 1.	2	3	4	5
27.	My child whin	es or cries when	he/she wants son	nething from me.		1	2	3	4	5
28.	. My child is sr	eaky or manipula	tive with me.		Service Content		2	3	4	5
29	. My child oper	nly shares his/her	feelings and expe	eriences with me.		. 1	2	3	4	5
30	. My interactio	ns with my child m	nake me feel effe	ctive and confider	nt as a parent.	1	2	3	4	- 5

Appendix H: Rough and Tumble Play-Quality Scale Used in Chapter 4 and 5

	1 None/Not at all	2 A little/ Hardly	3 Some	4 Moderate amount	5 A great deal
 Father enjoys the game (smiling, enthusiastic, facial expression showing this, possibly positive verbalization, warm/enthusiastic tone of voice.) 	No indication of positive affect; some negative affect (looks serious, sour, disinterested, bored, or annoyed).	Neutral, or disinterested, very rare smiles or talking.	Some indications of positive affect, smiling; possibly low level laughter; some verbals; may not have all of these.	Consistent obvious enjoyment, smiling, moderate laughter, some verbalisation; may not all of these.	Totally immersed in game emotionally; sense of joy with child; smiling; laughing; talking;
2. Father is physically engaged in the game with the child.	No engagement or very low level of game-related activity; little effort; moves slowly.	No evidence of optimal physical movement; moving slowly/clumsily; physically loses energy and/or breaks game	Evidence of optimal physical movement; but can lose energy; breaks or stops games; variation in level of physicality; may be slowish.	Reasonable consistency in level of moderate level of physicality.	Is fully active for the game type, full attempts all parts of the game; highly physical.
 Father is playful and animated.(exaggerated movements, animated pretending such a pretend gruffness or losing, spontaneity, creativity and silliness) 	No spontaneity, expressiveness, fun, creativity and/or silliness.	Little spontaneity, expressiveness, fun, creativity and/or silliness.	Sporadic, inconsistent moderate spontaneity, expressiveness, fun, creativity and/or silliness; or not consistent; may be half-hearted, OR lowish level of playfulness etc	Consistent spontaneity, expressiveness, fun, creativity and/or silliness, although this is still at not optimal intensity of expression.	Demonstrating high degree of spontaneity, expressiveness, fun, creativity and/or silliness.
4. Father good-natured acceptance at losing/or loss/or child gains/successful moves.	Annoyance, resignation, resentment, ignoring child's efforts to win or does not allow child to win.	Not angry but may show hurt ego; little joy felt for the child winning; appears disengaged because of the loss;	Passive acceptance with little joy felt for the child; or little acknowledgement	Clearly accepts child's wins, e.g., verbalisation, exclamation.	Highly affirming, acknowledges, pleased at child's efforts or wins; no negative reaction; no evidence of father ego
5. Father successfully regulates child's emotional energy levels and engagement to an optimal level to maintain interest and engagement in the play (arouses, calms, regulates).	Father is not aware of and does not respond to changes in child's emotional energy level and engagement, may allow out of control/disengaged behaviour.	Father is aware of child's emotional energy level and engagement, but seems not to care or know how to respond; attempts some techniques (e.g. gives inappropriate response) but may be unsuccessful in helping child regulate and successfully reengage in the play.	Father is aware of child's emotional energy and engagement and attempts to regulate or reengage the child. Is successful in regulating the emotional energy level or re- engaging the child at times, but also some evidence of child mismatch in the emotional energy to game & father (low or hi).	Father engages in play at the child's emotional energy level, and is generally successful is using appropriate techniques to regulate emotional energy level while maintaining child's engagement and interest.	Highly responsive to child's emotional energy levels; successfully excites child when they are disengaging, losing interest or motivation, or helps child to regain control, not go over the top. Quick child response.
6. Father is tuned in to where child is at so that he that he adjusts his effort and technique, being ready to follow their lead.	Does not appear to recognise child's ability or motivation; does not notice or adjust effort & technique to child; does not follow child's leads; father plays alongside.	Rarely recognises or adjusts to child cues of ability or motivation; and/or not successful at this, e.g., continually using same failed challenge.	Recognises & adjusts to some child cues of ability or motivation, and/or there are a few successes in correctly recognising child's needs, leads.	Recognises and adjusts to most child cues, although there are a few instances where he misreads, misjudges child's needs, leads.	Recognises and adjusts to child's ability to win, participate at each turn; motivates child to participate; most initiatives are successful; rare misses of child's needs, leads etc.
 Discord or negative interaction in game (evidence of either child upset, frustrated, refuses to play, or breaks game). 	1 - Persistent negative interaction between both throughout	2 -Frequent periods of discord between both	3 –About two periods of discord but not often	4 -About one period of discord between both	5 - No evidence at all
 Father is able to repair connection between them when needed (notices child distance or child loss of bout etc. and reacts positively/ sensitively). 	Does not notice child's loss of connection.	Recognises break of connection but does not attempt to repair.	Makes repair moves but it takes long time to repair connection if at all.	Makes repair moves, but child response not immediate; may see some hangover of disconnection.	There is no loss of connection, or if there is, repair is successful and father and child are close, there is smooth transition back into game. Quick child response.

9.	Child enjoys the game (smiling, enthusiastic, facial expression showing this, possibly verbals.) Child physically engaged in game.	No indication of positive affect; possible neg affect (looks serious, sour, disinterested, bored, or annoyed). No or very low level of game- related activity; little effort; moves slowly.	Occasional smiling; no laughter; little enjoyment and/or only sporadic pleasure, not lasting. No evidence of optimal physical movement; moving slowly/clumsily; physically loses energy and/or breaks game.	Obvious smiles but inconsistent; low level laughter or some verbals; sense of low-key enjoyment. Evidence of optimal physical movement; but can lose energy; breaks or stops games; variation in level of physicality; may be slowish.	Consistent obvious enjoyment, moderate laughter, some verbalisation &/or playfulness; may not have all of these. Reasonable consistency in moderate level of engagement.	Totally immersed in game emotionally; highly expressive; Smiling; laughing talking; active body; playfulness, animation. Is fully active for the game type, full attempts all parts of the game; highly physical.
11.	The bouts are completed with enjoyment and enthusiasm for both.	There is no evidence of both enjoying the same things.	Little evidence for both enjoying the same things; obvious uneven enjoyment across father/child, one much more or less than the other; little enjoyment for both.	Seem to both enjoy some things; fairly consistent smiling at each other; little or no laughing together; one may be enjoying it more than another.	Generally both enjoying the game, but not highly expressive of shared enjoyment; could be some distance in physical proximity, or little eye contact.	Totally immersed in each other emotionally; Laughing at the same things; immediate physical responses to each other; may include talking to each other; both appear to be enjoying it as much as the other.
12.	Dominance: There is a give and take balance between father and child in gaining the upper hand, winning and losing, being superior or in charge of the play. Give and take, or sharing the upper hand, or being superior, or being in charge of play is balanced for this bout FOR THIS DYAD.	Father or child appears to be gaining upper hand all the time. No sharing of superiority, being in charge of the play, gaining the upper hand, or winning the game/bout.	One or more instance of balance of superiority, but either the father or child is clearly in charge and winning almost all the time.	Several examples of balanced superiority: being in charge of the play, gaining the upper hand, winning and losing, but there is hesitancy and the balance is uneven or clumsy with one giving or winning significantly more than the other.	Multiple examples of both partners having opportunities to gain the upper hand, win and lose, and be in charge of the play.	Winning/losing balance is successful in this bout, not necessarily equal.
13.	Harmonious interaction where warmth is reciprocal and both have same focus of attention.	No reciprocity, no evidence of mutual warmth or shared happy feelings.	Low reciprocity, one not focused on game/other; mismatch of responses, inappropriate responses.	May share low warmth; some evidence of matching affect; however not consistent; evidence of mismatch along cues, attention, or affect. Lack of reciprocity.	Consistent level of (lowish to moderate) warm, reciprocal feelings. Not highest level of harmony and warmth; possibly see some lag/disruption/ disconnection.	High level of reciprocity, each mirroring other's affect, immediate responsive to cues, same focus of attention. Child centred, harmonious, warm interaction.
14.	Father successfully motivates child to remain optimally engaged in the game; to keep going, or re-join the game if required.	Does not try to encourage the child in the game; no recognition of loss of interest.	Does try but encouragement is not/rarely successful; and/or other times does not notice or attempt.	Some successful attempts at encouraging the child to engage in the game; other times does not notice or attempt. Or not successful.	Attempts are mostly successful. May still be occasions where father does not notice child's need to be encouraged (rarely) or attempts are unsuccessful.	Motivates child throughout game even if child not losing (game type). Sensitive to child's level of interest.
		Not at all satisfied	Slightly satisfied	Moderately satisfied	Very satisfied	Extremely satisfied
15.	End game behaviour child (from Sad, lethargic, bored to pleased, satisfied, triumphant)	1	2	3	4	5
16.	End game behaviour father (from Indifferent, bored to delighted)	1	2	3	4	5
	Totals	0		18	24	20
Gr	rand total this video (sum of cells in row above)	62				

Appendix I: RTP Parent and Child Behaviour Scale Used in Chapter 4 and 5

RTP Two-Bag Scales © 2019 RTP Parent and Child Behaviour Scale; RTP-PCB Erin Robinson and Emily Freeman © 2019, School of Psychology, The University of Newcastle University Dr, Callaghan, NSW 2308 Website: https://www.newcastle.edu.au

Final Revision: April 06, 2019

BACKGROUND

Rough-and-Tumble play was one of two activities parents and children completed as part of a 20-minute set of parent-child interactions videotaped either in the home or at the University of Newcastle's Play Lab. During the task, the dyad was asked to play two different RTP games. (Sock Wrestle and Get-Up). The parent was told that they had 10 minutes to play both games.

RTP Parent and Child Behaviour Scale (RTP-PCB; Robinson & Freeman 2019). The following scales were adapted under the supervision of Dr Emily Freeman at the University of Newcastle. They are based on the EARLY HEAD START RESEARCH AND EVALUATION PROJECT: Child-Parent Interaction Rating Scales for the Three-Bag Assessment 24-Month Wave (Brady-Smith, O'Brien, Berlin, Ware & Brooks-Gunn, 1992).

			V. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	IV. REFERENCES	III. DYADIC SCALE: Mutuality/Connectedness	A. Child Engagement of Parent	II. SCALES FOR CHILD'S BEHAVIOUR	 A. Parental Sensitivity B. Parental Positive Regard C. Parental Negative Regard D. Parental Detachment 	I. SCALES FOR PARENT'S BEHAVIOUR
• When the child is distressed, angry or frustrated: speaking sympathetically to the child, approaching the child, redirecting the child's activities, hugging, patting, picking up, or	Indicators of Sensitivity: Acknowledging the child's affect	If the child appears disengaged, sensitive parenting involves taking time to re-engage the child in a manner that demonstrates awareness of and sensitivity to the child's mood and preferences for play style and content. For example, if the child is uninterested, the parent may provide them with new activities, or other engaging opportunities.	sensitive behaviours include responding to the child's behaviour and speech and pacing activities to keep the child engaged and interested. A parent displaying sensitivity allows the child to shape the interaction, in general, and to disengage when he/she loses interest. It is important to recognise, however, that parental sensitivity to the child's interests typically maximizes engagement and interest.	Parental sensitivity permits the child as much choice, control, and autonomy as possible even while enforcing necessary rules, regulations, and constraints. A sensitive interaction is well- timed and paced to the child's responses, a function of its child-centred nature. Such interactions appear to be "in sync." If the child initiates interaction with the parent or makes demands, desires, or requests,	Sensitive parenting in this assessment involves structuring the child's physical and social environment so that the child has interesting options for play, so that the child's preferences can be honoured within reason, and so that the child can remain effectively engaged in playful or goal- directed activity. Sensitive parenting is also characterized by frequent encouragement, withholding criticism, and balancing both the giving of support and encouraging of independent exploration so that the child can experience success, pride, and can begin to develop effective self-regulation skills.	the child.	At 24 months, the toddler is likely to display needs for autonomy (i.e., when the child tries to do things in his/her own way and actively explores). Sensitive parenting involves balancing support with setting limits. Needs for dependency on the parent may be seen, yet struggles between needs for dependency and needs for autonomy may also be evident. Sensitive parenting involves being flexible in supporting and responding to the opposing desires that can be present simultaneously in	This scale focuses on how the parent observes and responds to the child's cues (gestures, expressions, and signals) during times of distress as well as non-distress. The defining characteristic of sensitivity is that it is child-centred . Sensitive parenting involves "tuning in" to the child and manifesting awareness of child's needs, moods, interests, and capabilities.	A. Parental Sensitivity

209

holding the child in lap and rocking

- Responsiveness to the child's vocalizations and/or activities
- Facilitating (but not over-controlling) the child's play
- Changing the pace when the child appears under-stimulated, overexcited, or tired
- Picking up on the child's interests and timing activities to reflect the child's interest
- Matching the child's affect (e.g., increasing or decreasing expression as the child does so)
- Providing an appropriate level of stimulation and appropriate range and variety of activities
- Gentle and patient handling of the child's off-task behaviour
- When the child is not making bids, allowing the child to keep him/herself busy
- Demonstrating developmentally appropriate expectations of child behaviour

Indicators of Insensitivity:

- Ignoring the child
- Responding in a listless manner
- Overstimulating and intrusive interactions (e.g., continuing in attempts to engage the child even when the child is providing cues that s/he is seeking to end the interaction)
- Excessive prohibitions
- Inappropriate and/or harsh discipline

Ratings on this scale should be based on both guantity and quality of parental behaviour.

Parental Sensitivity Scale:

- Very Low Sensitivity. Interactions are characteristically adult-centred and/or the parent is unavailable and non-responsive to the child's signals, moods, interests and needs.
- Low <u>Sensitivity</u>. There is little evidence of parental sensitivity. Most of the interaction is adult-centred and/or the parent is mostly not contingently responsive.
- <u>Moderately Low Sensitivity</u>. Parent displays infrequent and/or weak indicators of sensitivity. While the parent is sometimes sensitive, the balance is in the direction of insensitivity.
- <u>Moderate Sensitivity.</u> The frequency and quality of the parent's sensitivity and insensitivity are about equal. It is this inconsistency which prevents the parent from receiving a higher rating.
- <u>Moderately High Sensitivity</u>, Parent displays more sensitivity than not. The parent demonstrates sensitivity in many interactions, but may show some insensitivity.
- <u>High Sensitivity.</u> Parental behaviour is characterised by sensitivity but the parent may show minimal insensitivity by hesitating to respond to distress, "missing" a signal from the child.
- <u>Very High Sensitivity</u>. Parent is very sensitive and responsive throughout the interaction. Insensitivity is never striking. Interactions are child-centred.

D. Parental Positive Regard

This scale taps the parent's expression of love, respect and/or admiration for the child. Positive regard is evident in the way(s) in which the parent listens, watches attentively and looks into the child's face when talking to him/her. Parents who give praise without a warm tone as well as those who fail to praise when the opportunity presents itself, would not receive the highest score.

"Thank you," is considered a low level indicator of praise unless it is also accompanied by other indicators of positive regard (e.g., saying "thanks" in a warm tone and smiling or hugging the child rather than just saying "thanks" with relatively flat affect).

Indicators of Positive Regard:

Speaking in a warm tone of voice

Hugging or other expressions of physical affection Smiling or laughing with the child Enthusiasm about the child Praising and/or complimenting the child Clear enjoyment of the child Showing concern and/or empathy for the child's distress

Ratings on this scale are based on both *quantity and quality* of positive regard. It is important to note that positive regard is not necessarily the absence of negative regard, so a parent scoring high on positive regard may also exhibit many negative behaviours which would be coded under Parental Negative Regard.

Parental Positive Regard Scale:

- 1. Very Low Positive Regard. Parent displays no positive regard.
- Low Positive Regard. Parent displays almost no positive regard. One or two fleeting
 instances of positive regard may be observed. These positive expressions (laughing,
 smiling), however, appear to be inappropriate to the situation or an inaccurate expression of
 parent's feeling. The parent may be expressionless, flat or negative.
- Moderately Low Positive Regard. Parent displays infrequent and/or weak signals of positive regard. The intensity and frequency of positive regard are low.
- 4. Moderate Positive Regard. Parent displays some positive regard, but it is not predominant in the interaction. There may be signs of general enjoyment, warmth, and positive expressions but they are neither intense nor frequent (e.g., parent may be positive to the child, but the gives no direct praise (or weak praise) and/or rarely retains eye contact with the child).
- Moderately High Positive Regard. Parent frequently displays positive regard, which may include some praise of the child, or consistent, clear enjoyment of the child.
- High Positive Regard. Parent frequently displays positive regard and praise. Some of these
 expressions are clearly enhancing of self-esteem and directed to the child's behaviour or
 individual attributes/qualities.
- 7. Very High Positive Regard. Parent is very positive throughout the session in terms of facial and vocal expressiveness and behavior. Affect is positive and spontaneous. The parent shows a range of expressions and behaviours which are all clearly positive. The parent's consistent expressions of positive regard are clearly enhancing of the child's self esteem.

٠	·	Indicators	behaviors from a "2"	Given the session, ar	or anger to	This scale rejection o toward the the Positiv	E. Parent
Signs of frustration (e.g., sighs, rolling eyes)	Disapproving and/or negative voice	of Negative Regard:	(e.g., sigh of frustration, cold looks) can lead the coder to rate negative regard anywhere to a "5" depending on the intensity and frequency of the behaviours.	low frequency and the clinical relevance of rejecting one's child during a videotaped any events which are clearly hostile should be weighed strongly in this score. More subtle	explicitly indicates that s/he does not support the child emotionally. A parent scoring low allowed the may be supportive <i>or</i> devoid of emotion, but does not blame or express disregard for oward the child.	reflects the parent's expression of discontent with, anger toward, disapproval of, and/or of the child. When scoring negative regard, focus on the parent's negative behaviours e child. It is not necessary to weigh the parent's positive behaviours (these are captured in re Regard scale).	al Negative Regard:

- Cold looks toward child
- Snappish responses to the child's bids
- A sense of underlying exasperation and/or frustration
- Harsh vocalisations and/or verbalisations (e.g., "Shut up!" "Get back on the mat right now!")
- Physical roughness with the child (e.g., yanking the child's arm; slapping or hitting the child)

- Abruptness with the child (e.g., curt, business-like comments without eye contact)
- Tense body, facial muscles, or strained expression
- "If Threatening posture or punitive behaviour (e.g., looming over the child in a menacing way;

you don't get over here right now, I'm going to get you.")

- Threatening the child (verbally or physically) for failing at a task (e.g., "If you don't start trying harder, I'm going to stop playing with you)
- Calling the child unflattering names or belittling the child's efforts

period. and intensity of negative regard exhibited is evaluated in relation to the duration of the observation Ratings on this scale are composed of both qualitative and quantitative evaluations. The amount

Parental Negative Regard Scale:

- Very Low Negative Regard. Parent shows no signs of negative regard. S/he may or may not be supportive, but does not derogate or reject the child. Passive or emotionally uninvolved parents would be given this score if they do not display behaviours indicative of negative regard. No signs of subtle negative behaviours (cold looks, sighs of flustration) are noted.
- 2. Low Negative Regard. Parent conveys some negative regard once or twice, or through nutted forms of negativity (e.g. pulling away, pulling something away from the child with a jerk, brief displays of exasperation, looking at the child coldly for a brief time, teasing with a negative content but with accompanying humour or warmth, parroting or mimicking the child). Or, parent shows a diffuse level of discontent, discomfort, or boredom, not necessarily directed at the child.
- 3. Moderately Low Negative Regard. Parental signs of negative regard are fleeting but occur on several occasions during the session (either one behavior is identified as clear and overt *or* a sense of accumulating unexpressed negativity or anger toward the child is seen in the parent's behavior). The general interaction, however, is not characterised by negative regard.
- 4. Moderate Negative Regard. Parent displays several instances of frustrated or rejecting behaviours (with angry undertone directed at the child). Two or more of these events are overt, but negative expressions are brief and do not set the tone of the parent's behaviour.
- 5. Moderately High Negative Regard. Parent exhibits overly exasperated, negative, or hostile behaviour several times. Overt and clearly communicated negative expressions of hostility or anger appear intermittently throughout substantial periods of the session. Parental behaviour is more negative than not, either by the frequency of hostile behaviour and/or by the intensity of these behaviours.
- 6. High Negative Regard. Parent frequently expresses rejection and hostility toward the child There are little or no displays of warmth during substantial portions of the session. especially after parent becomes irritated with the child (e.g., parent may initially be warm and then reject the child strongly). Parent is frankly and directly rejecting and hostile (e.g., using negative performance feedback but little positive feedback; blanning the child for

failure (e.g., "Look, now you broke the stove."); overfly refusing to recognise the child's

success (e.g., "You couldn't have done it without me showing you!"). Physical roughness, threatening and/or punitive comments and/or behaviours may be noted.

7. Very High Negative Regard. Parental behaviours are strongly characterised by negativity. Parent shows characteristics of the previous scale point, but expressions of anger toward the child also are accompanied by strong, barely controlled emotions, suggesting the possibility of physical abuse and neglect of the child in some situations. Physical roughness, threatening and/or punitive comments and/or behaviours may be noted.

F. Parental Detachment

This scale measures the parent's awareness of, attention to, and engagement with the child. This includes both the extent to which the parent interacts with the child (i.e., **<u>quantity</u>** of interaction) and the way in which the parent interacts with the child (i.e., **<u>quantity</u>** of interaction).

Detachment can take the form of being consistently <u>inattentive</u>, being <u>inconsistently attentive</u>, and/or interacting with the child in a perfunctory(<u>fleeting</u>) or <u>indifferent</u> manner.

A parent behaving in a detached manner does not react contingently to the child's actions or vocalisations (or rarely speaks to the child) and does not facilitate the child's exploration.

There is little joining in the child's play. Parents displaying detachment may "miss" the child's looks to them, vocalisations to them, or other cues that call for parent attention. When a parent displaying detachment does interact with her/his child, the timing is out of sync with the child's affect and responses.

Simply allowing the child to play by him/herself is not necessarily a sign of detachment.

A parent behaving in a detached manner lacks emotional involvement with the child and appears uninterested in the child and his/her activities.

Indicators of Detachment:

- Flat affect
- Rarely making eye contact
- Not talking to the child
- Not responding to the child's vocalisations, smiles or other cues for attention

•

- Lack of emotional responsiveness to the child's bids or expressions (e.g., the parent does not smile in response to the child making eye contact and smiling at the parent)
- Ignoring or being unaware of the interesting things the child does

•

If the parent does look at the child, the following are indicators of visual detachment:

Briefness of looking

•

Blank, indifferent staring

Delay(s) in looking

If the parent does speak to the child, the following are indicators of verbal detachment:

Listless, monotonic, emotionless tone

Short, clipped responses; business-like, to-the-point speech; not using the child's name

Speaking without looking at the child; speaking while looking indifferently or "through" the child; only giving a perfunctory(fleeting) glance while speaking

This scale consists of both *qualitative* and *quantitative* components. When scoring detachment, it is particularly important to consider the rate, intensity, and valence of the infant's affective signals.

It is especially important to realise that unresponsiveness to infant distress is an indication of greater detachment than is unresponsiveness to positive bids.

Likewise, parental detachment when the infant is sending many or intense signals is scored higher than when the infant is relatively quiet and content. Even when a child makes no bids to the parent, however, a parent who is not detached must display at least some attention toward the child (e.g., looking at child, smiling in child's direction, talk to child).

Parental Detachment Scale:

- Very Low Detachment. Parent shows no signs of detachment. When interactin child, the parent is clearly emotionally involved. The parent may be behaving or intrusive manner.
- Low Detachment. Parent displays almost no signs of detachment. The parent 1 display indicators of mild detachment (e.g., may seem to "check out" for a ver occasionally may "miss" some of the child's cues due to momentary lack of en involvement).
- Moderately Low Detachment. Parent displays minimal detachment. Parent is uninvolved, but is clearly more involved than not.
- 4. Moderate Detachment. Parent displays a mixture of involvement and detachm parent may have a prolonged period of detachment, but the rest of the session characterised by involvement. Or, parent may have several short periods of de separated by periods of involvement.
- Moderately High Detachment. Parent displays significant detachment. Althout is sometimes involved, s/he is clearly more detached than not during the intera

- High Detachment. Parent is detached throughout most of the interaction. The parent's "style" of interaction can best be characterised by detachment. Periods of parental involvement are infrequent and/or weak.
- 7. Very High Detachment. Parent is so detached that almost no attention is given to the child, even when parent is within a suitable distance for interacting. In the minimal instances of involvement, the parent's behaviours are simple, mechanical, stereotyped, repetitive and perfunctory. The parent is clearly not emotionally involved with the child and appears to be "just going through the motions."

II. SCALES FOR CHILD'S BEHAVIOR:

A. Child Engagement of Parent:

This scale reflects the extent to which the child (a) shows, initiates, and/or maintains interaction with the parent and (b) communicates positive regard and/or positive affect to the parent.

At the higher end of the scale, the child expresses sustained positive affect toward parent (i.e., a big smile, laughter, etc.) and frequently looks at and attempts to interact with the parent.

Indicators of Child Engagement:

- Approaching or orienting toward parent
- Looking at, establishing, and/or maintaining eye contact with the parent
- Positively responding to parent's play initiations or suggestions (e.g., imitating parent, following parent's direction)
- Directing or (at a higher level) sharing positive expressions with parent
- Engaging parent in play or sustaining play initiated by parent
- Indicators of Child Disengagement: No sharing of affect with parent
- Overt rejection of parent's play overtures Positioning or orienting away from the parent Engaging in self-occupied play which excludes the parent Ignoring suggestions from parent

The focus of this scale is on the *quantity* (frequency) of occurrences in which the child shares positive affect with parent (i.e., looking at parent, making eye contact and smiling, and other "approach" behaviors). When scoring this scale, <u>keep in mind that the *quality* (intensity) of expression is secondary to the *quantity* of occurrences.</u>

Child Engagement Scale:

- Very Low Engagement. The child clearly does not attempt to share experiences with parent. Failure to make eye contact with parent when expressing happiness, directing expressions of happiness to the experimenter rather than to the parent, and similar behaviors can be used as evidence that the child attempts little sharing of feelings with parent.
- 2. Low Engagement. The child has very minor incidents which seem expressive of positive regard toward parent and from which one might infer that some positive feelings are expressed toward her. However, the child largely shows no positive regard toward parent and rarely responds to parent or attempts to engage or sustain play with him/her.
- Moderately Low Engagement. The child shows some positive regard, attempts to engage, and/or responses toward the parent, but they are few, brief and/or mixed in quality. The tone may be ambivalent and/or conflicted in such expressions.
- 4. Moderate Engagement. The child shares some happy expressions with parent and/or makes some attempt to engage or sustain play with parent, but these are only minor elements of interaction and are not sustained by the child for more than a moment at a time. Likewise, the child may include parent in play, but the play is not sustained for very long.
- 5. Moderately High Engagement. The child has one or more periods in which s/he engages the parent by expressing positive regard, sharing happy expressions, or sustaining play with the parent. The child expresses positive affect toward and engagement of the parent for at least one portion of the interaction.
- 6. High Engagement. The child is expressive, warm, and engaging of the parent for at least one substantial period of the session. The duration of such interaction is at least one minute, and there is no ambivalence in the child's expression of feelings toward the parent.
- 7. Very High Engagement. The child demonstrates a very positive, engaging and sharing relationship toward the parent for a substantial period of the session. Sustained play is accompanied by positive regard toward the parent. The child is consistently engaging of parent and the child's relationship with parent seems very warm and positive for a major portion of the session.

C. Child Negativity Toward Parent:

This scale measures the degree to which the child shows <u>anger</u>. <u>hostility</u> or <u>dislike toward parent</u>. At the high end, the child is repeatedly and overtly angry with parent (e.g., forcefully rejecting parent's ideas or showing angry and resistant expressions).

It is important to note that at this age, the child may express negativity toward parent by hitting the floor, or him/herself or pushing the parent away. Likewise, a child at this age may use a negative expression to communicate that s/he wants or does not want to do something ("No!"). For these reasons, it is important to note the context of the negative expression in order to determine the extent to which it is directed toward the parent.

For the lowest rating, there are neither overt nor covert signs of such anger. Expressions are essentially positive toward parent whether or not the child is compliant or much involved with her/him. Low ratings may include brief instances of frustration or rejection of the parent's help.

The focus of this scale is primarily quantitative. Ratings are based mainly on the occurrence of negative behaviour. Assessments of quality come in when considering the intensity of the negative behaviour(s).

Child Negativity Scale: (note resistance needs to be negative in nature = angry resistance)

- Very Low Negativity. Child shows no signs of negativity toward parent. The session is characterised by consistent, positive interactions with parent, indicating that the child is having a truly positive interaction with her/him.
- Low Negativity. Child shows no overt indications of negativity toward parent, but the tone at times may indicate frustration with parent (i.e., flussing, mild protesting). The child may briefly or mildly protest an action, but it does not clearly indicate anger toward parent.
- Moderately Low Negativity. Child displays negativity toward parent only briefly in an overt fashion, but these suggest some anger and resistance in the child's interactions with parent.
- 4. Moderate Negativity. Child shows overt negativity toward parent on several occasions or on one significant occasion, but these are rather isolated episodes, separated by periods in which the child behaves positively or contentedly toward parent.
- 5. Moderately High Negativity. Child frequently displays negativity or displays a few instances of strong or intense negativity which suggest clear anger and resistance in the child's interactions with the parent, but these are not predominant in the interactions.
- 6. High Negativity. Child's negativity toward parent is a predominant aspect of his/her interactions with parent, but it is shown in more sporadic and less intense ways than it is for a child rated "7."
- Very High Negativity. Child is repeatedly and overtly negative, angry and resistant toward parent. The child's negativity seems so strong that it pervades the interaction.

III. DYADIC SCALE:

Mutuality/Connectedness

This scale measures the degree to which the parent and the child's interaction is characterised by synchrony, comfort, and mutual pleasure. In a dyad high on mutuality/ connectedness, the parent and the child appear to share perspectives, energy levels, and affective states.

This scale differs from the other scales in that it measures the child and parent as a unit. At the higher end of this scale, the dyad functions in a consistently cohesive manner. Parent and child seem to enjoy each other thoroughly and there are few or no ambivalent or anxious behaviours in the interaction. The parent is comfortable in her/his role and is able to anticipate or gauge the child's cues.

Note that energy or activity level is not a determining factor in this scale. For example, both a highenergy dyad and a relatively calm dyad could be given high scores as long as they seem "in sync" throughout the interaction. If the energy level of the dyad seems "mismatched," however (i.e., a calm child with a hyper parent), the dyad would not be considered "in sync."

Low scores characterise a dyad that seems to operate as two separate entities. Goals are not shared and neither child nor parent acts to please the other. The child may behave in a confused manner, unsure of, unaware of, or anxious about what is going on, and unable to seek or find comfort in the parent. Or, the parent may seem oblivious to the cues of the child and/or react inappropriately to these cues.

At the middle range of this scale, the dyad may seem content with one another, yet experience periods of disconnection or appear uneven or "out of sync." In an uneven dyad, the parent may initiate play strategies that the child consistently rejects. Or, the child may attempt to engage a non-responding parent.

Indicators of Mutuality/Connectedness:

- Pleasure and comfort in being with each other
- Matching of energy and affect levels throughout the interaction
- Synchrony of flow in the interaction (i.e., shared perspectives and goals, easy give-and-take in behavioural and vocal interactions)

- · Parental or child behaviours indicating a desire to please the other
- · Parental acknowledgment of distress and attempts to relieve it
- Shared eye contact

•

Indicators of Lack of Mutuality or Disconnection:

- Parent ignoring or trivialising the child's distress
- Child turning away from parent to seek comfort from something or someone other than parent
- Child not responding to parental overtures
- Little or no behavioural and/or vocal turn-taking
- Conflicting goals for play
- Lack of eye contact
- Little or no physical contact
- Not facing or orienting toward one another

Ratings of this scale are made according to <u>both *quantitative* and *qualitative* aspects of the interaction. Ratings are based on the duration (quantity) of time that the dyad appears connected and on the *quality* of their connectedness.</u>

Dyadic Mutuality/Connectedness Scale:

- Very Low Connectedness. The interaction between the child and parent is reminiscent of "ships passing in the night." There is a sense of little affective investment and little involvement with one another. There is remoteness between the parent and the child, and a distinct lack of connection.
- Low Connectedness. Dyad displays almost no signs of connectedness. Only a few brief instances of connected behaviour are observed, and these are fleeting and/or ambivalent in nature.
- Moderately Low Connectedness. Dyad is more disconnected than connected throughout the session. Although there may be periods of connection, these are generally followed by longer periods of disconnection.
- Moderate Connectedness. Dyad displays a mix of connected and disconnected behaviour.
 One person may convey a sense of closeness, but the other does not. Or, dyad displays conflicted goals and/or disconnectedness as much as connectedness.
- Moderately High Connectedness. Dyad is more connected than not throughout the session. Some markers of disconnection may be seen, but these are generally followed by periods of connection.
- High Connectedness. Dyad displays connectedness throughout the session. Dyad seems comfortable with one another, although there may be one or two brief instances of disconnection.
- 7. Very High Connectedness. Dyad is closely connected. Affect levels and dyad goals are matched. There are no markers of disconnection. As a whole, the interaction between the child and parent is characterised by intimacy, smoothness, comfort, and connectedness. There is a sense of familiarity and genuine closeness between the child and parent.

Appendix J: RTP Play Instructions Used in Chapter 5

Play Instructions

Play area size recommendation: 2m x 1m area, indoors and away from other distractions (tv, music, other family members, pets etc).

You are asked to partake in 2 types of play: Rough-and-Tumble play and Toy play. Each play will be 10 minutes in length (20 minutes of play time all up).

- Please set a 10-minute timer so you know when the time is up.
- Place your smart phone in a location that will capture the whole area of play.
- Place your smart phone on airplane mode (calls will stop your recordings, so airplane mode prevents this from occurring). Alternatively, if you have a gopro or video camera you can record the play in that format.
- Start recording and play one kind of play at a time (10 minutes at a time).
- At the end of the session please upload these 2 separate video files to your preferred sharing platform (Dropbox, Google Docs etc). Share these files with erin.robinson@uon.edu.au.

Play 1: Rough-and-Tumble Play (10 minutes):

You have 2 games to play: **Sock Wrestle and Get Up.** You can alternate these games as much or as little as you like throughout the 10 minutes. Explain game to your child before you begin so they know how the games work. Once the child is clear on the game you can begin the 10 minutes of play.

Sock Wrestle: Father and Child each wear a pair of socks. The aim of the game is to steal your play partners sock. Fathers are trying to get the sock off their child's foot and the child is trying to get the sock off their fathers' foot. Once a player has gotten a sock off their opponent, they have won that round. See Figure 1 for a visual example of what this could look like.



Figure 1. Sock wrestle example where father has child's foot trying to get his sock off.

Get Up: In this game fathers and their child take turns trying to hold each other down on the floor. For example: Father lays down on his back and the child tries with all their might to hold him down on the floor, while the father tries to get up off the floor. Then the child gets to lay down and try to get up off the floor while the father tries to stop them. See Figure 2 for an example of Get up.



Figure 2. Child tries to keep his fathers pinned to the floor while the father tries to "Get Up."

Play 2: Toy Play (10 minutes):

Place two bags in the middle of your play area. Be sure their contents are concealed from the child until the play begins. Tell your child you have two bags of toys and you have 10 minutes to play with the toys inside the bags. Figure 3 contains a visual example of how to set up the toy play bags.

One bag will contain:

- Blocks/Lego (whichever you have available)
- Pretend play items in the other bag (Play food/cooking set if you have one or a toy toolkit, medical kit etc). If you have none of these items on-hand we suggest using cooking items from your kitchen e.g., wooden spoon, pot pan etc.



Figure 3. Toys concealed inside duffle bags.